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The issuer's revenues for the year ended January 30, 2005 totaled $21,563,608.
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(consisting of Common Stock, $.01 par value) held by non-affiliates was
approximately $3,775,000 based upon the last sale price for such Common Stock on
salid date in the over-the-counter market as reported by the Pink Sheets LLC. On
such date, there were 3,925,384 shares of the issuer's Common Stock issued and
outstanding.

Transitional Small Business Disclosure Format (check one)

Yes No X

CHEFS INTERNATIONAL, INC.
PART I
ITEM 1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

(a) BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT - Chefs International, Inc. ("Chefs" or the
"Company") was organized wunder the laws of the State of Delaware in March 1975.
The Company currently operates nine restaurants on a year-round basis, seven of
which are free-standing seafood restaurants in New Jersey (four) and Florida
(three); one of which is a free-standing Mexican theme restaurant located in
Freehold, New Jersey, and one of which 1is a free-standing restaurant also
located in Freehold, New Jersey featuring an eclectic American food menu. Five
of the seafood restaurants are operated under the name "Jack Baker's Lobster
Shanty," one under the name "Baker's Wharfside" and one under the name "Mr.
Manatee's Casual Grille." The Mexican theme restaurant is operated under the
name "Escondido's Mexican Restaurant." The eclectic American food restaurant is
operated under the name "Moore's Tavern and Restaurant." The Company opened its
first seafood restaurant in November 1978, its Mexican theme restaurant in
January 2002 and "Moore's Tavern and Restaurant" in February 2000. (As used
herein, the term the "Company" may at times include Chefs and its wvarious
subsidiaries.)

The Company's executive offices are located at 62 Broadway, Point
Pleasant Beach, New Jersey 08742. Its telephone number is (732) 295-0350.

DEVELOPMENTS SINCE THE BEGINNING OF THE LAST FISCAL YEAR
"GOING PRIVATE" TRANSACTION

On April 18, 2005, the Company announced that at a Special Meeting of
its Stockholders held on that date, an Agreement and Plan of Merger between the
Company and Lombardi Restaurant Group, Inc. (at times referred to as
"Acquisition Co.") pursuant to which Acquisition Co. would be merged into the
Company and each share of Chefs common stock (other than the 2,606,446 shares
owned by Acquisition Co.) would be canceled and converted into the right to
receive a cash payment of $3.12, had been approved and adopted Dby the
affirmative vote of a majority of the shares of Chefs common stock outstanding
on the February 25, 2005 Record Date for the meeting. The proposed Merger is
designed to convert Chefs from a publicly owned to a privately owned
corporation. It is contemplated that the Merger will be effected in May 2005.
Although the required stockholder vote has been obtained, the Merger will not be
completed unless all of the remaining closing conditions are satisfied so there
can be no assurance that the Merger will occur.

If the Merger does occur;
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o The Company will no longer be publicly owned;

o Chefs common stock will no longer trade in the
over—-the-counter market or be quoted on the OTC Bulletin
Board(R) ;

o The stockholders of Acquisition Co., namely Anthony M.

Lombardi, Joseph S. Lombardi, Michael F. Lombardi, Robert M.
Lombardi, Stephen F. Lombardi (the five "Lombardi Brothers"),
the Lombardi & Lombardi P.A. law firm. the Lombardi & Lombardi
P.A. Defined Benefit Pension Plan (the Lombardi Brothers, the
law firm and the Pension Plan at times referred to as the
"Lombardi Group"), Lee Maschler and Matthew Maschler, (the
"Maschler Brothers"), (the Lombardi Group and the Maschler
Brothers collectively referred to at times as the
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"Continuing Stockholders"), will own all of the Company's
outstanding common stock; and

o The Company's "Public Stockholders" which term excludes the
Continuing Stockholders and stockholders who properly
exercised dissenters' rights of appraisal, will have their
shares of common stock canceled and converted into the right
to receive a cash payment of $3.12 per share, without
interest, and without deduction of any commission, and will no
longer have any interest in the Company's assets or its future
earnings or growth, if any.

RESTAURANT CLOSING

In the first quarter of calendar year 2004, management decided to sell
the Company's Jensen Beach, Florida Lobster Shanty restaurant due to declining
sales and a lack of profitability. The Company executed a contract to sell this
restaurant for $900,000. The closing took place on May 3, 2004. The Company
recognized a gain of $415,473 from this sale. See Note 8 of Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

RESIGNATION OF PRESIDENT, TREASURER, PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE AND PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL
OFFICER

In April 2004, Anthony C. Papalia, the Company's president, principal
executive, principal financial and principal accounting officer requested of the
Company's board of directors that he be released from his employment contract
(due to expire in March 2005) effective at the close of Dbusiness on June 28,
2004 "...in order to pursue personal interests...." The board agreed to release
Mr. Papalia from his employment contract at said date and he agreed to a one
year non-competition agreement with the Company. Robert M. Lombardi was
appointed to succeed Mr. Papalia as president and principal executive officer.
Martin W. Fletcher, the Company's controller, was appointed to succeed Mr.
Papalia as the Company's principal financial and principal accounting officer
and was elected a vice president of the Company.

RESTAURANT CLOSINGS DUE TO HURRICANE DAMAGE

In September 2004, Florida hurricanes caused the closings of the
Company's three Florida restaurants for approximately ten days in the case of
the Cocoa Beach restaurant, approximately two months in the case of the Vero

Beach Lobster Shanty restaurant and approximately two and one-half months in the
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case of the Vero Beach Mr. Manatee's Casual Grill restaurant. To date, the
Company has received insurance advances against its claims of approximately
$1,060,000 and anticipates a final settlement of its claims will occur in fiscal
2006. The Company realized a gain of $202,399 in the fourth quarter of fiscal
2005 related to partial settlement of its hurricane damage claims.

BANK LOANS

At January 26, 2004, the Company had a $500,000 revolving 1line of
credit ("L/C 1line") from First Union Bank (subsequently acquired by Wachovia
Bank), expiring on June 30, 2005 and secured by a first mortgage on its Toms
River, New Jersey Lobster Shanty restaurant. All subsequent references to
Wachovia Bank shall refer to Wachovia Bank as well as to First Union Bank prior
to its acquisition by Wachovia Bank. In November 2004, the L/C line was
increased to $1,000,000 and the Company borrowed $500,000 for repairs to its
Florida

restaurants due to the hurricane damage. As a result, at January 30, 2005, the
outstanding indebtedness under the L/C line was $500,000. In February 2005, the
Company borrowed an additional $300,000 for repairs, bringing the total
outstanding indebtedness under the line to $800,000. In April, 2005, the Company
reduced the outstanding indebtedness under the line to $400,000 using $400,000
of 1insurance proceeds to pay down the loan. Interest on the unpaid principal
balance under this L/C line is at the LIBOR Market Index Rate plus 2%.

The Company is indebted to Wachovia Bank under a $500,000 Term Loan
made in May 2002, the proceeds of which were applied to the repayment of the
balance under an outstanding L/C line. Principal payments under the Term Loan
are due in amounts varying from $5,000 to $25,000 in the months of March through
November through 2007 together with interest at the LIBOR Market Index Rate plus
2%. Indebtedness under the Term Loan is secured by a mortgage on the Company's
Toms River, New Jersey Lobster Shanty restaurant. At January 30, 2005, the
outstanding principal balance under this Term Loan was approximately $210,000.

In September 2001, the Company borrowed $600,000 from Wachovia Bank
secured by a first mortgage on its Baker's Wharfside restaurant in Point
Pleasant Beach, New Jersey and borrowed an additional $600,000 from the Bank
secured by a first mortgage on its Jack Baker's Lobster Shanty restaurant in
Point Pleasant Beach. Each of these two loans have a ten year maturity providing
for annual principal payments of approximately $60,000 commencing in fiscal 2003
together with interest on the unpaid balance at an annual rate of 7.57%. At
January 30, 2005, the outstanding principal Dbalance of each of these loans was
approximately $417,500.

The Company applied the $1,200,000 of loan proceeds as part of the
$1,300,000 it utilized to renovate, decorate and equip (kitchen, bar, furniture,
fixtures) its Escondido's Mexican Restaurant in Freehold, New Jersey which
opened in January 2002.

In October 1998, the Company borrowed $880,000 from Wachovia Bank to
fund the $1,100,000 purchase of its Vero Beach, Florida Lobster Shanty seafood
restaurant. This loan is repayable in monthly installments of $8,319 comprised
of principal and interest at an annual rate of 7.82% through November 2008 and
is secured by a first mortgage on the Vero Beach property. At January 30, 2005,
approximately $644,100 was outstanding under this loan (which provides for a
$431,429 "balloon" payment in November 2008) .

In March 2005, the Company obtained a $1,500,000 non-revolving Line of
Credit from Wachovia Bank to partially fund renovations to the Lobster Shanty
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restaurant in Point Pleasant Beach, New Jersey. Borrowings under this line of
credit convert into a ten year term loan commencing July 31, 2005. In April
2005, the Company borrowed $750,000 under this line. Borrowings under this line
are collaterized Dby a mortgage on the Point Pleasant Beach Lobster Shanty
property. Interest on borrowings under this line is at the LIBOR Market Index
Rate plus 2%.

Repayment of the Company's term loans and of borrowings under its lines
of credit is guaranteed by each of the Company's subsidiaries.

Pursuant to its principal Loan Agreements, the Company has agreed to
certain affirmative and negative covenants, violation of which without Wachovia
Bank's waiver would constitute a default under the Loan Agreements. Included are
affirmative covenants by the Company to maintain its properties in good
condition and repair; maintain adequate insurance coverage; conduct its business
in the

manner and at the locations where it is currently being conducted; maintain a
Funds Flow Coverage of not less than 1.20 to 1.00; maintain a Tangible Net Worth
at fiscal 2005 year end of not less than $12,650,000 increasing by not less than
$50,000 1in each subsequent vyear; maintain a ratio of Senior Liabilities to
Effective Tangible Net Worth of not more than .50 to 1.00 measured
semi-annually; and maintain liquid assets (cash, time deposits, marketable
securities) of not less than $500,000. Also included are negative covenants of
the Company not to permit or effect a material change in ownership or in
management; not to create or permit certain liens or encumbrances on its assets;
not to guarantee third party obligations; and not to retire or otherwise acquire
any of its capital stock (without receiving a waiver from the Bank.) The Company
received a waiver from Wachovia Bank of any claim that the resignation and
departure of Anthony C. Papalia at June 28, 2004 as the Company's principal
executive and principal financial officer might be deemed a violation of the
covenant regarding a material change 1in management. The Company was in
compliance with all material covenants under the Loan Agreements at January 30,
2005.

(b) BUSINESS OF ISSUER - The Company is engaged in one business; the
operation of nine restaurants in New Jersey and Florida on a year-round basis.

RESTAURANT OPERATIONS

The Company currently operates nine restaurants on a year-round basis,
seven of which are free-standing seafood restaurants in New Jersey (four) and
Florida (three); one of which is a free-standing Mexican theme restaurant
located in Freehold, New Jersey, and one of which is a free-standing restaurant
also located in Freehold, New Jersey featuring an eclectic American food menu.
Five of the seafood restaurants are operated under the name "Jack Baker's
Lobster Shanty," one under the name "Baker's Wharfside" and one under the name
"Mr. Manatee's Casual Grille." The Mexican theme restaurant is operated under
the name "Escondido's Mexican Restaurant." The eclectic American food restaurant
is operated under the name "Moore's Tavern and Restaurant." The Company opened
its first seafood restaurant in November 1978, its Mexican theme restaurant in
January 2002 and "Moore's Tavern and Restaurant" in February 2000. The Company's
restaurants, all of which are operated on a year-round basis, are as follows:

Date of Opening Under

Location the Company's Management

SEAFOOD RESTAURANTS
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Vero Beach, Florida December 1979
Pt. Pleasant Beach, New Jersey October 1980
Toms River, New Jersey October 1980
Cocoa Beach, Florida September 1981
Hightstown, New Jersey December 1981

Baker's Wharfside

Pt. Pleasant Beach, New Jersey October 1980

Mr. Manatee's Casual Grille Restaurant

Vero Beach, Florida April 2002

Date of Opening Under
Location the Company's Management

Freehold, New Jersey January 2002

MOORE'S TAVERN AND RESTAURANT

Freehold, New Jersey February 2000
SEAFOOD RESTAURANTS

The Company's seafood restaurants provide a variety of seafood dishes
including shellfish such as lobster, scallops, shrimp, oysters and clams, and
other fish 1including red snapper, Dbluefish, grouper and other varieties. A
limited selection of non-seafood entrees is also offered including steak and
chicken as well as a dessert selection. Most of the Company's seafood
restaurants have a nautical decor.

JACK BAKER'S LOBSTER SHANTY RESTAURANTS

VERO BEACH, FLORIDA - This restaurant, consisting of approximately
6,900 square feet, is free standing in Vero Beach, Florida on the intracoastal
waterway, and seats approximately 200. It opened in December, 1979 pursuant to a
lease from a partnership, the principal partner of which was the Company's then
principal stockholder. During fiscal 1998, the Company constructed an outdoor
deck with a bar and dining facilities at this restaurant at a cost of
approximately $125,000. At August 31, 1998, the Company was continuing to lease
this restaurant on a month-to-month "net" basis at a monthly rental of $10,000
with the Company also paying personal property taxes and insurance thereunder.
On that date, the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of New Jersey
ordered the acceptance of the Company's bid of $1,100,000 to purchase the Vero
Beach restaurant property from the partnership. On October 30, 1998, the Company
completed the purchase of the property for $1,100,000. To fund the purchase, the
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Company obtained an $880,000 first mortgage loan from its principal lending
bank, and paid the balance of the purchase price from working capital. The
Company's successful bid was based upon an independent appraisal of the property
and was equal to the appraised wvalue. See "Bank Loans" herein as to the
repayment terms of this loan.

During fiscal 2002, the Company was assessed and paid $62,674 as its
share for the development by the City of Vero Beach of the Royal Palm Pointe
project. This project is a city park development contiguous to the Company's
Jack Baker's Lobster Shanty and its Mr. Manatee's restaurants. Among other
amenities, it provides municipal parking which the Company believes has enhanced
its restaurant business at those locations.

The Company was forced to close this restaurant for 53 days in
September and October 2004 due to damage from the September 2004 Florida
hurricanes. To date, the Company has spent approximately $625,000 in capital
expenditures and repairs on this restaurant and anticipates spending an
additional $30,000 to $50,000 to complete the work.

PT. PLEASANT BEACH, NEW JERSEY - This restaurant, consisting of
approximately 17,000 square feet, is free standing with a waterfront location on
Channel Drive in Pt. Pleasant Beach, New Jersey and seats approximately 750. It
shares parking with the Baker's Wharfside restaurant in Pt. Pleasant Beach with
space for approximately 250 automobiles. The Company purchased this restaurant
and three others (including the land, buildings, improvements and businesses

including personal property and fixtures, liquor 1licenses and all of the
outstanding stock of the four corporations operating these restaurants) from its
then principal stockholder, and from three partnerships owned by him, in
October, 1980 for an aggregate $7,750,000 less a subsequent $250,000 prepayment
discount.

The Company has commenced major renovations to this restaurant which
will take place in fiscal 2005 and 2006 at an anticipated cost of approximately
$2,200,000. The Company expects to finance approximately $1,500,000 of the cost
with bank loans and the balance from working capital.

TOMS RIVER, NEW JERSEY - This restaurant, consisting of approximately
10,750 square feet, 1is free standing on Robbins Parkway with a waterfront
location on the Toms River in Toms River, New Jersey and seats approximately
375. Municipal parking facilities are available nearby. The Company purchased
this restaurant and three others (including the land, Dbuildings, improvements,
and businesses including personal property and fixtures, liquor licenses and all
of the outstanding stock of the four corporations operating these restaurants)
from its then principal stockholder, and from three partnerships owned by him,
in October 1980 for an aggregate $7,750,000 1less a subsequent $250,000
prepayment discount. During fiscal 1998, the Company commenced an interior
renovation of this restaurant, the bulk of which was completed in fiscal 1998
with the Dbalance completed early in fiscal 1999. The total cost of this
renovation was approximately $338,000. 1In fiscal 1999, the Company constructed
an outdoor deck with a bar and dining facilities at this restaurant adding
approximately 125 seats at a cost of approximately $188,000.

In May 1998, the Company spent $166,000 to purchase a lot and building
with a waterfront location adjacent to the Toms River Lobster Shanty. The
Company partially funded the purchase price with the bank loan previously
described. The Company has obtained the permits and variances necessary for it
to develop an outdoor patio dining area with seating for 125 on this site but
delayed construction pending resolution of a lawsuit initiated by a neighboring
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landowner attempting to prevent construction. The landowner's time to appeal
from the granting of the permits and variances to the Company has expired.
Management assumes there will be no further objection to the Company's
construction of the planned patio dining area. As a result of the delay, the
board of directors has deferred 1its decision on whether to proceed with the
construction of the patio. If the board determines to proceed in the next
several months, the Company estimates the total cost of construction and
outfitting at approximately $350,000 for an opening which could take place in
fiscal 2007.

COCOA BEACH, FLORIDA - This approximately 240 seat restaurant,
consisting of approximately 9,600 square feet, 1is located in a free standing
building on Highway AlA in Cocoa Beach and has parking for approximately 90
cars. The Company acquired this restaurant as well as a seafood restaurant in
Titusville, Florida in September 1981 through the purchase from two unaffiliated
individuals of the outstanding capital stock of two corporations engaged in the
ownership and operation of a Florida seafood restaurant at each of the two
sites. The corporations owned the land on which the restaurants were located,
the restaurant buildings, the restaurant businesses including personal property
and fixtures and liquor licenses for each restaurant, all of which were included
in the sale. The ©purchase price paid by the Company for the stock of the two
corporations (prior to closing adjustments) was $3,370,000, the bulk of which
was represented by 20-year promissory notes payable monthly and secured by
mortgages on the restaurants. The Company sold the Titusville restaurant to an
unaffiliated third party in January 1988 realizing a loss of approximately
$942,000. The Company prepaid the balance of the remaining indebtedness under
the notes in July 1993

using the net proceeds from the sale in June 1993 of another Florida restaurant
property.

The Company was forced to close this restaurant for twelve days in
September 2004 due to damage from the September 2004 Florida hurricanes.

HIGHTSTOWN, NEW JERSEY - This restaurant, consisting of approximately
4,600 square feet, is free standing on State Highway 33 approximately two miles
east of Hightstown and seats approximately 175. The restaurant has parking for
approximately 100 automobiles. The Company purchased this restaurant and three
others (including the land, buildings, improvements and businesses including
personal property and fixtures, liquor licenses and all of the outstanding stock
of the four corporations operating these restaurants) from its then principal
stockholder and from three partnerships owned by him, in October 1980 for an
aggregate $7,750,000 less a subsequent $250,000 prepayment discount.

BAKER'S WHARFSIDE RESTAURANT

PT. PLEASANT BEACH, NEW JERSEY - This restaurant, consisting of
approximately 7,500 square feet, is free standing with a waterfront location on
Channel Drive in Pt. Pleasant Beach, New Jersey and seats approximately 500. It
shares parking with the Lobster Shanty restaurant in Pt. Pleasant Beach with
space for approximately 250 automobiles. The Company purchased this restaurant
and three others (including the land, buildings, improvements and businesses
including personal property and fixtures, liquor 1licenses and all of the
outstanding stock of the four corporations operating these restaurants) from its
then principal stockholder, and from three partnerships owned by him, in
October, 1980 for an aggregate $7,750,000 less a subsequent $250,000 prepayment
discount.

MR. MANATEE'S CASUAL GRILLE RESTAURANT
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VERO BEACH, FLORIDA - This restaurant, consisting of approximately
4,000 square feet, 1s free standing at 30 Royal Palm Pointe in Vero Beach and
seats approximately 165. It has parking for approximately 40 automobiles but
there are additional municipal parking spaces available at the contiguous Royal
Palm Pointe municipal park. Pursuant to a January 2002 asset purchase agreement,
the Company purchased the furnishings, fixtures and equipment, liquor license,
goodwill, «right to the name and the Dbusiness of Mr. Manatee's from an
unaffiliated third party for $800,000. The Company paid $300,000 of the purchase
price from its available cash reserves and borrowed the $500,000 balance (which
it repaid in fiscal 2003) under its available Line of Credit. On April 1, 2002,
the Company entered into a five year lease of the restaurant property at a
monthly rental of $8,000 under a triple "net-net" Lease. The Lease provides the
Company with an option to renew the lease for up to three additional five year
terms with the rental increasing by ten percent for each additional five-year
renewal term. The Lease also provides the Company with the right to purchase the
Property for $1,075,000 at the expiration of the initial five year term of the
Lease.

Mr. Manatee's Casual Grille opened under the Company's management on
April 1, 2002. It is a casual theme restaurant primarily featuring seafood
items, serving lunch meals, dinner meals and sandwiches. To date, the average
check at Mr. Manatee's has been approximately 15% to 20% lower than the check
average at the Company's other seafood restaurants.

The Company was forced to close this restaurant for 76 days in
September through November 2004 due to damage from the September 2004 Florida
hurricanes. To date, the Company has spent approximately $335,000 in capital
expenditures and

repairs and anticipates spending an additional $30,000 to $50,000 to complete
the work.

MEXICAN THEME RESTAURANT

At January 30, 2005, the Company was operating one Mexican theme
restaurant; its free-standing "Escondido's Mexican Restaurant" in Freehold, New
Jersey.

The Company's Mexican theme restaurant features Mexican cuisine
including fajitas, tortillas, burritos and enchiladas with cheese, beef,
chicken, pork and seafood fillings. The menu also includes appetizers, soups and
salads and a limited number of American style offerings such as steaks and
burgers. Alcoholic offerings such as margaritas and tequilas complement fruit
drinks and other soft drinks.

The Company opened its Freehold, New Jersey "Escondido's Mexican
Restaurant" located on West Main Street (Route 537) in January 2002. This
free-standing restaurant, consisting of approximately 5,000 square feet of
leased space, 1s decorated in a Dbright multi-colored Mexican motif. The
restaurant has a bar and tables and booths which can accommodate approximately
225 patrons and shares parking facilities with the adjoining Moore's Tavern and
Restaurant. It has a liquor license permitting the consumption of wine and
alcoholic beverages on the premises. The restaurant is open for lunch and dinner
seven days per week.

The Company leased the facility ("Building B") from Moore's Realty
(whose partners are members of the Lombardi family). The lease is a "triple-net"
lease pursuant to which the Company is required to pay real estate taxes,
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insurance and heating and air conditioning costs. The lease is for a five-year
term through January 2007 and contains provisions for three consecutive
five-year renewals at the Company's option which are automatically effective
unless the Company gives written notice at least six months before the end of
the applicable term that it does not intend that such option be exercised. The
Company has the right to terminate the lease upon six months' written notice
during the initial lease term provided that such notice cannot be given until 18
months after the commencement of the initial lease term and upon twelve months
written notice during any renewal term.

The lease provides for a minimum annual rental of $90,000 during each
year of the initial five-year term, $100,000 during each year of the first
five-year renewal period, $112,500 during each year of the second five-year
renewal period and $125,500 during each year of the third five-year renewal
period. In addition to the minimum annual rental, the Company is also required
to pay an amount to Moore's Realty -equal to (i) 6% of the total gross sales of
food and Dbeverages etc. at the facility in each year (excluding taxes and
gratuities) (the "gross annual rental") less (ii) the minimum annual rental for
that year. For the fiscal vyear ended January 30, 2005, the gross rental
aggregated $99,656. Moore's Realty has the right to terminate the lease upon
twelve months' prior written notice if, for the preceding lease year, the gross
annual rental did not exceed the minimum annual rental for that year.

The Company expended approximately $1,300,000 to renovate, decorate and

equip (kitchen, bar, furniture, fixtures) its Escondido's Mexican Restaurant in
Freehold, New Jersey. The bulk of the costs were paid from the proceeds of two
bank loans from Wachovia Bank aggregating $1,200,000. See "Developments Since

the Beginning of the Last Fiscal Year - Bank Loans" in this Item 1. During the
renovation of this restaurant, the Company paid an aggregate $15,000 in rents to

Moore's Realty with respect to Building B. The Company had no additional cost
for the liquor license for these premises, the license being permitted as an
expansion of the license on the adjoining "Moore's Tavern and Restaurant."

See "Moore's Tavern and Restaurant" herein as to the Company's lease of
the Building C pad site to provide additional parking for both this restaurant
and Moore's Tavern and Restaurant.

MOORE'S TAVERN AND RESTAURANT

In February 2000, the Company executed a lease with Moore's Realty
(whose partners are members of the Lombardi family). The lease was of premises
on West Main Street (Route 537) in Freehold, New Jersey (Building A), where an
entity affiliated with Moore's Realty, Moore's Inn, Inc. was operating a
restaurant and tavern under the name "Moore's Inn." The Company provided
consulting services to the operators of Moore's Inn from January 3, 2000 until
February 23, 2000 when it executed the following described 1lease and purchase
agreements and commenced to operate the facility under the name "Moore's Tavern
and Restaurant."

The lease was for a five-year term through February 22, 2005 and
contains ©provisions for three consecutive five-year renewals at the Company's
option which are automatically effective unless the Company gives written notice
at least six months before the end of the initial term or at least six months
before the end of the applicable renewal period that it does not intend that

such option be exercised. After 18 months, the Company can terminate the lease
upon six months' written notice provided that during each of the five-year
renewal periods, the Company must provide at least twelve months' prior written

notice to terminate.

10
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The lease is a "triple-net" 1lease pursuant to which the Company will
pay real estate taxes, insurance and heating and air conditioning costs. The
lease provides for a minimum annual rental of $90,000 during each year of the
initial five-year term, $100,000 during each year of the first five-year renewal
period, $112,500 during each year of the second five-year renewal period and
$125,500 during each year of the third five-year renewal period. In addition to
the minimum annual rental, the Company is also required to pay an amount to
Moore's Realty equal to (i) 6% of the total gross sales of food and beverages
etc. at the facility in each year (excluding taxes and gratuities) (the "gross
annual rental") less (ii) the minimum annual rental for that year. For the
fiscal year ended January 30, 2005, the gross rental aggregated $152,545.
Moore's Realty has the right to terminate the lease upon twelve months' prior
written notice if, for the preceding lease year, the gross annual rental did not
exceed the minimum annual rental for that year.

During the lease term, the Company has been granted the exclusive right
to the use of the names "Moore's Inn" and "Moore's Tavern" within the State of
New Jersey. Moore's Realty has agreed not to operate, lease, rent or permit to
be operated as a restaurant or tavern during the lease term, any premises owned,
leased or occupied by it or members of the Lombardi family (not presently
occupied as such), located within ten miles of Moore's Tavern and Restaurant.

In connection with the lease, the Company purchased a New Jersey liquor

license from Moore's Inn, Inc. for $350,000 and agreed to sell the license back

to the Seller or to Moore's Realty at the termination of the lease for the same

$350,000. 1In addition, the Company purchased existing furniture, fixtures and

equipment at Moore's Inn from Moore's Inn, Inc. for $250,000 agreeing to leave

all of the furniture, fixtures and equipment at the premises "...in good working

condition, reasonable wear and tear excepted... " upon termination of the lease.
10

The lease of the Moore's Inn and the purchase of the liquor license and
the furniture, fixtures and equipment cannot be deemed "arm's length"
transactions due to the interest therein of the Lombardi family. The
transactions were negotiated for the Company by Anthony C. Papalia, 1its then
president and chief executive officer. 1In negotiating the transactions, Mr.
Papalia took into account his experience 1in similar restaurant leases, the
prices at which liquor licenses were sold in neighboring areas (finding such
prices to be comparable to the 1liquor license purchase price paid by the
Company) and the condition of the furniture, fixtures and equipment. The bulk of
the furniture, fixtures and equipment had been purchased by the Seller during
the twelve months ended June 30, 1999 at a price of $621,893. Mr. Papalia and
the non-interested directors concluded that the terms of the transaction were
fair and in the best interests of the Company.

At the time of execution of the lease, Moore's Realty agreed not to
sell or lease a building ("Building B") adjacent to the Moore's 1Inn or the
nearby pad site for a proposed building ("Building C") for a period of one year.
If during the first year, the Company entered into an agreement to purchase or
lease Building B, Moore's Realty agreed not to sell or lease the pad site to
anyone other than the Company for an additional one-year period. See "Mexican
Theme Restaurant"” herein as to the Company's lease of Building B from Moore's
Realty in fiscal 2002, renovation of the facility and opening of an "Escondido's
Mexican Restaurant" at the facility in January 2002. At the time of the
Company's leasing of Building B, the Company and Moore's Realty executed an
amendment to their January 21, 2000 lease agreement extending the initial term
of the earlier lease to the termination date provided for in the later lease and
similarly extending the renewal periods of the earlier lease to coincide with
the renewal periods of the Building B lease.

11
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The Moore's Tavern and Restaurant, consisting of approximately 7,700
square feet, 1is free standing and is located on West Main Street (Route 537) in
Freehold, New Jersey. The restaurant seats approximately 260 (with an outdoor
patio for warm weather use that can seat an additional approximately 40 persons)

and accommodates parking for approximately 200 automobiles, the parking to be
shared with any businesses operated from Building B (now operated by the Company
as an Escondido's Mexican Restaurant), and proposed Building C. See "Building

Pad C Parking Lot" as to the Company's leasing of the Building C pad site to
provide additional parking for patrons of 1its two Freehold, New Jersey
restaurants. The tavern portion of this restaurant 1is of an historic nature
having Dbeen initially constructed in the late 18th century and owned by an
officer in the American Revolutionary Army. The entire restaurant is decorated
in a revolutionary period decor.

The Moore's Tavern and Restaurant is open for lunch and dinner on a
year-round basis. It features an eclectic American food menu offering
sandwiches, Dburgers, steak and other meats, chicken and fish, ©potatoes,
vegetables and desserts, and alcoholic beverages.

BUILDING PAD C PARKING LOT

In connection with the February 2000 execution of the lease of Moore's
Inn to the Company, Moore's Realty agreed not to sell or lease a building
("Building B") adjacent to Moore's Inn or the nearby pad site for a proposed
building ("Building C") to a third party for a period of one year. Moore's
Realty also agreed that if during the initial one-year period, the Company
entered into an agreement to purchase or lease Building B, it would not sell or
lease the Building C pad site to anyone other than the Company for an additional
one-year
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period. In October 2001, the Company leased Building B from Moore's Realty and
in January 2002, opened its Mexican theme restaurant in Building B under the
name "Escondido's Mexican Restaurant."

In September 2002, the Company leased the Building C pad site from
Moore's Realty for use as a parking lot for its Freehold, New Jersey Moore's
Tavern and Restaurant and its Escondido's Mexican Restaurant. The lease is for a
five-year term through January 2007 and contains provisions for three
consecutive five-year renewals at the Company's option. Either party has the
right to terminate the lease upon twelve (12) months written notice after
conclusion of the initial five (5) year term provided that if the Landlord
elects to terminate the lease, it must offer the Tenant the right to lease an
adjoining paved parking area sufficient to park at least fifty (50) automobiles
on terms and conditions similar to those contained in the lease. The lease also
provides that if the Company is leasing either Building A (Moore's Tavern and
Restaurant) or Building B (Escondido's Mexican Restaurant) at the time of
termination by Moore's Realty, Moore's Realty will not permit a restaurant to be
developed on the Building C pad site.

The lease is a "triple-net" lease pursuant to which the Company pays
real estate taxes, insurance, electricity charges, snow and ice removal,
cleaning and maintenance. The lease provides for a minimum rent at an annual

rate of $40,000 during each year of the initial five-year term, $44,000 during
each year of the first five-year renewal period; $50,000 during each year of the
second five-year renewal period and $55,000 during each year of the third
five-year renewal period. In addition to the minimum annual rent, the Company is
required to pay an amount to Moore's Realty equal to (i) 1% of the total gross
sales of the food and beverages etc. at the Moore's Tavern and Restaurant and at

12



Edgar Filing: CHEFS INTERNATIONAL INC - Form 10KSB

the Escondido's Mexican restaurant in each year (excluding taxes and gratuities)
(the "gross annual rent"), less (ii) the minimum annual rent for such year.
During fiscal 2003, the Company installed curbing, paving and other improvements
to the site at a cost of approximately $134,000. The site now provides parking
for approximately 65 automobiles for patrons of the two Freehold restaurants.
Moore's Realty has agreed to reimburse the Company's costs. Moore's Realty's
reimbursement obligation is being applied as a credit against the minimum rent
and the gross annual rent, if any, due under the lease. As a result, the Company
did not pay any rent to Moore's Realty in fiscal 2005 with respect to this pad
site and still has approximately $36,000 of credits remaining.

The lease for the Building C pad site cannot be deemed as an "arm's
length" transaction due to the interest therein of the Lombardi family. The
lease was negotiated for the Company by Anthony C. Papalia, its then president
and chief executive officer. Mr. Papalia and the non-interested directors
concluded that the terms of the transaction were fair and in the best interests
of the Company.

SOURCES OF FOOD PRODUCTS

The food products used by the Company in the operation of its seafood
restaurants, its Moore's Tavern and Restaurant and its Escondido's Mexican
Restaurant are readily available from a variety of sources including national
distributors and local sources on an order basis when needed.

SEASONAL ASPECTS

The Company's New Jersey seafood restaurants experience a significant
portion of their sales from May through September whereas its Florida seafood
restaurants experience a significant portion of their sales from January through
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April. Moore's Tavern and Restaurant and the Freehold Escondido's Mexican
Restaurant have experienced a seasonality factor similar to but not as dramatic
as the seasonality factor of the Company's New Jersey seafood restaurants. Mr.
Manatee's Casual Grille follows the seasonality pattern of the Company's Florida
restaurants.

TRADEMARKS

The Company has no patents, trademarks, licenses, franchises or
concessions which it regards as material to its restaurant Dbusiness with the
exception of the service mark "Jack Baker's Lobster Shanty" registered for a 20

year period with the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office in February, 1989, and its
rights to use of the names "Moore's Inn" and "Moore's Tavern" as described
above. The Company also Dbelieves 1its use of the service mark "Escondido's
Mexican Restaurant" is material to its restaurant business. The Company applied
to the United States Commissioner of Trademarks and effective September 2002,
obtained registration of the service mark "Escondido's Mexican Restaurant."

COMPETITION

The restaurant Dbusiness is highly competitive and the success of any
restaurant depends to a great extent upon the services it supplies and its
location. The Company's seafood restaurants compete primarily with other local
seafood restaurants and to a lesser extent, with local restaurants serving a
more general fare. The principal national competition to the Company's seafood
restaurants is the Red Lobster restaurant chain. This chain has substantially
greater resources than the Company. The Company's Florida seafood restaurants
also face competition from Shells seafood restaurants operating in their area.
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There are other restaurants in the vicinity of the location where the Company is
now operating its Escondido's Mexican Restaurant, all of which supply
competition to the Company's Mexican theme restaurant. In addition, there are
other Mexican style restaurants including an outlet of Chevy's, a national
chain, 1in the area. The Moore's Tavern and Restaurant faces competition from
local restaurants as well as from national chains including TGI Fridays and
Chili's restaurants in the area. Typical "chain" competitors to all of the
Company's restaurants, which are affiliated with better established and more
prominent national chains, are Ruby Tuesdays and TGI Fridays. There can be no
assurance that the Company's units will be able to successfully compete with any
of such other restaurants.

GOVERNMENT REGULATION

The Company 1s subject to wvarious Federal, state and local laws
affecting the operation of its restaurants, including licensing and regulation
by health, sanitation, safety and fire departments and alcoholic beverage
control authorities. The Company is also subject to the Fair Labor Standards
Act, which governs such matters as minimum wages, overtime and other working
conditions. While such regulations have not had a material negative impact on
the Company's operations to date, difficulties in obtaining necessary licenses
or permits could result in delays or cancellations in the opening of new
restaurants and increases in the minimum wage will increase the Company's labor
costs.

Each of the Company's New Jersey and Florida restaurants holds a state
liquor license and is subject to the liquor licensing laws of New Jersey or
Florida (depending on location). Management regards the aggregate and per claim
liability insurance which it carries to be adequate for the nature of its

operations taking into account the fact that it serves liquor at each location.
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EMPLOYEES

The Company maintains its administrative employees at its executive

offices including 1its principal officers (see "Item 9 - Directors, Executive
Officers, Promoters and Control Persons; Compliance with Section 16(a) of the
Exchange Act"), secretarial and Dbookkeeping personnel. Each of the Company's

seafood restaurant units employs a general manager, two assistant managers and
between 40 and 130 other employees to serve as wailtresses, waiters, Dbusboys,
bartenders, cooks, dishwashers, kitchen help, hostesses and cashiers (some on a
part-time basis). The Company's Escondido's Mexican Restaurant in Freehold, New
Jersey employs between 30 and 60 employees and its Moore's Tavern and Restaurant
employs approximately 60 employees, in each case serving similar functions. The
Company also presently employs two area supervisors, each responsible for
certain of the Company's restaurants. Managerial candidates are recruited for
the Company's restaurants from hotel and restaurant management schools,
restaurant recruiting agencies, through advertising in restaurant management
magazines and by promotion from within the Company's own organization. At
January 30, 2005, the Company had approximately 500 employees (including
part-time workers). The Company is not a party to any collective Dbargaining
agreements and has enjoyed satisfactory employee relations since inception.

ITEM 2. DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY
The Company's executive and administrative offices are located in an
approximately 4,000 square foot two story Company owned building of cinder block

construction at 62 Broadway, Point Pleasant Beach, New Jersey.

See Item 1 herein for a description of the Company's operating
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
The Company is not a party to any material legal proceeding.
ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of the Company's security holders
during the quarter ended January 30, 2005.

A Special Meeting of the Company's stockholders was held on April 18,
2005. At the Special Meeting, a total of 2,873,469 votes were cast in favor of,
a total of 8,944 votes were cast against and 2,084 shares abstained from voting
with respect to the proposal to approve and adopt the Agreement and Plan of
Merger dated as of December 22, 2004 between Acquisition Co. and the Company and
the Merger pursuant to which Acquisition Co. would be merged with and into the
Company and each share of Chefs common stock (other than shares owned by
Acquisition Co. and shares owned by stockholders who have properly exercised
dissenters' rights of appraisal) will be canceled and converted into the right
to receive a cash payment of $3.12 without interest, and without deduction of
any commission, so that the Agreement and Plan of Merger and the Merger have
been approved and adopted by the affirmative vote of a majority of the shares of
Chefs common stock outstanding on the February 25, 2005 Record Date for the
meeting.
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CHEFS INTERNATIONAL, INC.
PART TII

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR COMMON EQUITY AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The common stock was listed on the NASDAQ Stock Market Small Cap System
under the symbol "CHEF" until the close of business on December 16, 1998 when it
was delisted because of the failure of the common stock to maintain a closing
bid price at or above $1.00 per share. Commencing December 17, 1998, the common
stock has been traded in the over-the-counter market under the symbol "CHEF."
The following chart sets forth the range of high and low closing bid prices for
the common stock in the over-the-counter market for the periods indicated as
obtained from the Pink Sheets LLC.

Fiscal 2004 Bid Prices
Quarter = —ommmooo oo
Ended High Low

April 27, 2003 1.42 1.35
July 27, 2003 1.38 1.35
October 26, 2003 1.40 1.38
January 25, 2004 1.85(a) 1.40 (a)
Fiscal 2005

Quarter

Ended

April 25, 2004 2.76 (b) 1.55(b)
July 25, 2004 3.05(c) 2.76(c)
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October 24, 2004 3.05 3.03
January 30, 2005 3.05 2.90

The above quotations represent prices Dbetween dealers and do not
include retail mark-ups, mark-downs or commissions. They do not necessarily
represent actual transactions.

(a) During the quarter (on November 21, 2003), the Company publicly announced
its receipt of a Merger offer from the Lombardi Group offering to purchase the
outstanding Common Stock owned by the Public Stockholders for a cash purchase
price of $1.75 per share.

(b) During the quarter, after publicly announcing on March 8, 2004, the
rejection of the $1.75 per share offered purchase price, the Company, on March
15, 2004, publicly announced the increased offer by the Lombardi Group of a cash
purchase price of $2.50 per share. After publicly announcing on April 19, 2004,
the rejection of the $2.50 per share offered purchase price, the Company, on
April 21, 2004, publicly announced the increased offer by the Lombardi Group of
a cash purchase price of $3.00 per share.

(c) During the quarter (on June 1, 2004), the Company publicly announced that
the Special Committee appointed by the Board of Directors to review and make a
recommendation to the Board regarding the fairness of the proposed Merger offer
to the Public Stockholders, had advised the Board of Directors that in the
Committee's Jjudgment, the proposed increased purchase price of $3.12 per share
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(increased after discussions Dbetween counsel for the Special Committee and
counsel for the Lombardi Group), was fair to the Company's Public Stockholders,
and had determined to recommend that the Board accept the proposal.

At February 25, 2005, the number of record holders of the Common Stock
was 6,296. Such number of record holders was determined from the Company's
shareholder records and does not include beneficial owners whose shares are held
in nominee accounts with brokers, dealers, banks and clearing agencies.

The Company did not sell any of its equity securities during the fiscal
year ended January 30, 2005.

ITEM 6. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS OR PLAN OF OPERATION

SAFE HARBOR STATEMENT UNDER THE PRIVATE SECURITIES LITIGATION REFORM ACT OF 1995

Certain statements regarding future performance in this Annual Report
on Form 10-KSB constitute forward-looking statements under the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. No assurance can be given that the
future results covered by the forward-looking statements will be achieved. The
Company cautions readers that important factors may affect the Company's actual
results and could cause those results to differ materially from the
forward-looking statements. Such factors include, but are not limited to,
changing market conditions, weather, the state of the economy, substantial
increases 1in insurance costs, the impact of competition to the Company's
restaurants, pricing and acceptance of the Company's food products. In addition,
the Company's performance may be adversely affected if it is unable to find a
satisfactory successor to its president and principal executive officer, Anthony
C. Papalia, who left the Company's employ at the end of June 2004.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements includes a summary of
significant accounting policies and methods wused in the preparation of the
Company's consolidated financial statements. However, in the opinion of
management, the Company does not have any individual accounting policy that is
critical to the preparation of its consolidated financial statements. This is
due principally to the nature of the accounting requirements of the Company's
business. The following is a review of the more significant accounting policies
and methods used by the Company.

Depreciation and Amortization: The Company depreciates its property and
equipment and amortizes its definite life intangible assets using straight-line
methods over the estimated wuseful 1lives of the assets. Intangible assets
(including 1liquor licenses) deemed to have 1indefinite wuseful 1lives are not
amortized but are subject to impairment tests at least annually, or more
frequently if circumstances occur that indicate impairment may have occurred.
The Company tested for impairment of its definite and indefinite life intangible
assets and no impairment charges were necessary during fiscal 2004 or fiscal
2005. See Note 6 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Income Taxes: The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with
statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 109, "Accounting for
Income Taxes." Under SFAS No. 109, deferred tax assets and liabilities are

determined based on the difference Dbetween book and tax assets and liabilities,
using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are
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expected to reverse. The recognition of the deferred tax assets is based on
management's best assumptions and estimates of future income. A valuation
allowance is recorded when management determines that it is more likely than not
that some portion of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. These
assumptions and estimates will Dbe periodically reviewed and, if needed,
adjustments will be made as required. During fiscal 2005, the Company determined
that sales of certain of its tangible and intangible assets will result in
sufficient taxable income so that a valuation allowance against the deferred tax
assets is no longer warranted.

Hedging Instruments: The Company has interest rate swap agreements
relating to a portion of its variable rate debt. The Company accounts for these
hedging instruments under SFAS No. 133 "Accounting for Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activities," and its related amendment, SFAS No. 138 "Accounting for
Certain Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities" (collectively
referred to as "SFAS No. 133"). The interest rate swap agreements are designated
as cash flow hedges and are reflected at fair value in the Consolidated Balance
Sheet and the related losses on these contracts are deferred in shareholders'
equity as a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss.

OVERVIEW

The Company's principal source of revenue is from the operations of its
restaurants. The Company's cost of goods sold includes food and ligquor costs.
Operating expenses include labor costs, supplies and occupancy costs (rent and
utilities), marketing and maintenance costs. General and administrative expenses
include costs incurred for corporate support and administration, including the
salaries and related expenses of personnel and the costs of operating the
corporate office at the Company's headquarters in Point Pleasant Beach, New
Jersey.

The Company currently operates nine restaurants on a year-round basis.
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See Item 1, "Developments Since the Beginning of the Last Fiscal Year" as to the
Company's sale of its Lobster Shanty Restaurant in Jensen Beach, Florida during
the second quarter of calendar 2004. The Company opened its first seafood

restaurant in November 1978 and currently has six free-standing seafood
restaurants 1in New Jersey and Florida operating under the names "Jack Baker's
Lobster Shanty" or "Baker's Wharfside." In February 2000, the Company commenced
the operation of Moore's Tavern and Restaurant, ("Moore's"), a free-standing
restaurant in Freehold, New Jersey serving an eclectic American food type menu.
On January 29, 2002, the Company commenced operation of its Escondido's Mexican

Restaurant ("Freehold"), a Mexican theme restaurant located in Freehold, New
Jersey, adjacent to Moore's. On April 1, 2002, the Company acquired the
operations of Mr. Manatee's Casual Grille ("Manatee's"), a casual theme
restaurant primarily featuring seafood items, located in Vero Beach, Florida

near the Company's Vero Beach, Florida Lobster Shanty. The closing of the
Company's Escondido's restaurant in the Monmouth Mall in Eatontown, New Jersey
("Monmouth") in June 2003 and its sale of its Jensen Beach, Florida Lobster
Shanty restaurant in May 2004 reduced the number of restaurants operated by the
Company to nine.

Generally, the Company's New Jersey seafood restaurants derive a
significant ©portion of their sales from May through September. The Company's
Florida seafood restaurants derive a significant portion of their sales from
January through April. Moore's experiences a seasonality factor similar to but
not as dramatic as the seasonality factor of the New Jersey seafood restaurants.
The Company's Freehold Escondido's experiences a seasonality factor similar to
Moore's. Manatee's follows the seasonality pattern of the other Florida
restaurants.
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The Company operated eleven restaurants during the year ended January
25, 2004.

The statements of operations are comprised of a 53-week period for the
year ended January 30, 2005 ("fiscal 2005") and a 52-week period for the year
ended January 25, 2004 ("fiscal 2004").

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Sales for the year ended January 30, 2005 totaled $21,563,600,
a decrease of $719,600 or 3.2%, as compared to total sales of $22,283,200 for
the year ended January 25, 2004, despite an additional week of sales included in
the fiscal 2005 results. Fiscal 2004's sales included $311,800 in sales at the
Monmouth Escondido's ("Monmouth") which was closed in June 2003 and $1,210,300
in sales at the Jensen Beach, Florida Lobster Shanty, ("Jensen Beach") which was
sold in May 2004, compared to $526,900 for Jensen Beach in fiscal 2005, a
decrease of $683,400 at Jensen Beach. Sales for the nine restaurants that
operated during the comparable periods increased by $275,600 or 1.3%. The three
Florida restaurants that operated during the comparable periods realized
decreased sales of $228,500 or 3.4% due to <closure of the restaurants as a
result of the devastation caused by the September 2004 hurricanes. The closures
ranged from twelve days at the Cocoa Beach restaurant to 76 days at the Vero
Beach Mr. Manatee's restaurant. Some weather observers believe that this was the
worst Florida storm season ever recorded and clearly the effect of the damage
has impacted the 2004-2005 Florida tourist season by the continued closure of
several major hotels/motels. All three Florida restaurants reported lower sales
for the current (2004-2005) tourist season. The six New Jersey restaurants that
operated during the comparable periods realized 1increased sales of $504,100 or
3.6% versus last year due to a mild 2003-2004 winter and despite lower sales
during a lack-luster rainy 2004 summer tourist season. Sales in both states
continue to be under pressure due to concerns about terrorism and the record
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high cost of gasoline. The number of customers served in the nine restaurants
that operated during the comparable periods decreased by 3.8% while the average
check increased by 5.3% versus the prior year.

GROSS PROFIT

Gross profit was $14,678,200 or 68.1% of sales for fiscal 2005 compared
to $15,248,300 or 68.4% for fiscal 2004. The primary reasons for the decline
were continued increases in commodity costs, particularly poultry, beef, dairy
and produce, the addition of fuel surcharges by suppliers due to the increase in
the price of o0il, and the closing of the Monmouth restaurant with its lower cost
Mexican fare. The Florida storms and Midwest droughts have dramatically impacted
commodity costs and will continue to do so for the foreseeable future.
Management raised some menu prices and introduced lower cost specials to
compensate for the higher costs.

OPERATING EXPENSES.

Total operating expenses decreased by 8% from $15,318,500 for fiscal
2004 to $14,090,800 for fiscal 2005. Payroll and related expenses were 30.5% of
sales for fiscal 2005 compared to 31.1% of sales for fiscal 2004. The primary
reasons for the improvement were the closure of the Monmouth and Jensen Beach
restaurants which operated with higher payroll costs, and lower health and
worker's compensation insurance costs at the other nine restaurants. Other
operating expenses were 21.7% of sales for fiscal 2005 compared to 22.2% of
sales for fiscal 2004 primarily attributable to the closures of Monmouth and
Jensen Beach,
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which offset increased wutility costs at the other restaurants related to the
substantial increase in oil prices.

Depreciation and amortization expenses in fiscal 2005 were lower by
approximately $65,700 versus fiscal 2004 due primarily to the closings of
Monmouth and Jensen Beach and the write off of property and equipment destroyed
or damaged by the hurricanes. Depreciation expenses will increase in the future
as the replacement assets purchased in fiscal 2005 are depreciated.

General and administrative expenses for fiscal 2005 were lower by
approximately $130,000 versus the prior fiscal year due primarily to reductions
in salaries and payroll taxes of approximately $78,200 and lower insurance costs
of approximately $54,200. Salaries for fiscal 2005 included $71,500 attributed
to the Company's Executive Incentive Bonus Plan ("Bonus Plan") (see Note 12 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements), while salaries in fiscal 2004 attributed
to the Bonus Plan were $51,000.

During the second quarter ended July 25, 2004, the Company sold the
restaurant and property located in Jensen Beach, Florida for $900,000 in cash to
an unrelated third party resulting in a gain of approximately $415,000. In June
2003, the Company closed the Monmouth Mall Mexican theme restaurant and recorded
a loss of approximately $410,000 which included an early lease termination fee
of $180,000. As part of a Surrender Agreement, the Mall was given an option to
purchase the Company's liquor license for a specified price. However, during
fiscal 2005, the Mall declined to purchase the license and management 1is
currently in the process of marketing the license to interested parties.

During the third quarter ended October 24, 2004, the Company recorded a
loss of $320,400 for costs associated with the Florida hurricanes. The loss
included lost inventory, clean-up expenditures and an estimate for the carrying
value for the property and equipment destroyed or damaged.
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During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005, the Company spent an
additional $35,200 on hurricane costs and received net insurance advances of
approximately $558,000 from its insurance carriers resulting 1in a net gain
related to the hurricanes of approximately $202,400 for the year ended January
30, 2005.

OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSE.

Interest expense was $9,400 lower in fiscal 2005 due to debt reduction.
During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005, the Company's primary bank lender
agreed to increase the Company's bank line of credit ("line") from $500,000 to
$1,000,000 with all other terms remaining unchanged including the maturity date
of June 30, 2005 and a variable interest rate equal to the monthly LIBOR Market
Index Rate plus 2%. The Company intends to use the line to cover short-term cash
needs related to the hurricane losses. At the year end, the Company had drawn
$500,000 on the line. Investment income was $114,700 higher in fiscal 2005
primarily due to an increase of $60,700 in capital gains realized on the sale of
investments (see Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

NET INCOME.

For the year ended January 30, 2005, the Company realized net income of
$783,500 or $.20 per share compared to $39,000 or $.01 per share for the year
ended January 25, 2004. Net income for the current vyear includes a gain of
approximately $415,000 recognized on the sale of Jensen Beach and a net gain of
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approximately $202,400 related to the Florida hurricanes. The prior year's net
income included a charge of $410,000 for the loss on closing the Monmouth
restaurant and a credit of $57,000 for income taxes.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES.

The Company has financed its operations primarily from revenues derived
from its restaurants.

The Company's ratio of current assets to current liabilities was 2.12:1
at January 30, 2005, compared to 2.56:1 at January 25, 2004. Working capital was
$3,355,700 at the end of fiscal 2005, a decrease of $331,200 wversus the prior

year. During fiscal 2005, there was an increase in cash of $831,300. Net cash
provided from operating activities was $2,090,700. The primary components were
net income, after adjustment for depreciation, deferred income taxes, the gain

on the sale of Jensen Beach, and the net gain related to the hurricanes of
$1,999,200; a decrease in inventories of $86,000 primarily related to the sale
of Jensen Beach; a decrease in pre-paid expenses of $90,400 as a result of a
change in the financing of the Company's annual property and casualty insurance
program; an increase of $131,800 1in accounts payable primarily due to
construction costs associated with restaurant renovations and hurricane costs;
and a decrease of $210,000 in accrued expenses primarily due to a final payment
of $120,000 paid as per the Surrender Agreement associated with the closing of
Monmouth (see Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements).

Investing activities during fiscal 2005 resulted in a net cash outflow
of approximately $1,222,600. Capital expenditures were $2,165,200, including
$984,600 for hurricane related furniture, fixtures and equipment, $655,200 for
in-progress renovations at the Lobster Shanty restaurants 1in Cocoa Beach,
Florida and Point Pleasant Beach, New Jersey, and the balance of approximately
$525,400 for routine restaurant improvements and the purchase of two Company
vehicles. Other investing activities included $842,200 in net proceeds from the

20



Edgar Filing: CHEFS INTERNATIONAL INC - Form 10KSB

sale of Jensen Beach. Investment purchases of $1,295,400 for available-for-sale
securities were offset by $1,291,300 from the sale of investments which resulted
in a gain of $129,800. At January 30, 2005, the fair value of the Company's
holdings available-for-sale securities resulted in net wunrealized gains of
$109,100 (see Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements). The resulting
gains are recorded in stockholder's equity as a component of accumulated other
comprehensive income.

Financing activities for fiscal 2005 resulted in a net cash outflow of
$36,700 and included debt repayment of $271,300; Dbank loan proceeds of $500,000
which were drawn on the bank line to partially finance the cost of rebuilding
the Florida restaurants pursuant to damages incurred by the hurricanes, and a
change in other assets primarily due to approximately $226,500 in costs related
to the proposal by the principal shareholders of the Company to purchase all of
the remaining outstanding shares of common stock (see Note 2 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements).

During fiscal 2004, net cash increased by $341,000. Net cash provided
from operating activities was $1,342,000. The primary components were net
income, after adjustment for depreciation, deferred income taxes, and a loss on
closing of the Monmouth restaurant, of $1,442,300; an increase in inventories of
$111,000 primarily related to bulk purchases of shrimp; an increase in prepaid
expenses of $90,000 primarily related to the revised financing agreement for the

Company's property and casualty insurance premiums; an increase in the current
portion of the Company's deferred tax assets, and an increase of $120,400 in
accounts

20

pavable due to increased sales and the inventory purchases. Investing activities
for fiscal 2004 resulted in a net cash outflow of $568,600. Capital expenditures
were $449,100, including $31,400 to renovate the Freehold Escondido's bar and
$417,700 for routine restaurant improvements. Other investing activities
included the purchase of various 1investments totaling $534,300 offset by
$453,100 realized from the proceeds of maturing certificates of deposit and the
sale of investments which resulted in a gain of $69,200. Financing activities in
fiscal 2004 resulted in a net cash outflow of $432,400 and included debt
repayment of $271,500; treasury stock purchases of $59,200 to repurchase 40,000
shares of the Company's outstanding common stock, and approximately $110,000 in
costs related to the Merger proposal (see Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements) .

At the end of fiscal 2005, the Company was in compliance with all of
the financial covenants under 1its loan agreements with its primary bank,
Wachovia Bank, National Association. The Company was also in full compliance at
the year ended January 25, 2004.

RECENT DEVELOPMENTS

In January 2005, the Company Dbegan a major renovation of the Lobster
Shanty located in Point Pleasant Beach, New Jersey, at a projected cost of
approximately $2,200,000. Management expects that the renovated restaurant will
be fully operational in May, 2005. In order to partially finance the project,
the Company entered into an agreement to borrow up to $1,500,000 through a
Non-Revolving Line of Credit with Wachovia Bank ("Construction Line") which
expires on July 31, 2005 at a monthly interest rate of one-month LIBOR plus
2.00%. At July 31, 2005 the balance due on the construction 1line will be
converted to a term loan based on a 15-year payout with a ten year balloon at an
interest rate to be determined prior to the conversion. At April 21, 2005 the
Company had borrowed $750,000 on the construction line.
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In February 2005, the Company Dborrowed an additional $300,000 on its
$1,000,000 bank line for repair costs associated with the Florida hurricanes.

In April 2005, the Company received additional net insurance advances
of $502,600 which brings the total advances received to date to $1,060,600. Upon
receipt of the recent advances, the Company paid $400,000 against the balance
due on the $1,000,000 bank line of credit, leaving a total of $600,000 available
for future borrowings.

In April 2005, management negotiated the annual renewals for group
health ("health") and property and casualty ("property") insurance coverages.
The health plan was renewed at a decrease of approximately 3.7% versus the prior
year. The property plan coverage was renewed at an increase of approximately
10.5%, a majority of which can be attributed to the impact of last vyear's
hurricanes on Florida insurance companies.

Management anticipates that funds from operations and the construction
line will be sufficient to meet the Company's obligations in fiscal 2006,
including projected capital expenditures for improvements and renovations of
approximately $3,000,000.
INFLATION

It is not possible for the Company to predict with any accuracy the

effect of inflation wupon the results of its operations in future vyears. In
general, the Company is able to increase menu prices to counteract the
21

majority of the inflationary effects of increasing costs with the exception of
the substantial increase in insurance costs that the Company has had to absorb
over the last several years.

ITEM 7. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Attached.

ITEM 8. CHANGES 1IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

NONE
ITEM 8A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(a) EXPLANATION OF DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES. Robert
M. Lombardi, the Company's principal executive officer and Martin W. Fletcher,
the Company's principal financial and principal accounting officer, after
evaluating the effectiveness of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) as of a date within
90 days of the filing date of this Annual Report (the "Evaluation Date") have
each concluded that as of the Evaluation Date, the Company's disclosure controls
and procedures were adequate and effective to ensure that material information
relating to the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries would be made known to
him by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which
this Annual Report was being prepared.

(b) CHANGES IN INTERNAL CONTROLS. There were no significant
changes in the Company's internal controls or in other factors that could
significantly affect the Company's disclosure controls and procedures subsequent
to the Evaluation Date, nor any significant deficiencies or material weaknesses
in such disclosure controls and procedures requiring corrective action. As a
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result, no corrective actions were taken.
ITEM 8B OTHER INFORMATION

NONE

CHEFS INTERNATIONAL, INC.
PART TITII

ITEM 9. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, PROMOTERS AND CONTROL PERSONS;

COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 16 (a) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT

The following table sets forth certain information with respect to each

of the current directors of the Company:

Date First
Name Age Position Elected a Director

Chairman of

Robert M. Lombardi (a) 53 the Board, President, May 1999
Principal Executive
Officer
Nicholas B. Boxter (b) 57 Director December 1999
Kenneth Cubelli (b) 51 Director December 1999
Raymond L. Dademo (b) 47 Director December 1999
22
Anthony M. Lombardi (a) 49 Director July 1999
Joseph S. Lombardi (a) 54 Director July 1999
Michael F. Lombardi (a) 56 Director July 1999
Stephen F. Lombardi (a) 49 Director July 1999

(a) The five Lombardis who serve as directors are brothers.

(b) Messrs. Boxter, Cubelli and Dademo were the members of the Special Committee
appointed by the Board of Directors to review and make a recommendation to the
Board regarding the fairness of the proposed Merger transaction to the Public
Stockholders. If the Merger is consummated, they will resign from the Board.

The other executive officer of the Company (in addition to Robert M.
Lombardi) is:

Name Age Office

Martin W. Fletcher 52 Vice President,
Principal Financial and
Principal Accounting Officer

The Company does not have an Executive Committee or a separate Audit
Committee. The entire Board of Directors serves as the Company's Audit
Committee. The term of office of each director and executive officer expires
when his successor is elected and qualified. Executive officers are elected by
and hold office at the discretion of the Board of Directors.

CODE OF ETHICS
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The Board of Directors adopted a code of ethics applicable to the
Company's principal executive, principal financial and principal accounting
officer during the second quarter of fiscal 2005. The Company will provide a
copy of the code of ethics without charge, to any person requesting same in
writing addressed to the Company's chief financial officer at the Company's
executive offices at 62 Broadway, Point Pleasant Beach, NJ 08742.

DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The following is a brief account of the business experience of each
director and executive officer of the Company during the past five years.

DIRECTORS

Robert M. Lombardi, M.D. is, and for more than the past five years has
been principally engaged as a physician and orthopedic surgeon with the
Edison-Metuchen Orthopedic Group, a medical practice group located in Edison,
New Jersey, where he also serves as a senior officer. He is also an officer of
Moore's Inn, Inc. and a partner in Moore's Realty. He was elected president and
principal executive officer of the Company in June 2004 to succeed Anthony C.
Papalia.

Nicholas B. Boxter, C.P.A. 1is, and for more than the past five years
has been principally engaged in the practice of accountancy with his own firm in
Whitehouse, New Jersey.
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Kenneth Cubelli, M.D. 1is, and for more than the past five years has
been principally engaged as a physician and orthopedic surgeon with the Morris
County Orthopedic Group in Denville, New Jersey.

Raymond L. Dademo, Esqg. is, and for more than the past five years has
been principally engaged as a practicing attorney with his own law firm in
Brick, New Jersey.

Anthony M. Lombardi, D.D.S. 1is, and for more than the past five years
has been principally engaged in the practice of dentistry in Edison, New Jersey.
He is also an officer of Moore's Inn, Inc.

Joseph S. Lombardi, M.D. is, and for more than the past five years has
been principally engaged as a physician and orthopedic surgeon with the
Edison-Metuchen Orthopedic Group, where he is a senior officer. He is also an
officer of Moore's Inn, Inc. and a partner in Moore's Realty.

Michael F. Lombardi, Esqg. is, and for more than the past five years has
been principally engaged as a practicing attorney and a senior officer of
Lombardi & Lombardi, P.A., an Edison, New Jersey law firm. He is also an officer
of Moore's Inn, Inc. and a partner in Moore's Realty.

Stephen F. Lombardi, Esg. is, and for more than the past five years has
been principally engaged as a practicing attorney and a senior officer of
Lombardi & Lombardi, P.A., an Edison, New Jersey law firm. He is also an officer
of Moore's Inn, Inc. and a partner in Moore's Realty.

EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The other executive officer of the Company in addition to Robert M.
Lombardi is Martin W. Fletcher who has been continuously employed by the Company
for the preceding five years in various capacities. He has served as general
manager of the Company's Toms River, New Jersey Lobster Shanty, as area
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supervisor for its Florida west coast restaurants, as assistant controller,
since September 1987 as controller and since March 1988 as secretary and a
director of the Company. He resigned as a director of the Company in July 1999.
Mr. Fletcher was elected principal financial and principal accounting officer of
the Company in June 2004 to succeed Anthony C. Papalia. At the same time, he was
elected a vice president of the Company. He is currently devoting all of his
working time to the business of the Company.

COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 16 (A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT

Based solely upon a review of Forms 3, 4 and 5, the Company believes
that with respect to fiscal 2005, all Section 16(a) filing requirements
applicable to its officers, directors and beneficial owners of more than 10% of
its equity securities were timely complied with.

ITEM 10. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The following table sets forth information concerning the compensation
paid or accrued by the Company during the three fiscal years ended January 30,
2005 to its Principal Executive Officer as well as to any other executive
officer of the Company or a subsidiary who earned at least $100,000 during
fiscal 2005. During the three-year period ended January 30, 2005, the Company
did not grant any restricted stock awards or have any long-term incentive plan
in effect. The Company maintains a non-qualified Supplemental Employee Benefit
Program for its
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officers, supervisors, restaurant managers and assistant managers paying annual
contributions ranging from $1,000 to approximately $3,000 per individual. The
Program provides life insurance death benefits, disability income benefits and
retirement income benefits. A former officer and director, James Fletcher, the
father of Martin W. Fletcher, 1is not covered under this Program but the Company
agreed that if he remained 1in its employ until age 65 and left such employ at
any time thereafter, the Company would pay him $20,000 annually for the ten year
period following such termination of employment or until his death, if he dies
prior thereto. To date, the Company has made annual payments over an eight year
period pursuant to this agreement.

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

Annual Compensation

Name and Fiscal Other Annual
Principal Position Year Salary Bonus (d) Compensation (e)
Robert M. Lombardi 2005 (a) -0- -0- -0-

President and
Principal Executive

Officer

Anthony C. Papalia 2005 (b) $77,833 -0- $1,044
President and 2004 $179,162 $7,500 $2,088
Principal Executive 2003 $174,630 $4,500 $2,088
Officer

Martin W. Fletcher 2005 (c) $124,603 $17,000 $2,902
Principal Financial 2004 $103,915 $9,100 $2,902
Officer and Controller 2003 $101,255 $5,367 $2,902

(a) Dr. Lombardi was elected president and principal executive officer of the
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Company to succeed Anthony C. Papalia in June 2004.

(b) Mr. Papalia resigned as president, ©principal executive and principal
accounting officer of the Company effective in June 2004.

(c) Mr. Fletcher was elected principal financial and principal accounting
officer of the Company in June 2004 to succeed Mr. Papalia.

(d) In May 2000, the Company's Board of Directors adopted an executive incentive
bonus plan providing for an annual cash bonus to be paid to Company employees
performing executive type functions with respect to each fiscal year (commencing
with fiscal 2001) in which the Company achieved certain specified levels of
earnings before deducting interest, income taxes, depreciation and amortization.
Extraordinary items are excluded for purposes of the computation. The bonus pool
for fiscal 2005 aggregated $71,500 and was distributed to five employees
including Martin Fletcher who received $17,000.

(e) Represents contributions under the Supplemental Employee Benefit Program.
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENTS

At the annual meeting of the Company's stockholders held on December
19, 1995, stockholders ratified employment contracts between the Company and
Anthony Papalia as principal executive officer and principal financial officer
and between the Company and Martin Fletcher as controller. Each contract expired
at the conclusion of the Company's 1999 fiscal vyear and was automatically
renewed on a year by year basis for up to five consecutive additional one-year
terms unless either party gave at least six months' ©prior notice that he or it
did not desire
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such renewal. As no such notice was given during fiscal 1999, each contract was
extended for a first renewal vyear. Mr. Papalia's annual salary under the
contract was $150,000 and Mr. Fletcher's annual salary under the contract was
$87,000 but each individual's salary was made subject to automatic increase in
each Renewal Year based on 1increases 1in the Consumer Price 1Index. If the
employment of either individual was terminated other than for cause, he would
become entitled to a Severance Payment equal to the amount of his compensation
over the balance of the contract term. Each individual was also entitled to
terminate his employment and receive a Severance Payment equal to six months'
salary in the event of a "change of control" of the Company. Amendments to each
employment contract executed in June 1999 and August 1999 extended the first
renewal year through March 31, 2000, renewed each contract for a second renewal
year through March 31, 2001 and recast each renewal year so as to commence on
April 1 of each year and to expire on March 31 of the following year. Notice of
intention not to renew must now be given no later than September 30 of the year
preceding the year in which the renewal term commences. In November 2001, each
employment contract was further amended to renew the term through March 31,
2005. The amendments retained the automatic salary increase provision based on
increases in the Consumer Price Index and provided for an automatic one year
renewal in the absence of prior notice not to renew. As a result, during fiscal
2005, Mr. Papalia's annual salary was increased to $186,702 and Mr. Fletcher's
annual salary was increased to $133,208.

See Item 1 - "Developments Since the Beginning of the Last Fiscal Year"
herein as to the release of Mr. Papalia from his obligations wunder his
employment contract effective at the close of business on June 28, 2004 and his
resignation, effective at such date, as president, principal executive officer
and principal financial and principal accounting officer of the Company.
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STOCK OPTIONS

At January 30, 2005 and at January 30, 2005 there were no outstanding
employee or non-employee stock options exercisable to purchase shares of Chefs'
common stock.
DIRECTORS' COMPENSATION

During fiscal 2005, no compensation was paid to any of the Company's
directors for serving in such capacity. Furthermore, no method of compensation

has been established for the directors.

ITEM 11. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN
BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth information as of April 15,

2005 with respect to their ownership of Chefs' common stock by (i) each person
known Dby the Company to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of Chefs'
outstanding common stock, (ii) each director of the Company, (1iii) each

executive officer of the Company, and (iv) all directors and executive officers
as a group.
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Name and Address of Shares of Common Stock Percentage
Beneficial Owner Beneficially Owned Ownership
Directors* —————————————————— ——————
Robert M. Lombardi 1,335,826(1) 34%
(also president)
Nicholas B. Boxter - -
Kenneth Cubelli 100,000 3%
Raymond L. Dademo 2,000 -
Anthony M. Lombardi 111,001 (1) 3%
Joseph S. Lombardi 599,633(1) 15%
Michael F. Lombardi 332,047 8%
Stephen F. Lombardi 191,669(1) (2) (3) 5%
All executive officers and
directors as a group
(eight persons) 2,511,508 (1) (2) (3) 64%
Other 5% Stockholders
Maschler Group (4) 196,938 (4) 5%
* The address of each director and executive officer is c/o the Company, 62

Broadway, Point Pleasant Beach, New Jersey 08742.

(1) Robert M. Lombardi, Anthony M. Lombardi, Joseph S. Lombardi, Michael F.
Lombardi and Stephen F. Lombardi, Lombardi & Lombardi, P.A. and the Lombardi &
Lombardi, P.A. Defined Benefit Pension Plan previously filed a report on
Schedule 13D and amendments thereto indicating that they were acting separately
and not as a group but subsequently filed amendments to the Schedule 13D

indicating that they are acting as a "group." The five individual Lombardis are
brothers and for purposes of this report, they and the above entities are deemed
the "Lombardi Group." See Item 1 - "Developments Since the Beginning of the Last

Fiscal Year" as to the proposal by the Lombardi Group to acquire all of the
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outstanding shares of Chefs common stock not owned by the Lombardi Group and the
two Maschler Brothers in connection with a Merger transaction designed to take
the Company "private". The proposed Merger Agreement and the Plan of Merger were
duly adopted by the Company's stockholders at a special meeting held on April
18, 2005.

(2) Includes 111,668 shares owned by the Lombardi & Lombardi, P.A. Defined
Benefit Pension Plan. Michael F. Lombardi and Stephen F. Lombardi each have
voting and dispositive power with respect to all 111,668 of such shares.

(3) Includes 49,000 shares owned by Lombardi & Lombardi, P.A. Michael F.
Lombardi and Stephen Lombardi each have voting and dispositive power with
respect to all 49,000 of such shares.

(4) The Maschler Group includes two Dbrothers, Lee Maschler and Matthew H.
Maschler who each own 98,469 shares of Common Stock. See Item 1 as to the Merger
Agreement and the Plan of Merger designed to take the Company "private."

ITEM 12. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

See Item 1 - "Restaurant Operations - Mexican Theme Restaurant -
Moore's Tavern and Restaurant" as to rentals paid in fiscal 2005 by the Company
with respect to its two Freehold, New Jersey restaurants and the "Building Pad C
Parking Lot" to Moore's Realty (whose partners are members of the Lombardi Group
and other members of the Lombardi family).
ITEM 13. EXHIBITS AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

(a) EXHIBITS

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger between the Company and Lombardi
Restaurant Group, Inc. dated as of December 22, 2004. (A)
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3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (B)

3.2 By-Laws of the Company, as amended(C)

4.1 Specimen Common Stock Certificate (D)

10.2 Employment Agreement dated as of December 19, 1995 between Chefs and
Anthony Papalia (E)

10.3 Employment Agreement dated as of December 19, 1995 between Chefs and
Martin Fletcher (F)

10.4 Loan Agreement dated October 30, 1998 between the Company and First
Union National Bank ("First Union")and the Company's $880, 000
Promissory Note issued pursuant thereto for funding utilized by the
Company to purchase the Vero Beach, Florida Lobster Shanty

Restaurant (B)

10.4.1 Loan Agreement dated September 7, 2001 between the Company and First
Union containing the Company's affirmative and negative covenants (H) .

10.5 Lease Agreement executed in January 2000 for Moore's Inn facility,
between Moore's Realty Associates ("Moore's Realty") as Landlord and

the Company as Tenant (C)

10.5.1 Lease Agreement dated October 1, 2001 for Building B in Freehold, New
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Jersey between Moore's Realty as Landlord and the Company as Tenant
(opened as Escondido's Mexican Restaurant) (H) .

Lease Agreement dated September 1, 2002 for the Building C pad site
between Moore's Realty and the Company. (J)

Liquor License Sale/Purchase Agreement executed in January 2000 between
Moore's Inn, Inc. as Transferor and the Company as Transferee (C)

Sale/Purchase Agreement for Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment executed
in January 2000 between Moore's Inn, Inc. as Seller and the Company as
Purchaser (C)

Chefs International Executive Incentive Bonus Plan (H)

Asset Purchase Agreement dated January 25, 2002 for personal property,
furnishings, fixtures and equipment, liquor license, tradename and
goodwill of Mr. Manatee's restaurant in Vero Beach, Florida between
Causeway Foods, Inc. and Mr. Manatee's Franchise Corporation as Sellers

and the Company as Buyer. (H)

Commercial Lease Option dated April 1, 2002 between Stephen Craig Long
as Lessor and the Company as Lessee for the Mr. Manatee's facility. (I)

Subsidiaries

Certifications of Principal Executive and Principal Financial Officers

Certifications of Principal Executive and Principal Financial Officers
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Certifications of Principal Executive and Principal Financial Officers

of the Company pursuant to 18 United States Code Section 1350.

Certifications of Principal Executive and Principal Financial Officers
of the Company pursuant to 18 United States Code Section 1350.

(A)

Incorporated by reference to Appendix to the Company's Rule 13e-3

Transaction Statement on Schedule 13E-3 filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on December 23, 2004.

(B)

Incorporated by reference to exhibit filed with the Company's annual report

on Form 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended January 31, 1999.

(C)

Incorporated by reference to exhibit filed with the Company's annual report

on Form 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended January 30, 2000.

(D)

Incorporated by reference to exhibit filed with the Company's Registration

Statement on Form SB-2 (File No. 33-66930).

(E)

Incorporated by reference to exhibit filed with the Company's annual report

on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended January 28, 1996.

(F)

Incorporated by reference to exhibit filed with Amendment No. 1 to the

Company's current report on Form 8-K/A for April 1, 1999.

(G)

Incorporated by reference to exhibit filed with the Company's current report
on Form 8-K for October 6, 2000.
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(H) Incorporated by reference to exhibit filed with the Company's annual report
on Form 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended January 27, 2002

(I) Incorporated by reference to exhibit filed with the Company's annual report
on Form 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended January 26, 2003.

(J) Incorporated by reference to exhibit filed with the Company's annual report
on Form 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended January 25, 2004.

(b) REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

During the last quarter of its fiscal year ended January 30, 2005, the
Company filed one current report on Form 8-K. This report, for December 22,
2004, in Item 1.01 reported the execution on that date of the Agreement and Plan
of Merger by the Company with the Lombardi Restaurant Group, Inc. On April 18,
2005, the Company filed a current report on Form 8-K for that date reporting in
Item 8.01 that at the Special Meeting of Stockholders held on April 18, 2005,
the Agreement and Plan of Merger Dbetween the Company and Lombardi Restaurant
Group, Inc. had been approved and adopted by the affirmative vote of a majority
of the shares of the Company's common stock outstanding on the Record Date for
the Meeting.

ITEM 14 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The firm of McGladrey & Pullen, LLP ("McGladrey Pullen"), certified
public accountants, audited the accounts of Chefs and its subsidiaries
(collectively the "Company") for the fiscal years ended January 30, 2005 and

January 25, 2004.
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(1) AUDIT FEES. McGladrey Pullen billed the Company approximately
$71,500 for professional services rendered for the audit of the Company's annual
consolidated financial statements for its 2005 fiscal year and to review the
financial statements included in its quarterly reports on Form 10-QSB filed with
respect to quarterly periods in such fiscal year as compared to approximately
$70,000 for such services with respect to the Company's 2004 fiscal year.

(2) AUDIT-RELATED FEES. None.

(3) TAX FEES. McGladrey Pullen billed the Company approximately $12,000
for tax services for fiscal 2005 and approximately $10,000 for tax services for
fiscal 2004. The fees were billed for tax return preparation.

(4) ALL OTHER FEES. Approximately $10,000 in fees were billed to the
Company by McGladrey Pullen with respect to fiscal 2005 and no fees were billed
by said firm to the Company with respect to fiscal 2004 for miscellaneous
professional services.

(5) PRE-APPROVAL AND PROCEDURES. The engagement of McGladrey Pullen to
render the above services was approved by the Company's Board of Directors.
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SIGNATURES

In accordance with Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, the registrant has caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
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(Registrant)

CHEFS INTERNATIONAL, INC.

By s/ Robert M. Lombardi

Robert M. Lombardi, President,
Principal Executive Officer

Date: April 29, 2005

By s/ Martin W. Fletcher

Martin W. Fletcher, Vice President
Principal Financial and
Accounting Officer

Date: April 29, 2005

In accordance with the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has
been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in

the capacities and on the dates indicated.

By s/ Robert M. Lombardi

Robert M. Lombardi, Chairman
Of the Board of Directors

Date: April 29, 2005

By s/ Anthony Lombardi

Anthony Lombardi, Director

Date: April 29, 2005

By s/ Joseph S. Lombardi

Joseph S. Lombardi, Director

Date: April 29, 2005

CHEFS INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

31

By s/ Michael F. Lombardi

Michael F. Lombardi,
Director

Date: April 29, 2005

By s/ Stephen F. Lombardi

Stephen F. Lombardi,
Director

Date: April 29, 2005

31



Edgar Filing: CHEFS INTERNATIONAL INC - Form 10KSB

Financial Report

January 30, 2005

CONTENTS

Financial Statements:

Consolidated Balance Sheet F-2-3
Consolidated Statements of Operations F-4
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements F-7-20

McGladrey & Pullen
Certified Public Accountants

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors
Chefs International, Inc.
Point Pleasant, New Jersey

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Chefs
International, Inc. and subsidiaries as of January 30, 2005, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity and cash flows for
each of the two fiscal vyears in the period ended January 30, 2005. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our
responsibility 1is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on
our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company

Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a

reasonable basis for our opinion.
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In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Chefs International,

Inc. and subsidiaries as of January 30, 2005, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the two fiscal years in the period
ended January 30, 2005, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles.

/s/ McGLADREY & PULLEN, LLP

New York, New York
April 1, 2005, except for Note 2, as to which the date is April 20, 2005

McGladrey & Pullen, LLP is an independent member firm of
RSM International, an affiliation of independent accounting
and consulting firms.

CHEFS INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
JANUARY 30, 2005

ASSETS

Current Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents S 2,242,184
Available-for-sale securities 2,494,277
Miscellaneous receivables 62,007
Receivable - related party 36,489
Inventories 1,154,026
Deferred income taxes 244,000
Prepaid expenses and other 107,554
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 6,340,537
Property and Equipment, at cost 20,353,272
Less: Accumulated depreciation 8,377,549
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET 11,975,723

Other Assets:
Asset held for sale 50,181
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Intangibles

Equity in life insurance policies
Deferred income taxes

Deferred going private costs
Other

TOTAL OTHER ASSETS

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

F-2

CHEFS INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (CONTINUED)
JANUARY 30, 2005

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Current Liabilities:
Line of credit
Current maturities of notes and mortgages payable
Accounts payable
Accrued payroll
Other accrued expenses
Income taxes payable
Gift certificates

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES

Notes and Mortgages Payable

Other Liabilities:
Accrued retirement benefits
Interest rate swap agreements

OTHER LIABILITIES

Stockholders' Equity:
Capital stock - common $.01 par value,
Authorized 15,000,000 shares,
Issued and outstanding 3,925,384
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive income

TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

867,087
536,596
293,000
336,539

72,959

$ 500, 000
270,770
954,350
211,325
496,536

61,524
490,363

86,494

39,254
31,488,838
(16,031,543)

23,616

15,520,165
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See notes to consolidated financial statements.

F-3

CHEFS INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
YEARS ENDED JANUARY 30, 2005 AND JANUARY 25, 2004

2005 2004
Sales $ 21,563,608 $ 22,283
Cost of Goods Sold 6,885,461 7,034
GROSS PROFIT 14,678,147 15,248
Operating Expenses:
Payroll and related expenses 6,579,630 6,924
Other operating expenses 4,679,150 4,956
Depreciation and amortization 1,050,592 1,116
General and administrative expenses 1,781,472 1,911
Loss on restaurant closings - 410
14,090,844 15,318
INCOME (LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS BEFORE OTHER OPERATING INCOME 587,303 (70
Other Operating Income:
Gain on restaurant closings 415,473
Gain related to settlement for hurricane damages 202,399
617,872
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) 1,205,175 (70
Other Income (Expense):
Investment income 325,930 211
Interest expense (149, 635) (159
176,295 52
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INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAXES

Provision (Credit) for Income Taxes

NET INCOME

Basic and Diluted Income Per Common Share

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

F-4

CHEFS INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
YEARS ENDED JANUARY 30, 2005 AND JANUARY 25, 2004

Capital
Number Stock
of Shares Par Value

BALANCE AT JANUARY 26, 2003 3,969,540 39,695

Comprehensive Income:
Net income -

Net unrealized gains on
available-for-sale
securities arising
during period, net of
$109,000 of taxes -

Reclassification
adjustment for gains
realized on available-
for-sale securities,
net of $14,000 of taxes -

Change in fair value of
derivatives accounted

for as hedges, net of
$8,000 of taxes -

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME -

Stock repurchase program (40,000)

(400)

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

$ 31,549,492

(58,800)

1,381,470 (18

598,000 (57

$ 783,470 $ 38
$ 0.20 S

Accumu

Oth

Accumulated Compreh

Deficit Income

$(16,854,010) S (37

38,997

-— 42

—_— (5

-— 2
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Retirement of treasury stock

Fractional shares conversion
and other

BALANCE AT JANUARY 25, 2004

Comprehensive Income:
Net income

Net unrealized gains on
available-for-sale
securities arising
during period, net of
$27,000 of taxes

Reclassification
adjustment for gains
realized on available-
for-sale securities,
net of $66,000 of taxes

Change in fair value of
derivatives accounted
for as hedges, net of
$24,000 of taxes

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Fractional shares conversion

BALANCE AT JANUARY 30, 2005

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

CHEFS INTERNATIONAL, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

YEARS ENDED JANUARY 30, 2005 AND JANUARY 25,

Cash Flows From Operating Activities:

Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net

cash provided by operating activities:

(3,550) (36) (3,849) —
126 2 1,988 -
3,926,116 39,261 31,488,831 (16,815,013) 2
- - - 783,470
— — — — 2
JE— JE— JE— JE— (6
- - - - 3
(732) (7) 7 _—
3,925,384 39,254 $ 31,488,838 $(16,031,543) 8 2
F-5
2004
2005
s 783,47
1,050, 59

Depreciation and amortization
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Deferred income taxes 502, 00
Gain on sale of investments (129, 82
(Gain) loss on restaurant closings (415,47
Other disposal losses 2,48
Hurricane damage settlements 78, 62

Changes in assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in:

Miscellaneous receivables 59,10

Inventories 86,02

Prepaid expenses 90,42
Increase (decrease) in:

Accounts payable 131,76

Accrued expenses and other liabilities (210,04

Income taxes payable 61,52
NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES 2,090, 66

Cash Flows From Investing Activities:

Purchase of property and equipment (2,165,109
Proceeds sale of restaurant 842,109
Sale and redemption of investments 1,291, 34
Purchase of investments (1,295,40
Equity in life insurance policies 104,42

NET CASH (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES (1,222, 63

Cash Flows From Financing Activities:
Proceeds from line of credit Iv>

140,000

Natixis Bleichroeder LLC

140,000
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The underwriting agreement provides that the underwriters must
buy all of the common units if they buy any of them. However,
the underwriters are not required to take or pay for the common
units covered by the underwriters over-allotment option
described below.

Our common units and the common units to be sold upon the
exercise of the underwriters option to purchase additional
common units are offered subject to a number of conditions,
including:

@ receipt and acceptance of our common units by the underwriters, and
@ the underwriters right to reject orders in whole or in part.

In connection with this offering, certain of the underwriters or securities dealers may distribute prospectuses
electronically.

OVER-ALLOTMENT OPTION

We have granted the underwriters an option to buy up to an aggregate of 600,000 additional common units. The
underwriters may exercise this option solely for the purpose of covering over-allotments, if any, made in connection
with this offering. The underwriters have 30 days from the date of this prospectus supplement to exercise this option.
If the underwriters exercise this option, they will each purchase additional common units approximately in proportion
to the amounts specified in the table above.

COMMISSIONS AND DISCOUNTS

Common units sold by the underwriters to the public will initially be offered at the public offering price set forth on
the cover of this prospectus supplement. Any common units sold by the underwriters to securities dealers may be sold
at a discount of up to $0.54 per unit from the public offering price. Sales of common units made outside the US may
be made by affiliates of the underwriters. If all the common units are not sold at the public offering price, the
representative may change the offering price and the other selling terms. Upon execution of the underwriting
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agreement, the underwriters will be obligated to purchase the common units at the prices and upon the terms stated
therein.

S-13
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Underwriting

The following table shows the per unit and total underwriting discounts and commissions we will pay to the
underwriters assuming both no exercise and full exercise of the underwriters option to purchase additional common
units.

No exercise Full exercise
Per unit $ 0.90 $ 0.90
Total $ 3,600,000 $ 4,140,000

We estimate that the total expenses of this offering payable by us, not including the underwriting discounts and
commissions, will be approximately $300,000.

NO SALES OF SIMILAR SECURITIES

We, certain of our affiliates, including our general partner and our general partner s executive officers and directors
have entered into lock-up agreements with the underwriters. Under these agreements, subject to certain exceptions, we
and each of these persons may not, without the prior written consent of UBS Securities LLC, offer for sale, sell,
pledge or otherwise dispose of, directly or indirectly, or hedge our common units or securities convertible into or
exchangeable or exercisable for our common units. These restrictions will be in effect for a period of 60 days after the
date of this prospectus supplement. At any time and without public notice, UBS Securities LLC, mays, in its sole
discretion, release some or all of the securities from these lock-up agreements.

INDEMNIFICATION

We have agreed to indemnify the underwriters against certain liabilities, including certain liabilities under the
Securities Act. If we are unable to provide this indemnification, we have agreed to contribute to payments the
underwriters may be required to make in respect of those liabilities.

NYSE LISTING

The common units are listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol WES.

PRICE STABILIZATION, SHORT POSITIONS

In connection with this offering, the underwriters may engage in activities that stabilize, maintain or otherwise affect
the price of our common units, including:

@ stabilizing transactions;
@ short sales;

@ purchases to cover positions created by short sales;
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@ imposition of penalty bids; and
@ syndicate covering transactions.

Stabilizing transactions consist of bids or purchases made for the purpose of preventing or retarding a decline in the
market price of our common units while this offering is in progress. These transactions may also include making short
sales of our common units, which involve the sale by the underwriters of a greater number of common units than they

are required to purchase in this offering, and purchasing common units on the open market to cover positions created

by short sales. Short sales may be covered short sales, which are short positions in an amount not greater than the
underwriters over-allotment option referred to above, or may be naked short sales, which are short positions in excess
of that amount.

The underwriters may close out any covered short position by either exercising their over-allotment option, in whole
or in part, or by purchasing common units in the open market. In making this

S-14
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Underwriting

determination, the underwriters will consider, among other things, the price of common units available for purchase in
the open market as compared to the price at which they may purchase common units through the over-allotment
option.

Naked short sales are short sales made in excess of the over-allotment option. The underwriters must close out any
naked short position by purchasing common units in the open market. A naked short position is more likely to be
created if the underwriters are concerned that there may be downward pressure on the price of the common units in the
open market that could adversely affect investors who purchased in this offering.

The underwriters also may impose a penalty bid. This occurs when a particular underwriter repays to the underwriters
a portion of the underwriting discount received by it because the representative has repurchased common units sold by
or for the account of that underwriter in stabilizing or short covering transactions.

As a result of these activities, the price of our common units may be higher than the price that otherwise might exist in
the open market. If these activities are commenced, they may be discontinued by the underwriters at any time. The
underwriters may carry out these transactions on the NYSE, in the over-the-counter market or otherwise.

AFFILIATIONS

Certain of the underwriters and their affiliates have in the past provided, are currently providing and may in the future
from time to time provide, investment banking and other financing, trading, banking, research, transfer agent and
trustee services to us and our subsidiaries, including as parties to our revolving credit facility, for which they have in
the past received, and may currently or in the future receive, customary fees and expenses.

FINRA CONDUCT RULES

Because the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (FINRA) views the common units offered hereby as interests in
a direct participation program, the offering is being made in compliance with Rule 2310 of the FINRA Conduct Rules.
Investor suitability with respect to the common units should be judged similarly to the suitability with respect to other
securities that are listed for trading on a national securities exchange.

S-15
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Legal matters

The validity of the common units offered hereby will be passed upon for us by Vinson & Elkins L.L.P., Houston,
Texas, and the legal matters described under Material tax considerations will be passed upon for us by Bingham
McCutchen LLP. Certain legal matters in connection with the common units offered hereby will be passed upon for
the underwriters by Latham & Watkins LLP, Houston, Texas.

Experts

The consolidated financial statements of Western Gas Partners, LP and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2009 and
2008 and for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2009, and management s assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2009, and the consolidated balance sheet
of Western Gas Holdings, LL.C and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2009, have been incorporated by reference
herein in reliance upon the reports of KPMG LLP, independent registered public accounting firm, incorporated by
reference herein, and upon the authority of said firm as experts in accounting and auditing.

S-16

Table of Contents 45



Edgar Filing: CHEFS INTERNATIONAL INC - Form 10KSB

Table of Contents

Forward-looking statements

We have made in this prospectus supplement and in the reports and documents incorporated by reference herein, and

may from time to time otherwise make in other public filings, press releases and statements by our management,

forward-looking statements concerning our operations, economic performance and financial condition. These

forward-looking statements include statements preceded by, followed by or that otherwise include the words believes,
expects, anticipates, intends, estimates, projects, target, goal, plans, objective, should or similare

variations on such expressions.

Although we and our general partner believe that the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are
reasonable, neither we nor our general partner can give any assurance that such expectations will prove to have been
correct. These forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties. Important factors that could cause actual
results to differ materially from our expectations include, but are not limited to, the following:

@ our assumptions about the energy market;

@ future gathering, treating and processing volumes and pipeline throughput, including Anadarko s production, which
is gathered or transported through our assets;

operating results;
competitive conditions;

technology;

Q Q9 Q9 9

the availability of capital resources for capital expenditures and other contractual obligations, and our ability to
access those resources through the debt or equity capital markets;

the supply of, demand for, and the price of oil, natural gas, NGLs and other products or services;
the weather;
inflation;

the availability of goods and services;

Q Q9 Qv Qv Q9

general economic conditions, either internationally or nationally or in the jurisdictions in which we are doing
business;

@ legislative or regulatory changes, including changes in environmental regulation, environmental risks, regulations
by the FERC and liability under federal and state environmental laws and regulations;

@ changes in the financial health of our sponsor, Anadarko;
(@ changes in Anadarko s capital program, strategy or desired areas of focus;

(@ our commitments to capital projects;
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@ the ability to utilize our existing credit arrangements, including up to $100.0 million under Anadarko s $1.3 billion
credit facility, the $140.0 million available as of March 31, 2010 under our $350.0 million revolving credit facility
and our $30.0 million working capital facility;

@ our ability to maintain and/or obtain rights to operate our assets on land owned by third parties;

@ our ability to acquire assets on acceptable terms;

@ non-payment or non-performance of Anadarko or other significant customers, including under our gathering,

processing and transportation agreements and our $260.0 million note receivable from Anadarko; and

S-17
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@ other factors discussed in Item 1A Risk Factors andin Item 7 Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates included in our Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on March 11, 2010, as revised by our
Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with the SEC on May 4, 2010, our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed
with the SEC on May 6, 2010 and in our other public filings and press releases.

The risk factors and other factors incorporated by reference in this prospectus could cause our actual results to differ
materially from those contained in any forward-looking statement. Except as required by law, we undertake no
obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future
events or otherwise.
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Information incorporated by reference

We file annual, quarterly and other reports with and furnish other information to the SEC. You may read and copy any
document we file with or furnish to the SEC at the SEC s public reference room at 100 F Street, NE, Room 1580,
Washington, D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-732-0330 for further information on their public reference
room. Our SEC filings are also available at the SEC s website at http://www.sec.gov.

The SEC allows us to incorporate by reference the information we have filed with the SEC. This means that we can
disclose important information to you without actually including the specific information in this prospectus
supplement by referring you to those documents. The information incorporated by reference is an important part of
this prospectus supplement. Information that we file later with the SEC will automatically update and may replace
information in this prospectus supplement and information previously filed with the SEC. We incorporate by
reference the documents listed below and any future filings made with the SEC under Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 or
15(d) of the Exchange Act (excluding any information furnished under Items 2.02 or 7.01 on any current report on
Form 8-K), including all such documents we may file with the SEC after the date of this prospectus supplement and
until the termination of this offering:

@ Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009 (filed on March 11, 2010);
@ Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2010 (filed on May 6, 2010);

@ Current Reports on Form 8-K and 8-K/A filed on January 7, 2010, January 15, 2010, February 3, 2010, March 26,
2010 and May 4, 2010; and

@ The description of our common units contained in our registration statement on Form 8-A (File No. 1-34046) filed
on May 6, 2008.

You may obtain any of the documents incorporated by reference in this prospectus supplement from the SEC through
the SEC s website at the address provided above. You may request a copy of any document incorporated by reference
into this prospectus supplement (including exhibits to those documents specifically incorporated by reference in this
document), at no cost, by visiting our website at http://www.westerngas.com, or by writing or calling us at the
following address:

Investor Relations
Western Gas Partners, LP
1201 Lake Robbins Drive

The Woodlands, Texas 77380-1046
Telephone: (832) 636-6000

The information contained on our website is not part of this prospectus supplement.
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PROSPECTUS

$1,250,000,000
WESTERN GAS PARTNERS, LP

Common Units
Debt Securities

WESTERN GAS PARTNERS FINANCE CORPORATION
Debt Securities

We may offer, from time to time, in one or more series:

common units representing limited partner interests in Western Gas Partners, LP; and

debt securities, which may be either senior debt securities or subordinated debt securities.
Western Gas Partners Finance Corporation may act as co-issuer of the debt securities and other direct or indirect
subsidiaries of Western Gas Partners, LP, other than minor subsidiaries as such item is interpreted in securities
regulations governing financial reporting for guarantors, may guarantee the debt securities.
The securities we may offer:

will have a maximum aggregate offering price of $1,250,000,000;

will be offered at prices and on terms to be set forth in one or more accompanying prospectus supplements; and

may be offered separately or together, or in separate series.

Our common units are traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the trading symbol WES. We will provide
information in the prospectus supplement for the trading market, if any, for any debt securities we may offer.

This prospectus provides you with a general description of the securities we may offer. Each time we offer to sell
securities we will provide a prospectus supplement that will contain specific information about those securities and the
terms of that offering, including the specific manner in which we will offer the securities. The prospectus supplement
also may add, update or change information contained in this prospectus. This prospectus may be used to offer and

sell securities only if accompanied by a prospectus supplement. We urge you to read carefully this prospectus and any
prospectus supplement carefully before you invest. You should also read the documents we refer to in the Where You
Can Find More Information section of this prospectus for information on us and our financial statements.
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Investing in our securities involves risks. You should carefully consider each of the factors described under
Risk Factors beginning on page 2 of this prospectus before you make an investment in our securities.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or
disapproved of these securities or passed upon the adequacy or accuracy of this prospectus. Any representation

to the contrary is a criminal offense.

The date of this prospectus is August 17, 2009
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You should rely only on the information contained in this prospectus. We have not authorized anyone to provide you
with different information. If anyone provides you with different or inconsistent information, you should not rely on

it. You should not assume that the information incorporated by reference or provided in this prospectus or any
prospectus supplement is accurate as of any date other than the date on the front of each document. Our business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects may have changed since that date.
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ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS

This prospectus is part of a registration statement on Form S-3 that we have filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, or SEC, using a shelf registration process. Under this shelf registration process, we may sell, in one or
more offerings, up to $1,250,000,000 in total aggregate offering price of securities described in this prospectus. This
prospectus provides you with a general description of us and the securities offered under this prospectus.

Each time we sell securities under this prospectus, we will provide a prospectus supplement that will contain specific
information about the terms of that offering and the securities being offered. The prospectus supplement also may add
to, update, or change information in this prospectus. If there is any inconsistency between the information in this
prospectus and any prospectus supplement, you should rely on the information in the prospectus supplement. We urge
you to read carefully this prospectus, any prospectus supplement and the additional information described below
under the heading Where You Can Find More Information.

Unless the context clearly indicates otherwise, references in this prospectus to Western Gas Partners, we, our, us,
WES or like terms refer to Western Gas Partners, LP and its subsidiaries. Anadarko refers to Anadarko Petroleum
Corporation and its consolidated subsidiaries, excluding Western Gas Partners.

ABOUT WESTERN GAS PARTNERS, LP

We are a growth-oriented Delaware limited partnership organized by Anadarko to own, operate, acquire and develop
midstream energy assets. With midstream assets in East and West Texas, the Rocky Mountains and the
Mid-Continent, we are engaged in the business of gathering, compressing, treating, processing and transporting
natural gas for Anadarko and other producers and customers. Approximately 74% of our services are provided under
long-term contracts with fee-based rates and approximately 22% of our services are provided under
percent-of-proceeds contracts, based on operating income for the year ended December 31, 2008. We entered into
fixed-price swap agreements with Anadarko effective January 1, 2009 to manage the future commodity price risk
otherwise inherent in our percent-of-proceeds contracts. A substantial part of our business is conducted with Anadarko
and governed by contracts which were entered into during 2008 with initial terms of 10 years. Certain contracts with
third parties extend for primary terms of up to 20 years.

We believe that one of our principal strengths is our relationship with Anadarko. During each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2008, over 80% of our total natural gas gathering, processing and transportation volumes
were comprised of natural gas production owned or controlled by Anadarko. In addition, Anadarko has dedicated to us
all of the natural gas production it owns or controls from (i) wells that are currently connected to our gathering
systems, and (ii) additional wells that are drilled within one mile of wells connected to our gathering systems, both as
the systems currently exist and as they are expanded to connect additional wells in the future. As a result, this
dedication will continue to expand as additional wells are connected to our gathering systems.

Western Gas Partners Finance Corporation, our wholly-owned subsidiary, has no material assets or any liabilities
other than as a co-issuer of our debt securities. Its activities will be limited to co-issuing our debt securities and

engaging in other activities incidental thereto.

Our principal executive offices are located at 1201 Lake Robbins Drive, The Woodlands, Texas 77380-1046, and our
telephone number is (832) 636-6000. Our website is located at http://www.westerngas.com.

1
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RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider the factors contained in our annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2008 under the headings Risk Factors and Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations  Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates. You should also consider similar
information contained in any annual report on Form 10-K or other document filed by us with the SEC after the date of
this prospectus before deciding to invest in our securities. If applicable, we will include in any prospectus supplement
a description of those significant factors that could make the offering described therein speculative or risky.

2
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS
We have made in this prospectus and in the reports and documents incorporated by reference herein, and may from
time to time otherwise make in other public filings, press releases and statements by our management,
forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, concerning our operations, economic performance
and financial condition. These forward-looking statements include statements preceded by, followed by or that
otherwise include the words believes, expects, anticipates, intends, estimates, projects, target, goal,
should or similar expressions or variations on such expressions.
For these statements, we claim the protection of the safe harbor for forward-looking statements contained in the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in such
forward-looking statements are reasonable, we can give no assurance that such expectations will prove to have been
correct. These forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties. Important factors that could cause actual
results to differ materially from our expectations include, but are not limited to, the following risks and uncertainties:
our assumptions about the energy market;

future treating and processing volumes and pipeline throughput, including Anadarko s production, which is
gathered or transported through our assets;

operating results;

competitive conditions;

technology;

the availability of capital resources, capital expenditures and other contractual obligations;

the supply of and demand for, and the price of oil, natural gas, natural gas liquids and other products or
services;

the weather;
inflation;
the availability of goods and services;

general economic conditions, either internationally or nationally or in the jurisdictions in which we are doing
business;

legislative or regulatory changes, including changes in environmental regulation, environmental risks,
regulations by Federal Energy Regulatory Commission and liability under federal and state environmental laws

and regulations;

our ability to access the capital markets;
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our ability to access credit, including under Anadarko s $1.3 billion credit facility;
our ability to maintain and/or obtain rights to operate our assets on land owned by third parties;
our ability to acquire assets on acceptable terms;

non-payment or non-performance of Anadarko or other significant customers, including under our gathering,
processing and transportation agreements and our $260.0 million note receivable from Anadarko; and

other factors discussed in Item 1A Risk Factors andin Item 7 Management s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates included in our
annual report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 13, 2009 and in our other public filings and press
releases.

The risk factors and other factors incorporated by reference in this prospectus could cause our actual results to differ
materially from those contained in any forward-looking statement. We undertake no obligation to publicly update or
revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

3
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USE OF PROCEEDS

Unless we specify otherwise in any prospectus supplement, we will use the net proceeds we receive from the sale of
securities covered by this prospectus for general partnership purposes, which may include, among other things:

paying or refinancing all or a portion of our indebtedness outstanding at the time (some or all of which may be
owed to Anadarko);

funding working capital;

funding either maintenance- or expansion-related capital expenditures; and

funding future acquisitions either from Anadarko or third parties.
The actual application of proceeds from the sale of any particular offering of securities using this prospectus will be
described in the applicable prospectus supplement relating to such offering. The precise amount and timing of the

application of these proceeds will depend upon our funding requirements and the availability and cost of other funds.

4
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RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

Three
Months
Ended
March 31, Year Ended December 31,
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges(1) 9.9x 43.7x 7.5x 2.7x 2.2x

2004

2.8x

(1) For purposes of determining the ratios of earnings to fixed charges, earnings are defined as net income before
income taxes plus fixed charges, distributions from equity investees and amortization of capitalized interest, less
equity income. Fixed charges consist of interest expense, including the interest component of leases and rentals.

5
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DESCRIPTION OF DEBT SECURITIES AND GUARANTEES
General

Western Gas Partners may issue debt securities in one or more series, as to any of which Western Gas Partners

Finance Corporation (  Western Gas Partners Finance ) may be a co-issuer on one or more series of such debt securities.
Western Gas Partners Finance was incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware on June 9, 2009, is wholly

owned by Western Gas Partners, and has no material assets or any liabilities other than as a co-issuer of debt

securities. When used in this section, referencesto we, us and our refer to Western Gas Partners and, if Western Gas
Partners Finance is co-issuer as to any series of debt securities, Western Gas Partners Finance.

We may issue senior or subordinated debt securities. Neither the senior debt securities nor the subordinated debt
securities will be secured by any of our property or assets. Thus, by owning a debt security, you are one of our
unsecured creditors.

The senior debt securities will constitute part of our senior debt, will be issued under our senior debt indenture
described below and will rank equally with all of our other unsecured and unsubordinated debt.

The subordinated debt securities will constitute part of our subordinated debt, will be issued under our subordinated
debt indenture described below and will be subordinate in right of payment to all of our senior debt, as defined in the
indenture with respect to subordinated debt securities. The prospectus supplement for any series of subordinated debt
securities or the information incorporated in this prospectus by reference will indicate the approximate amount of
senior debt outstanding as of the end of our most recent fiscal quarter. Neither indenture limits our ability to incur
additional senior debt or other indebtedness.

When we refer to debt securities in this prospectus, we mean both the senior debt securities and the subordinated debt
securities.

The debt securities may have the benefit of guarantees (each, a guarantee ), by one or more existing or future
subsidiaries of Western Gas Partners (each, a guarantor ), which may include Anadarko Gathering Company LLC,
MIGC LLC, Pinnacle Gas Treating LLC, Western Gas Operating, LLC, Western Gas Wyoming, L.L..C. and WGR
Operating, LP. If a guarantor issues guarantees, the guarantees will be the unsecured and, if guaranteeing senior debt
securities, unsubordinated or, if guaranteeing subordinated debt securities, subordinated obligations of the respective
guarantors. Unless otherwise expressly stated or the context otherwise requires, as used in this section, the term

guaranteed debt securities means debt securities that, as described in the prospectus supplement relating thereto, are
guaranteed by one or more guarantors pursuant to the applicable indenture.

The debt indentures and their associated documents, including your debt security, contain the full legal text of the
matters described in this section and your prospectus supplement. We have filed forms of the indentures with the SEC
as exhibits to our registration statement, of which this prospectus is a part. See Where You Can Find More
Information below for information on how to obtain copies of them.

This section and your prospectus supplement summarize material terms of the indentures and your debt security. They
do not, however, describe every aspect of the indentures and your debt security. For example, in this section and your
prospectus supplement, we use terms that have been given special meaning in the indentures, but we describe the
meaning for only the more important of those terms. Your prospectus supplement will have a more detailed
description of the specific terms of your debt security and any applicable guarantees.
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Indentures

The senior debt securities and subordinated debt securities are each governed by a document each called an indenture.

Each indenture is a contract between us and a trustee to be determined later. The indentures are substantially identical,

except for certain provisions including those relating to subordination, which are included only in the indenture related
to subordinated debt securities.
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The trustee under each indenture has two main roles:

First, the trustee can enforce your rights against us if we default. There are some limitations on the extent to
which the trustee acts on your behalf, which we describe later under Default, Remedies and Waiver of Default.

Second, the trustee performs administrative duties for us, such as sending you interest payments and notices.

When we refer to the indenture or the trustee with respect to any debt securities, we mean the indenture under which
those debt securities are issued and the trustee under that indenture.

Series of Debt Securities

We may issue many distinct debt securities or series of debt securities under either indenture as we wish. This section
summarizes terms of the securities that apply generally to all debt securities and series of debt securities. The
provisions of each indenture allow us not only to issue debt securities with terms different from those of debt
securities previously issued under that indenture, but also to reopen a previously issued series of debt securities and
issue additional debt securities of that series. We will describe most of the financial and other specific terms of your
series, whether it be a series of the senior debt securities or subordinated debt securities, in the prospectus supplement
for that series. Those terms may vary from the terms described here.

As you read this section, please remember that the specific terms of your debt security as described in your prospectus
supplement will supplement and, if applicable, may modify or replace the general terms described in this section. If
there are any differences between your prospectus supplement and this prospectus, your prospectus supplement will
control. Thus, the statements we make in this section may not apply to your debt security.

When we refer to debt securities ora series of debt securities, we mean, respectively, debt securities or a series of debt
securities issued under the applicable indenture. When we refer to your prospectus supplement, we mean the

prospectus supplement describing the specific terms of the debt security you purchase. The terms used in your

prospectus supplement will have the meanings described in this prospectus, unless otherwise specified.

Amounts of Issuances

Neither indenture limits the aggregate amount of debt securities that we may issue or the number of series or the
aggregate amount of any particular series. We may issue debt securities and other securities at any time without your
consent and without notifying you.

The indentures and the debt securities do not limit our ability to incur other indebtedness or to issue other securities.
Also, unless otherwise specified below or in your prospectus supplement, we are not subject to financial or similar
restrictions by the terms of the debt securities.

Principal Amount, Stated Maturity and Maturity

Unless otherwise stated, the principal amount of a debt security means the principal amount payable at its stated
maturity, unless that amount is not determinable, in which case the principal amount of a debt security is its face
amount.

The term stated maturity with respect to any debt security means the day on which the principal amount of your debt

security is scheduled to become due. The principal may become due sooner, by reason of redemption or acceleration
after a default or otherwise in accordance with the terms of the debt security. The day on which the principal actually
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We also use the terms stated maturity and maturity to refer to the days when other payments become due. For
example, we may refer to a regular interest payment date when an installment of interest is scheduled
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to become due as the stated maturity of that installment. When we refer to the stated maturity or the maturity of a debt
security without specifying a particular payment, we mean the stated maturity or maturity, as the case may be, of the
principal.

Specific Terms of Debt Securities

Your prospectus supplement will describe the specific terms of your debt security, which will include some or all of
the following:

whether Western Gas Partners Finance will be a co-issuer of your debt security;

the title of the series of your debt security and whether it is a senior debt security or a subordinated debt
security;

any limit on the total principal amount of the debt securities of the same series;
the stated maturity;
the currency or currencies for principal and interest, if not United States, or U.S., dollars;

the price at which we originally issue your debt security, expressed as a percentage of the principal amount,
and the original issue date;

whether your debt security is a fixed rate debt security, a floating rate debt security or an indexed debt security;

if your debt security is a fixed rate debt security, the yearly rate at which your debt security will bear interest, if
any, and the interest payment dates;

if your debt security is a floating rate debt security, the interest rate basis; any applicable index currency or
index maturity, spread or spread multiplier or initial base rate, maximum rate or minimum rate; the interest
reset, determination, calculation and payment dates; the day count convention used to calculate interest
payments for any period; the business day convention; and the calculation agent;

if your debt security is an indexed debt security, the principal amount, if any, we will pay you at maturity,
interest payment dates, the amount of interest, if any, we will pay you on an interest payment date or the
formula we will use to calculate these amounts, if any, and the terms on which your debt security will be
exchangeable for or payable in cash, securities or other property;

if your debt security may be converted into or exercised or exchanged for common or preferred units or other
securities of Western Gas Partners or debt or equity securities of one or more third parties, the terms on which
conversion, exercise or exchange may occur, including whether conversion, exercise or exchange is mandatory,
at the option of the holder or at our option, the period during which conversion, exercise or exchange may
occur, the initial conversion, exercise or exchange price or rate and the circumstances or manner in which the
amount of common or preferred units or other securities issuable upon conversion, exercise or exchange may
be adjusted;

if your debt security is also an original issue discount debt security, the yield to maturity;

Table of Contents 64



Edgar Filing: CHEFS INTERNATIONAL INC - Form 10KSB

if applicable, the circumstances under which your debt security may be redeemed at our option or repaid at the
holder s option before the stated maturity, including any redemption commencement date, repayment date(s),
redemption price(s) and redemption period(s);

the authorized denominations, if other than $1,000 and integral multiples of $1,000;
the depositary for your debt security, if other than The Depository Trust Company ( DTC ), and any

circumstances under which the holder may request securities in non-global form, if we choose not to issue your
debt security in book-entry form only;
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if applicable, the circumstances under which we will pay additional amounts on any debt securities held by a
person who is not a U.S. person for tax purposes and under which we can redeem the debt securities if we have
to pay additional amounts;

whether your debt security will be guaranteed by any guarantors and, if so, the identity of the guarantors and,
to the extent the terms thereof differ from those described in this prospectus, a description of the terms of the
guarantees;

the names and duties of any co-trustees, depositaries, authenticating agents, paying agents, transfer agents or
registrars for your debt security, as applicable; and

any other terms of your debt security and any guarantees of your debt security, which could be different from
those described in this prospectus.

Governing Law
The indentures and the debt securities (and any guarantees thereof) will be governed by New York law.
Form of Debt Securities

We will issue each debt security only in registered form, without coupons, unless we specify otherwise in the
applicable prospectus supplement. In addition, we will issue each debt security in global i.e., book-entry form only,
unless we specify otherwise in the applicable prospectus supplement. Debt securities in book-entry form will be
represented by a global security registered in the name of a depositary, which will be the holder of all the debt
securities represented by the global security. Those who own beneficial interests in a global debt security will do so
through participants in the depositary s securities clearance system, and the rights of these indirect owners will be
governed solely by the applicable procedures of the depositary and its participants. References to holders in this
section mean those who own debt securities registered in their own names, on the books that we or the trustee

maintain for this purpose, and not those who own beneficial interests in debt securities registered in street name or in
debt securities issued in book-entry form through one or more depositaries.

Unless otherwise indicated in the prospectus supplement, the following is a summary of the depositary arrangements
applicable to debt securities issued in global form and for which DTC acts as depositary.

Each global debt security will be deposited with, or on behalf of, DTC, as depositary, or its nominee, and registered in
the name of a nominee of DTC. Except under the limited circumstances described below, global debt securities are not
exchangeable for definitive certificated debt securities.

Ownership of beneficial interests in a global debt security is limited to institutions that have accounts with DTC or its
nominee, or persons that may hold interests through those participants. In addition, ownership of beneficial interests
by participants in a global debt security will be evidenced only by, and the transfer of that ownership interest will be
effected only through, records maintained by DTC or its nominee for a global debt security. Ownership of beneficial
interests in a global debt security by persons that hold those interests through participants will be evidenced only by,
and the transfer of that ownership interest within that participant will be effected only through, records maintained by
that participant. DTC has no knowledge of the actual beneficial owners of the debt securities. Beneficial owners will
not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase, but beneficial owners are expected to receive written
confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the
participants through which the beneficial owners entered the transaction. The laws of some jurisdictions require that
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certain purchasers of securities take physical delivery of securities they purchase in definitive form. These laws may
impair your ability to transfer beneficial interests in a global debt security.

We will make payment of principal of, and interest on, debt securities represented by a global debt security registered
in the name of or held by DTC or its nominee to DTC or its nominee, as the case may be, as the registered owner and
holder of the global debt security representing those debt securities. DTC has advised us that upon receipt of any
payment of principal of, or interest on, a global debt security, DTC

9
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immediately will credit accounts of participants on its book-entry registration and transfer system with payments in
amounts proportionate to their respective interests in the principal amount of that global debt security, as shown in the
records of DTC. Payments by participants to owners of beneficial interests in a global debt security held through those
participants will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is now the case with securities held
for the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in street name, and will be the sole responsibility of those
participants, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements that may be in effect from time to time.

Neither we, any trustee nor any of our respective agents will be responsible for any aspect of the records of DTC, any
nominee or any participant relating to, or payments made on account of, beneficial interests in a permanent global
debt security or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any of the records of DTC, any nominee or any participant
relating to such beneficial interests.

A global debt security is exchangeable for definitive debt securities registered in the name of, and a transfer of a
global debt security may be registered to, any person other than DTC or its nominee, only if:

DTC notifies us that it is unwilling or unable to continue as depositary for that global security or has ceased to
be a registered clearing agency and we do not appoint another institution to act as depositary within 90 days; or

we notify the trustee that we wish to terminate that global security.

Any global debt security that is exchangeable pursuant to the preceding sentence will be exchangeable in whole for
definitive debt securities in registered form, of like tenor and of an equal aggregate principal amount as the global debt
security, in denominations specified in the applicable prospectus supplement, if other than $1,000 and multiples of
$1,000. The definitive debt securities will be registered by the registrar in the name or names instructed by DTC. We
expect that these instructions may be based upon directions received by DTC from its participants with respect to
ownership of beneficial interests in the global debt security.

Except as provided above, owners of the beneficial interests in a global debt security will not be entitled to receive
physical delivery of debt securities in definitive form and will not be considered the holders of debt securities for any
purpose under the indentures. No global debt security shall be exchangeable except for another global debt security of
like denomination and tenor to be registered in the name of DTC or its nominee. Accordingly, each person owning a
beneficial interest in a global debt security must rely on the procedures of DTC and, if that person is not a participant,
on the procedures of the participant through which that person owns its interest, to exercise any rights of a holder
under the global debt security or the indentures.

We understand that, under existing industry practices, in the event that we request any action of holders, or an owner
of a beneficial interest in a global debt security desires to give or take any action that a holder is entitled to give or
take under the debt securities or the indentures, DTC would authorize the participants holding the relevant beneficial
interests to give or take that action. Additionally, those participants would authorize beneficial owners owning through
those participants to give or take that action or would otherwise act upon the instructions of beneficial owners owning
through them.
DTC has advised us as follows:

DTC is:

a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking Law,

a banking organization within the meaning of the New York Banking Law,
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a member of the Federal Reserve System,
a clearing corporation within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and
a clearing agency registered under Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

DTC was created to hold securities of its participants and to facilitate the clearance and settlement of securities
transactions among its participants in those securities through electronic book-entry changes
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in accounts of the participants, thereby eliminating the need for physical movement of securities certificates.

DTC s participants include securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and
certain other organizations.

DTC is owned by a number of its participants and by the New York Stock Exchange, Inc., the NYSE Amex
LLC and the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc.

Access to DTC s book-entry system is also available to others, such as banks, brokers, dealers and trust
companies, that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a participant, either directly or
indirectly.

The rules applicable to DTC and its participants are on file with the SEC.

Investors may hold interests in the debt securities outside the U.S. through the Euroclear System ( Euroclear ) or
Clearstream Banking ( Clearstream ) if they are participants in those systems, or indirectly through organizations which
are participants in those systems. Euroclear and Clearstream will hold interests on behalf of their participants through
customers securities accounts in Euroclear s and Clearstream s names on the books of their respective depositaries
which in turn will hold such positions in customers securities accounts in the names of the nominees of the

depositaries on the books of DTC. At the present time JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association will act as

U.S. depositary for Euroclear, and Citibank, National Association will act as U.S. depositary for Clearstream. All
securities in Euroclear or Clearstream are held on a fungible basis without attribution of specific certificates to specific
securities clearance accounts.

The following is based on information furnished by Euroclear or Clearstream, as the case may be.
Euroclear has advised us that:

It was created in 1968 to hold securities for participants of Euroclear and to clear and settle transactions
between Euroclear participants through simultaneous electronic book-entry delivery against payment, thereby
eliminating the need for physical movement of certificates and any risk from lack of simultaneous transfers of
securities and cash;

Euroclear includes various other services, including securities lending and borrowing and interfaces with
domestic markets in several countries;

Euroclear is operated by Euroclear Bank S.A./ N.V., as operator of the Euroclear System (the Euroclear
Operator ), under contract with Euroclear Clearance Systems S.C., a Belgian cooperative corporation (the
Cooperative );

The Euroclear Operator conducts all operations, and all Euroclear securities clearance accounts and Euroclear
cash accounts are accounts with the Euroclear Operator, not the Cooperative. The Cooperative establishes
policy for Euroclear on behalf of Euroclear participants. Euroclear participants include banks (including central
banks), securities brokers and dealers and other professional financial intermediaries and may include
underwriters of debt securities offered by this prospectus;

Indirect access to Euroclear is also available to other firms that clear through or maintain a custodial
relationship with a Euroclear participant, either directly or indirectly;
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Securities clearance accounts and cash accounts with the Euroclear Operator are governed by the Terms and
Conditions Governing Use of Euroclear and the related Operating Procedures of the Euroclear System, and
applicable Belgian law (collectively, the Terms and Conditions );

The Terms and Conditions govern transfers of securities and cash within Euroclear, withdrawals of securities
and cash from Euroclear, and receipts of payments with respect to securities in Euroclear. The Euroclear
Operator acts under the Terms and Conditions only on behalf of Euroclear participants, and has no record of or
relationship with persons holding through Euroclear participants; and
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Distributions with respect to debt securities held beneficially through Euroclear will be credited to the cash
accounts of Euroclear participants in accordance with the Terms and Conditions, to the extent received by the
U.S. depositary for Euroclear.

Clearstream has advised us that:

It is incorporated under the laws of Luxembourg as a professional depositary and holds securities for its
participating organizations and facilitates the clearance and settlement of securities transactions between
Clearstream participants through electronic book-entry changes in accounts of Clearstream participants,
thereby eliminating the need for physical movement of certificates;

Clearstream provides to Clearstream participants, among other things, services for safekeeping, administration,
clearance and settlement of internationally traded securities and securities lending and borrowing. Clearstream
interfaces with domestic markets in several countries;

As a professional depositary, Clearstream is subject to regulation by the Luxembourg Monetary Institute;

Clearstream participants are recognized financial institutions around the world, including underwriters,
securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations and certain other organizations
and may include underwriters of debt securities offered by this prospectus;

Indirect access to Clearstream is also available to others, such as banks, brokers, dealers and trust companies
that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Clearstream participant either directly or
indirectly; and

Distributions with respect to the debt securities held beneficially through Clearstream will be credited to cash
accounts of Clearstream participants in accordance with its rules and procedures, to the extent received by the
U.S. depositary for Clearstream.

We have provided the descriptions herein of the operations and procedures of Euroclear and Clearstream solely as a
matter of convenience. These operations and procedures are solely within the control of Euroclear and Clearstream
and are subject to change by them from time to time. Neither we, any underwriters nor the trustee takes any
responsibility for these operations or procedures, and you are urged to contact Euroclear or Clearstream or their
respective participants directly to discuss these matters.

Secondary market trading between Euroclear participants and Clearstream participants will occur in the ordinary way
in accordance with the applicable rules and operating procedures of Euroclear and Clearstream and will be settled
using the procedures applicable to conventional eurobonds in immediately available funds.

Cross-market transfers between persons holding directly or indirectly through DTC, on the one hand, and directly or
indirectly through Euroclear or Clearstream participants, on the other, will be effected within DTC in accordance with
DTC s rules on behalf of the relevant European international clearing system by its U.S. depositary; however, such
cross-market transactions will require delivery of instructions to the relevant European international clearing system
by the counterparty in such system in accordance with its rules and procedures and within its established deadlines
(European time). The relevant European international clearing system will, if the transaction meets its settlement
requirements, deliver instructions to its U.S. depositary to take action to effect final settlement on its behalf by
delivering or receiving debt securities in DTC, and making or receiving payment in accordance with normal
procedures. Euroclear participants and Clearstream participants may not deliver instructions directly to their
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respective U.S. depositaries.

Because of time-zone differences, credits of securities received in Euroclear or Clearstream as a result of a transaction
with a DTC participant will be made during subsequent securities settlement processing and dated the business day
following the DTC settlement date. Such credits, or any transactions in the securities settled during such processing,
will be reported to the relevant Euroclear participants or Clearstream participants on that business day. Cash received
in Euroclear or Clearstream as a result of sales of securities by or through a Euroclear participant or a Clearstream
participant to a DTC participant will be received with
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value on the business day of settlement in DTC but will be available in the relevant Euroclear or Clearstream cash
account only as of the business day following settlement in DTC.

Although DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream have agreed to the foregoing procedures in order to facilitate transfers of
debt securities among participants of DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream, they are under no obligation to perform or
continue to perform such procedures and they may discontinue the procedures at any time.

Redemption or Repayment

If there are any provisions regarding redemption or repayment applicable to your debt security, we will describe them
in your prospectus supplement.

We or our affiliates may purchase debt securities from investors who are willing to sell from time to time, either in the
open market at prevailing prices or in private transactions at negotiated prices. Debt securities that we or they
purchase may, at our discretion, be held, resold or canceled.

Mergers and Similar Transactions

Each of Western Gas Partners and Western Gas Partners Finance (each, an issuer ) is generally permitted under the
indenture for the relevant series to merge or consolidate with another corporation or other entity. Each issuer is also
permitted under the indenture for the relevant series to sell all or substantially all of its assets to another corporation or
other entity. With regard to any series of debt securities, however, no issuer may take any of these actions unless all
the following conditions, among other things, are met:

If the successor entity in the transaction is not such issuer, (a) the successor entity must be organized as a
corporation, limited liability company, partnership or trust, and must expressly assume such issuer s obligations
under the debt securities of that series and the indenture with respect to that series and (b) if Western Gas
Partners Finance initially was a co-issuer as to that series, immediately after such transaction, an issuer as to
that series must be a corporation. The successor entity may be organized under the laws of the U.S., any state
thereof or the District of Columbia.

Immediately after the transaction, no default under the debt securities of that series has occurred and is
continuing. For this purpose, default under the debt securities of that series means an event of default with
respect to that series or any event that would be an event of default with respect to that series if the
requirements for giving us default notice and for our default having to continue for a specific period of time
were disregarded. We describe these matters below under Default, Remedies and Waiver of Default.

If the conditions described above are satisfied with respect to the debt securities of any series, an issuer will not need
to obtain the approval of the holders of those debt securities in order to merge or consolidate or to sell its assets. Also,
these conditions will apply only if an issuer wishes to merge or consolidate with another entity or sell all or
substantially all of our assets to another entity. We will not need to satisfy these conditions if we enter into other types
of transactions, including any transaction in which we acquire the stock or assets of another entity, any transaction that
involves a change of control of us but in which we do not merge or consolidate and any transaction in which we sell
less than substantially all our assets.

The successor entity will be substituted for an issuer of the debt securities of any series and under the indenture with

the same effect as if it had been an original party to the indenture, and, except in the case of a lease, such issuer will be
relieved from any further obligations and covenants under the indenture.
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Holders of subordinated debt securities should recognize that contractual provisions in the subordinated debt indenture
may prohibit us from making payments on those securities. Subordinated debt securities are subordinate and junior in
right of payment, to the extent and in the manner stated in the subordinated debt
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indenture, to all of our senior debt, as defined in the subordinated debt indenture, including all debt securities we have
issued and will issue under the senior debt indenture.

The subordinated debt indenture defines senior debt as:

our indebtedness under or in respect of our credit agreement, whether for principal, interest (including interest
accruing after the filing of a petition initiating any proceeding pursuant to any bankruptcy law, whether or not
the claim for such interest is allowed as a claim in such proceeding), reimbursement obligations, fees,
commissions, expenses, indemnities or other amounts; and

any other indebtedness permitted under the terms of that indenture, unless the instrument under which such
indebtedness is incurred expressly provides that it is on a parity with or subordinated in right of payment to the
subordinated debt securities.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, senior debt will not include: (i) equity interests; (ii) any liability for taxes; (iii) any
indebtedness to any of our subsidiaries or affiliates; (iv) any trade payables; or (v) any indebtedness incurred in
violation of the subordinated debt indenture.

We may modify the subordination provisions, including the definition of senior debt, with respect to one or more
series of subordinated debt securities. Such modifications will be set forth in the applicable prospectus supplement.

The subordinated debt indenture provides that, unless all principal of and any premium or interest on the senior debt
has been paid in full, no payment or other distribution may be made in respect of any subordinated debt securities in
the following circumstances:

in the event of any insolvency or bankruptcy proceedings, or any receivership, liquidation, reorganization,
assignment for creditors or other similar proceedings or events involving us or our assets;

(a) in the event and during the continuation of any default in the payment of principal, premium or interest on
any senior debt beyond any applicable grace period or (b) in the event that any event of default with respect to
any senior debt has occurred and is continuing, permitting the holders of that senior debt (or a trustee) to
accelerate the maturity of that senior debt, whether or not the maturity is in fact accelerated (unless, in the case
of (a) or (b), the payment default or event of default has been cured or waived or ceased to exist and any related
acceleration has been rescinded) or (c) in the event that any judicial proceeding is pending with respect to a
payment default or event of default described in (a) or (b); or

in the event that any subordinated debt securities have been declared due and payable before their stated
maturity.

If the trustee under the subordinated debt indenture or any holders of the subordinated debt securities receive any
payment or distribution that is prohibited under the subordination provisions, then the trustee or the holders will have
to repay that money to the holders of the senior debt.

Even if the subordination provisions prevent us from making any payment when due on the subordinated debt
securities of any series, we will be in default on our obligations under that series if we do not make the payment when
due. This means that the trustee under the subordinated debt indenture and the holders of that series can take action
against us, but they will not receive any money until the claims of the holders of senior debt have been fully satisfied.
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The subordinated debt indenture allows the holders of senior debt to obtain a court order requiring us and any holder
of subordinated debt securities to comply with the subordination provisions.

Defeasance, Covenant Defeasance and Satisfaction and Discharge
When we use the term defeasance, we mean discharge from some or all of our obligations under the indenture. If we
deposit with the trustee funds or government securities, or if so provided in your prospectus supplement, obligations

other than government securities, sufficient to make payments on any series of debt
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securities on the dates those payments are due and payable and other specified conditions are satisfied, then, at our
option, either of the following will occur:

we will be discharged from our obligations with respect to the debt securities of such series and all obligations
of any guarantors of such debt securities will also be discharged with respect to the guarantees of such debt
securities ( legal defeasance ); or

we will be discharged from any covenants we make in the applicable indenture for the benefit of such series
and the related events of default will no longer apply to us ( covenant defeasance ).

If we defease any series of debt securities, the holders of such securities will not be entitled to the benefits of the
indenture, except for our obligations to register the transfer or exchange of such securities, replace stolen, lost or
mutilated securities or maintain paying agencies and hold moneys for payment in trust. In case of covenant
defeasance, our obligation to pay principal, premium and interest on the applicable series of debt securities will also
survive.

We will be required to deliver to the trustee an opinion of counsel that the deposit and related defeasance would not
cause the holders of the applicable series of debt securities to recognize gain or loss for federal income tax purposes. If
we elect legal defeasance, that opinion of counsel must be based upon a ruling from the U.S. Internal Revenue
Service, or IRS, or a change in law to that effect.

Upon the effectiveness of defeasance with respect to any series of guaranteed debt securities, each guarantor of the
debt securities of such series shall be automatically and unconditionally released and discharged from all of its
obligations under its guarantee of the debt securities of such series and all of its other obligations under the applicable
indenture in respect of the debt securities of that series, without any action by us, any guarantor or the trustee and
without the consent of the holders of any debt securities.

In addition, we may satisfy and discharge all our obligations under the indenture with respect to debt securities of any
series, other than our obligation to register the transfer of and exchange debt securities of that series, provided that we
either:

deliver all outstanding debt securities of that series to the trustee for cancellation; or

all such debt securities not so delivered for cancellation have either become due and payable or will become
due and payable at their stated maturity within one year or are to be called for redemption within one year, and
in the case of this bullet point, we have deposited with the trustee in trust an amount of cash sufficient to pay
the entire indebtedness of such debt securities, including interest to the stated maturity or applicable
redemption date.

No Personal Liability

No past, present or future director, officer, employee, incorporator, member, manager, partner (whether general or
limited), unitholder or stockholder of us, the general partner of Western Gas Partners or any guarantor, as such, will
have any liability for any obligations of us or any guarantor, respectively, under the debt securities or the indentures or
for any claim based on, in respect of, or by reason of, such obligations or their creation. Each holder of debt securities
by accepting a debt security waives and releases all such liability. The waiver and release are part of the consideration
for issuance of the debt securities and any guarantees. The waiver may not be effective to waive liabilities under the
federal securities laws.
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You will have special rights if an event of default with respect to your series of debt securities occurs and is
continuing, as described in this subsection.
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Unless your prospectus supplement says otherwise, when we refer to an event of default with respect to any series of
debt securities, we mean any of the following:

we do not pay the principal or any premium on any debt security of that series on the due date;
we do not pay interest on any debt security of that series within 30 days after the due date;

we do not deposit a sinking fund payment with regard to any debt security of that series within 60 days after
the due date, but only if the payment is required under provisions described in the applicable prospectus
supplement;

we remain in breach of our covenants regarding mergers or sales of substantially all of our assets or any other
covenant we make in the indenture for the benefit of the relevant series, for 90 days after we receive a notice of
default stating that we are in breach and requiring us to remedy the breach. The notice must be sent by the
trustee or the holders of at least 25% in principal amount of the relevant series of debt securities;

we file for bankruptcy or other events of bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization relating to us occur;

if the debt securities of that series are guaranteed debt securities, the guarantee of the debt securities of that
series by any guarantor shall for any reason cease to be, or shall for any reason be asserted in writing by such
guarantor or us, not to be, in full force and effect and enforceable in accordance with its terms, except to the
extent contemplated or permitted by the indenture or the debt securities of that series; or

if the applicable prospectus supplement states that any additional event of default applies to the series, that
event of default occurs.

We may change, eliminate, or add to the events of default with respect to any particular series or any particular debt
security or debt securities within a series, as indicated in the applicable prospectus supplement.

Remedies if an Event of Default Occurs

If you are the holder of a subordinated debt security, all the remedies available upon the occurrence of an event of
default under the subordinated debt indenture will be subject to the restrictions on the subordinated debt securities
described above under ~ Subordination Provisions.

Except as otherwise specified in the applicable prospectus supplement, if an event of default has occurred with respect
to any series of debt securities and has not been cured or waived, the trustee or the holders of not less than 25% in
principal amount of all debt securities of that series then outstanding may declare the entire principal amount of the
debt securities of that series to be due immediately. Except as otherwise specified in the applicable prospectus
supplement, if the event of default occurs because of events in bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization relating to us,
the entire principal amount of the debt securities of that series will be automatically accelerated, without any action by
the trustee or any holder.

Each of the situations described above is called an acceleration of the stated maturity of the affected series of debt
securities. Except as otherwise specified in the applicable prospectus supplement, if the stated maturity of any series is
accelerated and a judgment for payment has not yet been obtained, the holders of a majority in principal amount of the
debt securities of that series may cancel the acceleration for the entire series.
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If an event of default occurs, the trustee will have special duties. In that situation, the trustee will be obligated to use
those of its rights and powers under the relevant indenture, and to use the same degree of care and skill in doing so,
that a prudent person would use in that situation in conducting his or her own affairs.

Except as described in the prior paragraph, the trustee is not required to take any action under the relevant indenture at
the request of any holders unless the holders offer the trustee reasonable protection from expenses and liability. This is

called an indemnity. If the trustee is provided with an indemnity reasonably
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satisfactory to it, the holders of a majority in principal amount of all debt securities of the relevant series may direct
the time, method and place of conducting any lawsuit or other formal legal action seeking any remedy available to the
trustee with respect to that series. These majority holders may also direct the trustee in performing any other action

under the relevant indenture with respect to the debt securities of that series.

Before you bypass the trustee and bring your own lawsuit or other formal legal action or take other steps to enforce
your rights or protect your interests relating to any debt security, all of the following must occur:

the holder of your debt security must give the trustee written notice that an event of default has occurred with
respect to the debt securities of your series, and the event of default must not have been cured or waived;

the holders of not less than 25% in principal amount of all debt securities of your series must make a written
request that the trustee take action because of the default, and they or other holders must offer to the trustee
indemnity reasonably satisfactory to the trustee against the cost and other liabilities of taking that action;

the trustee must not have taken action for 60 days after the above steps have been taken; and

during those 60 days, the holders of a majority in principal amount of the debt securities of your series must not
have given the trustee directions that are inconsistent with the written request of the holders of not less than

25% in principal amount of the debt securities of your series.

You are entitled at any time, however, to bring a lawsuit for the payment of money due on your debt security on or
after its stated maturity (or, if your debt security is redeemable, on or after its redemption date).

Book-entry and other indirect owners should consult their banks or brokers for information on how to give notice or
direction to or make a request of the trustee and how to declare or cancel an acceleration of the maturity.

Waiver of Default

The holders of not less than a majority in principal amount of the debt securities of any series may waive a default for
all debt securities of that series. If this happens, the default will be treated as if it has not occurred. No one can waive a
payment default on your debt security, however, without the approval of the particular holder of that debt security.
Annual Information about Defaults to the Trustee

We will furnish each trustee every year a written statement of two of our officers certifying that to their knowledge we
are in compliance with the applicable indenture and the debt securities issued under it, or else specifying any default
under the applicable indenture.

Modifications and Waivers

There are four types of changes we can make to either indenture and the debt securities or series of debt securities or
any guarantees thereof issued under that indenture.

Changes Requiring Each Holder s Approval

First, there are changes that cannot be made without the approval of each holder of a debt security affected by the
change under the applicable debt indenture, including, among others:
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reducing the principal amount, the amount payable on acceleration of the maturity after a default, the interest
rate or the redemption price for a debt security;

permitting redemption of a debt security if not previously permitted;

17

Table of Contents

83



Edgar Filing: CHEFS INTERNATIONAL INC - Form 10KSB

Table of Contents

impairing any right a holder may have to require purchase of its debt security;

impairing any right that a holder of convertible debt security may have to convert the debt security;
changing the currency of any payment on a debt security;

changing the place of payment on a debt security;

impair a holder s right to sue for payment of any amount due on its debt security;

release of any guarantor of a debt security from any of its obligations under its guarantee thereof, except in
accordance with the terms of the indenture;

reducing the percentage in principal amount of the debt securities of any one or more affected series, taken
separately or together, as applicable, and whether comprising the same or different series or less than all of the
debt securities of a series, the approval of whose holders is needed to change the indenture or those debt
securities or waive our compliance with the applicable indenture or to waive defaults; and

changing the provisions of the applicable indenture dealing with modification and waiver in any other respect,
except to increase any required percentage referred to above or to add to the provisions that cannot be changed
or waived without approval of the holder of each affected debt security.

Changes Not Requiring Approval

The second type of change does not require any approval by holders of the debt securities affected. These changes are
limited to clarifications and changes that would not adversely affect any debt securities of any series in any material
respect. Nor do we need any approval to make changes that affect only debt securities to be issued under the
applicable indenture after the changes take effect. We may also make changes or obtain waivers that do not adversely
affect a particular debt security, even if they affect other debt securities. In those cases, we do not need to obtain the
approval of the holder of the unaffected debt security; we need only obtain any required approvals from the holders of
the affected debt securities. We may also make changes to reflect the addition of, succession to or release of any
guarantor of guaranteed debt securities otherwise permitted under the indenture. We may also make changes to
conform the text of the applicable indenture or any debt securities or guarantees to any provision of the Description of
Debt Securities and Guarantees in this prospectus or the comparable section in your prospectus supplement, to the
extent such provision was intended to be a verbatim recitation of a provision of such indenture or debt securities or
guarantees.

Modification of Subordination Provisions

We may not amend the indenture related to subordinated debt securities to alter the subordination of any outstanding
subordinated debt securities without the written consent of each holder of senior debt then outstanding who would be
adversely affected (or the group or representative thereof authorized or required to consent thereto pursuant to the
instrument creating or evidencing, or pursuant to which there is outstanding, such senior debt). In addition, we may
not modify the subordination provisions of the indenture related to subordinated debt securities in a manner that would
adversely affect the subordinated debt securities of any one or more series then outstanding in any material respect,
without the consent of the holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of all affected series then outstanding,
voting together as one class (and also of any affected series that by its terms is entitled to vote separately as a series, as
described below).
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Any other change to a particular indenture and the debt securities issued under that indenture would require the
following approval:

If the change affects only particular debt securities within a series issued under the applicable indenture, it must
be approved by the holders of a majority in principal amount of such particular debt securities; or
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If the change affects debt securities of more than one series issued under the applicable indenture, it must be
approved by the holders of a majority in principal amount of all debt securities of all such series affected by the
change, with all such affected debt securities voting together as one class for this purpose and such affected
debt securities of any series potentially comprising fewer than all debt securities of such series,

in each case, except as may otherwise be provided pursuant to such indenture for all or any particular debt securities
of any series. This means that modification of terms with respect to certain securities of a series could be effectuated
without obtaining the consent of the holders of a majority in principal amount of other securities of such series that are
not affected by such modification.

The same majority approval would be required for us to obtain a waiver of any of our covenants in either indenture.

Our covenants include the promises we make about merging or selling substantially all of our assets, which we

describe above under ~ Mergers and Similar Transactions. If the holders approve a waiver of a covenant, we will not
have to comply with it. The holders, however, cannot approve a waiver of any provision in a particular debt security,

or in the applicable indenture as it affects that debt security, that we cannot change without the approval of the holder

of that debt security as described above in ~ Changes Requiring Each Holder s Approval , unless that holder approves
the waiver.

We may issue particular debt securities or a particular series of debt securities, as applicable, that are entitled, by their
terms, to separately approve matters (for example, modification or waiver of provisions in the applicable indenture)
that would also, or otherwise, require approval of holders of a majority in principal amount of all affected debt
securities of all affected series issued under such indenture voting together as a single class. Any such affected debt
securities or series of debt securities would be entitled to approve such matters (a) pursuant to such special rights by
consent of holders of a majority in principal amount of such affected debt securities or series of debt securities voting
separately as a class and (b) in addition, as described above, except as may otherwise be provided pursuant to the
applicable indenture for such debt securities or series of debt securities, by consent of holders of a majority in
principal amount of such affected debt securities or series of debt securities and all other affected debt securities of all
series issued under such indenture voting together as one class for this purpose. We may issue series or debt securities
of a series having these or other special voting rights without obtaining the consent of or giving notice to holders of
outstanding debt securities or series.

Book-entry and other indirect owners should consult their banks or brokers for information on how approval may be
granted or denied if we seek to change an indenture or any debt securities or request a waiver.

Special Rules for Action by Holders

Only holders of outstanding debt securities of the applicable series will be eligible to take any action under the
applicable indenture, such as giving a notice of default, declaring an acceleration, approving any change or waiver or
giving the trustee an instruction with respect to debt securities of that series. Also, we will count only outstanding debt
securities in determining whether the various percentage requirements for taking action have been met. Any debt
securities owned by us or any of our affiliates or surrendered for cancellation or for payment or redemption of which
money has been set aside in trust are not deemed to be outstanding. Any required approval or waiver must be given by
written consent.

In some situations, we may follow special rules in calculating the principal amount of debt securities that are to be

treated as outstanding for the purposes described above. This may happen, for example, if the principal amount is
payable in a non-U.S. dollar currency, increases over time or is not to be fixed until maturity.
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We will generally be entitled to set any day as a record date for the purpose of determining the holders that are entitled
to take action under either indenture. In certain limited circumstances, only the trustee will be entitled to set a record
date for action by holders. If we or the trustee sets a record date for an approval or other action to be taken by holders,
that vote or action may be taken only by persons or entities who are
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holders on the record date and must be taken during the period that we specify for this purpose, or that the trustee
specifies if it sets the record date. We or the trustee, as applicable, may shorten or lengthen this period from time to
time. This period, however, may not extend beyond the 180th day after the record date for the action. In addition,
record dates for any global debt security may be set in accordance with procedures established by the depositary from
time to time. Accordingly, record dates for global debt securities may differ from those for other debt securities.

Form, Exchange and Transfer

If any debt securities cease to be issued in registered global form, they will be issued:
only in fully registered form;
without interest coupons; and

unless we indicate otherwise in your prospectus supplement, in denominations of $1,000 and integral multiples
of $1,000.

Holders may exchange their debt securities for debt securities of smaller denominations or combined into fewer debt
securities of larger denominations, as long as the total principal amount is not changed. You may not exchange your
debt securities for securities of a different series or having different terms, unless your prospectus supplement says
you may.

Holders may exchange or transfer their debt securities at the office of the trustee. They may also replace lost, stolen,
destroyed or mutilated debt securities at that office. We have appointed the trustee to act as our agent for registering
debt securities in the names of holders and transferring and replacing debt securities. We may appoint another entity to
perform these functions or perform them ourselves.

Holders will not be required to pay a service charge to transfer or exchange their debt securities, but they may be
required to pay for any tax or other governmental charge associated with the exchange or transfer. The transfer or
exchange, and any replacement, will be made only if our transfer agent is satisfied with the holder s proof of legal
ownership. The transfer agent may require an indemnity before replacing any debt securities.

If we have designated additional transfer agents for your debt security, they will be named in your prospectus
supplement. We may appoint additional transfer agents or cancel the appointment of any particular transfer agent. We
may also approve a change in the office through which any transfer agent acts.

If the debt securities of any series are redeemable and we redeem less than all those debt securities, we may block the
transfer or exchange of those debt securities during the period beginning 15 days before the day we mail the notice of
redemption and ending on the day of that mailing, in order to freeze the list of holders to prepare the mailing. We may
also refuse to register transfers of or exchange any debt security selected for redemption, except that we will continue
to permit transfers and exchanges of the unredeemed portion of any debt security being partially redeemed.

If a debt security is issued as a global debt security, only DTC or other depositary will be entitled to transfer and
exchange the debt security as described in this subsection, since the depositary will be the sole holder of the debt
security.

The rules for exchange described above apply to exchange of debt securities for other debt securities of the same

series and kind. If a debt security is convertible, exercisable or exchangeable into or for a different kind of security,
such as one that we have not issued, or for other property, the rules governing that type of conversion, exercise or
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exchange will be described in the applicable prospectus supplement.

Payments

We will pay interest, principal and other amounts payable with respect to the debt securities of any series to the
holders of record of those debt securities as of the record dates and otherwise in the manner specified below or in the

prospectus supplement for that series.
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We will make payments on a global debt security in accordance with the applicable policies of the depositary as in
effect from time to time. Under those policies, we will pay directly to the depositary, or its nominee, and not to any
indirect owners who own beneficial interests in the global debt security. An indirect owner s right to receive those
payments will be governed by the rules and practices of the depositary and its participants.

We will make payments on a debt security in non-global, registered form as follows. We will pay interest that is due

on an interest payment date by check mailed on the interest payment date to the holder at his or her address shown on
the trustee s records as of the close of business on the regular record date. We will make all other payments by check at
the paying agent described below, against surrender of the debt security. All payments by check will be made in
next-day funds i.e., funds that become available on the day after the check is cashed.

Alternatively, if a non-global debt security has a face amount of at least $1,000,000 and the holder asks us to do so,
we will pay any amount that becomes due on the debt security by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an
account at a bank in New York City, on the due date. To request wire payment, the holder must give the paying agent
appropriate wire transfer instructions at least five business days before the requested wire payment is due. In the case
of any interest payment due on an interest payment date, the instructions must be given by the person or entity who is
the holder on the relevant regular record date. In the case of any other payment, payment will be made only after the
debt security is surrendered to the paying agent. Any wire instructions, once properly given, will remain in effect
unless and until new instructions are given in the manner described above.

Book-entry and other indirect owners should consult their banks or brokers for information on how they will receive
payments on their debt securities.

Regardless of who acts as paying agent, all money paid by us to a paying agent that remains unclaimed at the end of
two years after the amount is due to a holder will be repaid to us. After that two-year period, the holder may look only
to us for payment and not to the trustee, any other paying agent or anyone else.

Guarantees

The debt securities of any series may be guaranteed by one or more of our subsidiaries. However, the applicable
indenture governing the debt securities will not require that any of our subsidiaries be a guarantor of any series of debt
securities and will permit the guarantors for any series of guaranteed debt securities to be different from any of the
subsidiaries listed above under ~ General. As a result, a series of debt securities may not have any guarantors and the
guarantors of any series of guaranteed debt securities may differ from the guarantors of any other series of guaranteed
debt securities. If we issue a series of guaranteed debt securities, the identity of the specific guarantors of the debt
securities of that series will be identified in the applicable prospectus supplement.

If we issue a series of guaranteed debt securities, a description of some of the terms of guarantees of those debt
securities will be set forth in the applicable prospectus supplement. Unless otherwise provided in the prospectus
supplement relating to a series of guaranteed debt securities, each guarantor of the debt securities of such series will
unconditionally guarantee the due and punctual payment of the principal of, and premium, if any, and interest, if any,
on each debt security of such series, all in accordance with the terms of such debt securities and the applicable
indenture.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless otherwise provided in the prospectus supplement relating to a series of
guaranteed debt securities, the applicable indenture will contain provisions to the effect that the obligations of each
guarantor under its guarantees and such indenture shall be limited to the maximum amount as will, after giving effect
to all other contingent and fixed liabilities of such guarantor, result in the obligations of such guarantor under such
guarantees and such indenture not constituting a fraudulent conveyance or fraudulent transfer under applicable law.
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guarantee constituted a fraudulent conveyance or fraudulent transfer under applicable law. If that were to occur, the
court could void the applicable guarantor s obligations
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under that guarantee, subordinate that guarantee to other debt and other liabilities of that guarantor or take other action
detrimental to holders of the debt securities of the applicable series, including directing the holders to return any
payments received from the applicable guarantor.

Unless otherwise provided in the prospectus supplement relating to a series of guaranteed debt securities, the
applicable indenture will (i) provide that, upon the sale or disposition (by merger or otherwise) of any guarantor, (x) if
the transferee is not an affiliate of us, such guarantor will automatically be released from all obligations under its
guarantee of such debt securities or (y) otherwise, the transferee (if other than us or another guarantor) will assume the
guarantor s obligations under its guarantee of such debt securities and (ii) permit us to cause the guarantee of any
guarantor of such debt securities to be released at any time if we satisfy such conditions, if any, as are specified in the
prospectus supplement for such debt securities.

The applicable prospectus supplement relating to any series of guaranteed debt securities will specify other terms of
the applicable guarantees.

If the applicable prospectus supplement relating to a series of our senior debt securities provides that those senior debt
securities will have the benefit of a guarantee by any or all of our subsidiaries, unless otherwise provided in the
applicable prospectus supplement, each such guarantee will be the unsubordinated and unsecured obligation of the
applicable guarantor and will rank equally in right of payment with all of the unsecured and unsubordinated
indebtedness of such guarantor.

Any guarantee of any debt securities will be effectively subordinated to all existing and future secured indebtedness of
the applicable guarantor, including any secured guarantees of other Company debt, to the extent of the value of the
collateral securing that indebtedness. Consequently, in the event of a bankruptcy, or similar proceeding with respect to
any guarantor that has provided a guarantee of any debt securities, the holders of that guarantor s secured indebtedness
will be entitled to proceed directly against the collateral that secures that secured indebtedness and such collateral will
not be available for satisfaction of any amount owed by such guarantor under its unsecured indebtedness, including its
guarantees of any debt securities, until that secured debt is satisfied in full. Unless otherwise provided in the

applicable prospectus supplement, the indenture will not limit the ability of any guarantor to incur secured
indebtedness.

If the applicable prospectus supplement relating to a series of our subordinated debt securities provides that those
subordinated debt securities will have the benefit of a guarantee by any or all of our subsidiaries, unless otherwise
provided in the applicable prospectus supplement, each such guarantee will be the subordinated and unsecured
obligation of the applicable guarantor and, in addition to being effectively subordinated to secured debt of such
guarantor, will be subordinated in right of payment to all of such guarantor s existing and future senior indebtedness,
including any guarantee of the senior debt securities, to the same extent and in the same manner as the subordinated
debt securities are subordinated to our senior debt. See ~ Subordination Provisions above.

Paying Agents

We may appoint one or more financial institutions to act as our paying agents, at whose designated offices debt
securities in non-global entry form may be surrendered for payment at their maturity. We call each of those offices a
paying agent. We may add, replace or terminate paying agents from time to time. We may also choose to act as our
own paying agent. We will specify in the prospectus supplement for your debt security the initial location of each

paying agent for that debt security. We must notify the trustee of changes in the paying agents.

Notices
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Notices to be given to holders of a global debt security will be given only to the depositary, in accordance with its
applicable policies as in effect from time to time. Notices to be given to holders of debt securities not in global form
will be sent by mail to the respective addresses of the holders as they appear in the trustee s records, and will be
deemed given when mailed. Neither the failure to give any notice to a particular holder,
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Book-entry and other indirect owners should consult their banks or brokers for information on how they will receive
notices.

Our Relationship With the Trustee

The prospectus supplement for your debt security will describe any material relationships we may have with the
trustee with respect to that debt security.

The same financial institution may initially serve as the trustee for our senior debt securities and subordinated debt
securities. Consequently, if an actual or potential event of default occurs with respect to any of these securities, the
trustee may be considered to have a conflicting interest for purposes of the Trust Indenture Act of 1939. In that case,

the trustee may be required to resign under one or more of the indentures, and we would be required to appoint a
successor trustee. For this purpose, a potential event of default means an event that would be an event of default if the
requirements for giving us default notice or for the default having to exist for a specific period of time were

disregarded.
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DESCRIPTION OF THE COMMON UNITS
The Common Units

The common units and the subordinated units are separate classes of limited partner interests in us. The holders of
units are entitled to participate in partnership distributions and exercise the rights or privileges available to limited
partners under our partnership agreement. For a description of the relative rights and preferences of holders of
common and subordinated units in and to partnership distributions, please read this section and Cash Distribution
Policy. For an additional description of the rights and privileges of limited partners under our partnership agreement,
please read The Limited Partnership Agreement.

Transfer Agent and Registrar
Duties
As of the date of this prospectus, Computershare Trust Company, N.A. serves as the registrar and transfer agent for
the common units. We will pay all fees charged by the transfer agent for transfers of common units except the
following that must be paid by unitholders:

surety bond premiums to replace lost or stolen certificates, taxes and other governmental charges;

special charges for services requested by a common unitholder; and

other similar fees or charges.
There will be no charge to unitholders for disbursements of our cash distributions. We will indemnify the transfer
agent, its agents and each of their stockholders, directors, officers and employees against all claims and losses that
may arise out of acts performed or omitted for its activities in that capacity, except for any liability due to any gross
negligence or intentional misconduct of the indemnified person or entity.
Resignation or removal
The transfer agent may resign, by notice to us, or be removed by us. The resignation or removal of the transfer agent
will become effective upon our appointment of a successor transfer agent and registrar and its acceptance of the
appointment. If no successor has been appointed and accepted the appointment within 30 days after notice of the
resignation or removal, our general partner may act as the transfer agent and registrar until a successor is appointed.
Voting Rights
The following is a summary of the unitholder vote required for approval of the matters specified below. General
partner units are not deemed outstanding units for purposes of voting rights and such units represent a non-voting
general partner interest. Matters that require the approval of a unit majority require:

during the subordination period, the approval of a majority of the common units, excluding those common

units held by our general partner and its affiliates, and a majority of the subordinated units, voting as separate
classes; and

Table of Contents 95



Edgar Filing: CHEFS INTERNATIONAL INC - Form 10KSB

after the subordination period, the approval of a majority of the common units and Class B units, if any, voting
as a single class.

In voting their common and subordinated units, our general partner and its affiliates will have no fiduciary duty or
obligation whatsoever to us or the limited partners, including any duty to act in good faith or in the best interests of us

or the limited partners. Please also read The Limited Partnership Agreement Meetings; Voting.
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Matter
Issuance of additional units

Amendment of the partnership agreement

Merger of our partnership or the sale of all

or substantially all of our assets

Dissolution of our partnership

Continuation of our business upon
dissolution

Withdrawal of the general partner

Removal of the general partner

Transfer of the general partner interest

Transfer of incentive distribution rights

Table of Contents

Unitholder Vote Required, if any

No unitholder approval required.

Certain amendments may be made by the general partner without the
approval of the unitholders. Other amendments generally require the
approval of a unit majority. Please read The Limited Partnership
Agreement Amendment of the Partnership Agreement.

Unit majority in certain circumstances. Please read The Limited
Partnership Agreement Merger, Consolidation, Conversion, Sale or Other
Disposition of Assets.

Unit majority. Please read The Limited Partnership Agreement
Termination and Dissolution.

Unit majority. Please read The Limited Partnership Agreement
Termination and Dissolution.

Under most circumstances, the approval of a majority of the common

units, excluding common units held by our general partner and its

affiliates, is required for the withdrawal of our general partner prior to

June 30, 2018 in a manner that would cause a dissolution of our

partnership. Please read The Limited Partnership Agreement Withdrawal
or Removal of the General Partner.

Not less than 662/3% of the outstanding units, voting as a single class,
including units held by our general partner and its affiliates. Please read
The Limited Partnership Agreement Withdrawal or Removal of the

General Partner.

Our general partner may transfer all, but not less than all, of its general
partner interest in us without a vote of our unitholders to an affiliate or
another person in connection with its merger or consolidation with or into,
or sale of all or substantially all of its assets to, such person. The approval
of a majority of the common units, excluding common units held by the
general partner and its affiliates, is required in other circumstances for a
transfer of the general partner interest to a third party prior to June 30,
2018. Please read The Limited Partnership Agreement Transfer of
General Partner Units.

Except for transfers to an affiliate or another person as part of our general
partner s merger or consolidation, sale of all or substantially all of its assets
or the sale of all of the ownership interests in such holder, the approval of

a majority of the common units, excluding common units held by the
general partner and its affiliates, is required in most circumstances for a
transfer of the incentive distribution rights to a third party prior to June 30,
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2018. Please read The Limited Partnership Agreement
Incentive Distribution Rights.
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Transfer of ownership interests in our

general partner No unitholder approval required at any time. Please read The Limited
Partnership Agreement Transfer of Ownership Interests in the General
Partner.

Limited Liability

Assuming that a limited partner does not participate in the control of our business within the meaning of the Delaware
Act and that he otherwise acts in conformity with the provisions of the partnership agreement, his liability under the
Delaware Act will be limited, subject to possible exceptions, to the amount of capital he is obligated to contribute to
us for his common units plus his share of any undistributed profits and assets. However, if it were determined that the
right, or exercise of the right, by the limited partners as a group:

to remove or replace the general partner;
to approve some amendments to the partnership agreement; or
to take other action under the partnership agreement;

constituted participation in the control of our business for the purposes of the Delaware Act, then the limited partners
could be held personally liable for our obligations under the laws of Delaware to the same extent as the general

partner. The limited partners could also have liability for our obligations to persons who transact business with us

under the reasonable belief that the limited partner is a general partner. Neither the partnership agreement nor the
Delaware Act specifically provides for legal recourse against the general partner if a limited partner were to lose
limited liability through any fault of the general partner. While this does not mean that a limited partner could not seek
legal recourse, we know of no precedent for this type of a claim in Delaware case law.

Under the Delaware Act, a limited partnership may not make a distribution to a partner if, after the distribution, all
liabilities of the limited partnership, other than liabilities to partners on account of their partnership interests and
liabilities for which the recourse of creditors is limited to specific property of the partnership, would exceed the fair
value of the assets of the limited partnership. For the purpose of determining the fair value of the assets of a limited
partnership, the Delaware Act provides that the fair value of property subject to liability for which recourse of
creditors is limited shall be included in the assets of the limited partnership only to the extent that the fair value of that
property exceeds that liability. The Delaware Act provides that a limited partner who receives a distribution and knew,
at the time of the distribution, that the distribution was in violation of the Delaware Act shall be liable to the limited
partnership for the amount of the distribution for three years. Under the Delaware Act, a substituted limited partner of
a limited partnership is liable for the obligations of his assignor to make contributions to the partnership, except that
such person is not obligated for liabilities unknown to him at the time he became a limited partner and that could not
be ascertained from the partnership agreement.

Our subsidiaries conduct business in five states and we may have subsidiaries that conduct business in other states in
the future. Maintenance of our limited liability as a limited partner of the operating partnership may require
compliance with legal requirements in the jurisdictions in which the operating partnership conducts business,
including qualifying our subsidiaries to do business there.

Limitations on the liability of limited partners for the obligations of a limited partnership have not been clearly

established in many jurisdictions. If, by virtue of our partnership interest in our operating partnership or otherwise, it
was determined that we were conducting business in any state without compliance with the applicable limited
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partnership or limited liability company statute, or that the right or exercise of the right by the limited partners as a

group to remove or replace the general partner, to approve some amendments to the partnership agreement, or to take
other action under the partnership agreement constituted participation in the control of our business for purposes of the
statutes of any relevant jurisdiction, then the limited partners could be held personally liable for our obligations under

the law of that jurisdiction to the same extent as the general partner under the circumstances. We will operate in a
manner that the general partner considers reasonable and necessary or appropriate to preserve the limited liability of

the limited partners.
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Transfer of Common Units

Common units are securities that are transferable according to the laws governing the transfer of securities. In addition
to other rights acquired upon transfer, the transferor gives the transferee the right to become a substituted limited
partner in our partnership for the transferred common units.

By transfer of common units in accordance with our partnership agreement, each transferee of common units shall be
admitted as a substituted limited partner with respect to the common units transferred when such transfer and
admission are reflected in our books and records. Our general partner will cause any transfers to be recorded on our
books and records no less frequently than quarterly. Until a common unit has been transferred on our books, we and
the transfer agent may treat the record holder of the unit as the absolute owner for all purposes, except as otherwise
required by law or stock exchange regulations. Each transferee:

represents that the transferee has the capacity, power and authority to become bound by our partnership
agreement;

automatically agrees to be bound by the terms and conditions of, and is deemed to have executed, our
partnership agreement; and

is deemed to have given the consents and approvals contained in our partnership agreement.

We may, at our discretion, treat the nominee holder of a common unit as the absolute owner. In that case, the
beneficial holder s rights are limited solely to those that it has against the nominee holder as a result of any agreement
between the beneficial owner and the nominee holder.

Change of Management Provisions

Our partnership agreement contains specific provisions that are intended to discourage a person or group from
attempting to remove Western Gas Holdings, LLC as our general partner or from otherwise changing our

management. If any person or group, other than our general partner and its affiliates, acquires beneficial ownership of
20% or more of any class of units, that person or group loses voting rights on all of its units. This loss of voting rights
does not apply to any person or group that acquires the units directly from our general partner or its affiliates or any
transferee of that person or group provided that our general partner notifies such transferee in writing that such loss of
voting rights does not apply or to any person or group who acquires the units with the prior approval of the board of
directors of our general partner. Please also read The Limited Partnership Agreement Withdrawal or Removal of the
General Partner.

Limited Call Right

If at any time our general partner and its affiliates own more than 80% of the then outstanding limited partner interests
of any class, our general partner will have the right, which it may assign in whole or in part to any of its affiliates or to
us, to acquire all, but not less than all, of the limited partner interests of the class held by unaffiliated persons as of a
record date to be selected by our general partner, on at least 10, but not more than 60, days notice. The purchase price
in the event of this purchase is the greater of:

the highest cash price paid by our general partner or any of its affiliates for any limited partner interests of the

class purchased within the 90 days preceding the date on which our general partner first mails notice of its
election to purchase those limited partner interests; and
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the current market price as of the date three days before the date the notice is mailed.

As a result of our general partner s right to purchase outstanding limited partner interests, a holder of limited partner
interests may have his limited partner interests purchased at a price that may be lower than market prices at various
times prior to such purchase or lower than a unitholder may anticipate the market price to be in the future. The tax
consequences to a unitholder of the exercise of this call right are the same as a sale by that unitholder of his common
units in the market. Please read Income Tax Considerations Disposition of Common Units.
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CASH DISTRIBUTION POLICY
Our cash distribution policy reflects a basic judgment that our unitholders will be better served by our distributing
rather than retaining our available cash. Set forth below is a summary of the significant terms of our cash distribution
policy. Please read Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements and Risk Factors for information
regarding statements that do not relate strictly to historical or current facts and certain risks inherent in our business.
Distributions of Available Cash

General

Our partnership agreement provides that we will distribute all of our available cash to unitholders of record on the
applicable record date within 45 days after the end of each quarter.

Definition of Available Cash
Available cash, for any quarter, consists of all cash on hand at the end of that quarter:
less, the amount of cash reserves established by our general partner to:
provide for the proper conduct of our business;
comply with applicable law, any of our debt instruments or other agreements; or
provide funds for distributions to our unitholders for any one or more of the next four quarters;

plus, if our general partner so determines, all or a portion of cash on hand on the date of determination of
available cash for the quarter resulting from working capital borrowings made after the end of the quarter.

Working capital borrowings are generally borrowings that are made under a credit facility, commercial paper facility
or similar financing arrangement, and in all cases are used solely for working capital purposes or to pay distributions
to partners and with the intent of the borrower to repay such borrowings within 12 months.

Intent to Distribute the Minimum Quarterly Distribution

We will distribute to the holders of common and subordinated units on a quarterly basis at least the minimum
quarterly distribution of $0.30 per unit, or $1.20 per year, to the extent we have sufficient cash from our operations
after establishment of cash reserves and payment of fees and expenses, including payments to our general partner.
There is no guarantee that we will pay the minimum quarterly distribution on the units in any quarter. Even if our cash
distribution policy is not modified or revoked, the amount of distributions paid under our policy and the decision to
make any distribution is determined by our general partner, taking into consideration the terms of our partnership
agreement.

General Partner Interest and Incentive Distribution Rights

Initially, our general partner will be entitled to 2.0% of all quarterly distributions since inception that we make prior to
our liquidation. This general partner interest is represented by 1,135,296 general partner units. General partner units
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are not deemed outstanding units for purposes of voting rights and such units represent a non-voting general partner
interest. Our general partner has the right, but not the obligation, to contribute a proportionate amount of capital to us
to maintain its current general partner interest. Our general partner s initial 2.0% interest in our distributions may be
reduced if we issue additional limited partner units in the future and our general partner does not contribute a
proportionate amount of capital to us to maintain its 2.0% general partner interest.

Our general partner also currently holds incentive distribution rights that entitle it to receive increasing percentages,
up to a maximum of 50.0%, of the cash we distribute from operating surplus (as defined below) in excess of $0.45 per
unit per quarter. The maximum distribution of 50.0% includes distributions paid to our

28

Table of Contents 104



Edgar Filing: CHEFS INTERNATIONAL INC - Form 10KSB

Table of Contents
general partner on its 2.0% general partner interest and assumes that our general partner maintains its general partner
interest at 2.0%. The maximum distribution of 50.0% does not include any distributions that our general partner may
receive on limited partner units that it owns.
Operating Surplus and Capital Surplus
General
All cash distributed to unitholders will be characterized as either cash from operating surplus or capital surplus. Our
partnership agreement requires that we distribute available cash from operating surplus differently than available cash
from capital surplus.
Operating Surplus
Operating surplus consists of:
$31.8 million (as described below); plus
all of our cash receipts after the closing of our initial public offering, excluding cash from the following:
borrowings that are not working capital borrowings;
sales of equity and debt securities;

sales or other dispositions of assets outside the ordinary course of business;

the termination of interest rate swap agreements or commodity hedge contracts prior to the termination date
specified herein;

capital contributions received; and
corporate reorganizations or restructurings; plus

working capital borrowings made after the end of a quarter but on or before the date of determination of
operating surplus for the quarter; plus

cash distributions paid on equity issued to finance all or a portion of the construction, acquisition, improvement
or replacement of a capital asset (such as equipment or facilities) during the period beginning on the date that
we enter into a binding obligation to commence the construction, acquisition or improvement of a capital
improvement or replacement of a capital asset and ending on the earlier to occur of the date the capital
improvement or capital asset commences commercial service or the date that it is abandoned or disposed of;
less

all of our operating expenditures (as defined below) after the closing of our initial public offering; less

the amount of cash reserves established by our general partner to provide funds for future operating
expenditures; less
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all working capital borrowings not repaid within twelve months after having been incurred or repaid within
such twelve-month period with the proceeds of additional working capital borrowings.

As described above, operating surplus does not reflect actual cash on hand that is available for distribution to our
unitholders. For example, the effect of including, as described above, certain cash distributions on equity securities in
operating surplus will be to increase operating surplus by the amount of any such cash distributions. We may also
include in operating surplus certain cash distributions we receive from non-operating sources.

If a working capital borrowing, which increases operating surplus, is not repaid during the twelve-month period
following the borrowing, it will be deemed repaid at the end of such period, thus decreasing operating surplus at such

time. When such working capital borrowing is in fact repaid, it will not be treated as a further
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reduction in operating surplus because operating surplus will have been previously reduced by the deemed repayment.
Operating expenditures generally means all of our cash expenditures, including, but not limited to, taxes,
reimbursement of expenses to our general partner, reimbursement of expenses to Anadarko for services pursuant to
the omnibus agreement or personnel provided to us under the services and secondment agreement, payments made in
the ordinary course of business under interest rate swap agreements or commodity hedge contracts, manager and
officer compensation, repayment of working capital borrowings, debt service payments and estimated maintenance

capital expenditures (as discussed in further detail below), provided that operating expenditures will not include:

repayment of working capital borrowings deducted from operating surplus pursuant to the last bullet point of
the definition of operating surplus above when such repayment actually occurs;

payments (including prepayments and prepayment penalties) of principal of and premium on indebtedness,
other than working capital borrowings;

expansion capital expenditures;

actual maintenance capital expenditures (as discussed in further detail below);
investment capital expenditures;

payment of transaction expenses relating to interim capital transactions;

distributions to our partners (including distributions in respect of our Class B units and incentive distribution
rights); or

non-pro rata purchases of units of any class made with the proceeds of a substantially concurrent equity
issuance.

Capital Surplus

Capital surplus consists of:
borrowings other than working capital borrowings;
sales of our equity and debt securities; and

sales or other dispositions of assets for cash, other than inventory, accounts receivable and other current assets
sold in the ordinary course of business or as part of normal retirement or replacement of assets.

Characterization of Cash Distributions

Our partnership agreement requires that we treat all available cash distributed as coming from operating surplus until
the sum of all available cash distributed since the closing of our initial public offering equals the operating surplus as
of the most recent date of determination of available cash. Our partnership agreement requires that we treat any
amount distributed in excess of operating surplus, regardless of its source, as distributions from capital surplus. We do

not anticipate that we will make any distributions from capital surplus.

Capital Expenditures
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For purposes of determining operating surplus, maintenance capital expenditures are those capital expenditures
required to maintain our long-term operating capacity or operating income, and expansion capital expenditures are
those capital expenditures that we expect will expand our operating capacity or operating income over the long term.
Examples of maintenance capital expenditures include capital expenditures associated with the replacement of
equipment and well connections, or the construction, development or acquisition of other facilities, to replace
expected reductions in hydrocarbons available for gathering, compressing, treating, processing, transporting or
otherwise handled by our facilities (which we refer to as
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operating capacity). Maintenance capital expenditures will also include interest (and related fees) on debt incurred and
distributions on equity issued to finance all or any portion of the construction, improvement or replacement of an asset
that is paid in respect of the period that begins when we enter into a binding obligation to commence constructing or
developing a replacement asset and ending on the earlier to occur of the date of any such replacement asset
commences commercial service or the date that it is abandoned or disposed of. Capital expenditures made solely for
investment purposes (as described below) will not be considered maintenance capital expenditures.

Because our maintenance capital expenditures can be irregular, the amount of our actual maintenance capital
expenditures may differ substantially from period to period, which could cause similar fluctuations in the amounts of
operating surplus, adjusted operating surplus and cash available for distribution to our unitholders if we subtracted
actual maintenance capital expenditures from operating surplus.

Our partnership agreement requires that an estimate of the average quarterly maintenance capital expenditures
necessary to maintain our operating capacity or operating income over the long term be subtracted from operating
surplus each quarter as opposed to the actual amounts spent. The amount of estimated maintenance capital
expenditures deducted from operating surplus for those periods will be subject to review and change by our general
partner at least once a year, provided that any change is approved by our special committee. The estimate will be made
at least annually and whenever an event occurs that is likely to result in a material adjustment to the amount of our
maintenance capital expenditures, such as a major acquisition or the introduction of new governmental regulations
that will impact our business. For purposes of calculating operating surplus, any adjustment to this estimate will be
prospective only.

The use of estimated maintenance capital expenditures in calculating operating surplus will have the following effects:

it will reduce the risk that maintenance capital expenditures in any one quarter will be large enough to render
operating surplus less than the initial quarterly distribution to be paid on all the units for the quarter and
subsequent quarters;

it will increase our ability to distribute as operating surplus the cash we receive from non-operating
sources; and

it will be more difficult for us to raise our distribution above the minimum quarterly distribution and pay
incentive distributions on the incentive distribution rights held by our general partner.

Expansion capital expenditures are those capital expenditures that we expect will increase our operating capacity or
operating income. Examples of expansion capital expenditures include the acquisition of equipment, or the
construction, development or acquisition of additional pipeline or treating capacity or new processing capacity, to the
extent such capital expenditures are expected to expand our long-term operating capacity or operating income.
Expansion capital expenditures will also include interest (and related fees) on debt incurred and distributions on equity
issued to finance all or any portion of the construction of such capital improvement during the period that commences
when we enter into a binding obligation to commence construction of a capital improvement and ending on the date
any such capital improvement commences commercial service or the date that it is abandoned or disposed of. Capital
expenditures made solely for investment purposes will not be considered expansion capital expenditures.

Investment capital expenditures are those capital expenditures that are neither maintenance capital expenditures nor
expansion capital expenditures. Investment capital expenditures largely will consist of capital expenditures made for
investment purposes. Examples of investment capital expenditures include traditional capital expenditures for
investment purposes, such as purchases of securities, as well as other capital expenditures that might be made in lieu
of such traditional investment capital expenditures, such as the acquisition of a capital asset for investment purposes
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or development of facilities that are in excess of the maintenance of our existing operating capacity or operating
income, but which are not expected to expand our operating capacity or operating income for more than the short
term.
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Capital expenditures that are made in part for maintenance capital purposes and in part for investment capital or
expansion capital purposes will be allocated as maintenance capital expenditures, investment capital expenditures or
expansion capital expenditure by our general partner, with the concurrence of our special committee.

Subordination Period
General

Our partnership agreement provides that, during the subordination period (which we define below), the common units
will have the right to receive distributions of available cash from operating surplus each quarter in an amount equal to
$0.30 per common unit, which amount is defined in our partnership agreement as the minimum quarterly distribution,
plus any arrearages in the payment of the minimum quarterly distribution on the common units from prior quarters,
before any distributions of available cash from operating surplus may be made on the subordinated units. These units
are deemed subordinated because for a period of time, referred to as the subordination period, the subordinated units
will not be entitled to receive any distributions until the common units have received the minimum quarterly
distribution plus any arrearages from prior quarters. Furthermore, no arrearages will be paid on the subordinated units.
The practical effect of the subordinated units is to increase the likelihood that during the subordination period there
will be available cash to be distributed on the common units.

Subordination Period

The subordination period will extend until the first business day of any quarter beginning after June 30, 2011, that
each of the following conditions are met:

distributions of available cash from operating surplus on each of the outstanding common units, subordinated
units and general partner units equaled or exceeded the minimum quarterly distribution for each of the three
consecutive, non-overlapping four-quarter periods immediately preceding that date;

the adjusted operating surplus (as defined below) generated during each of the three consecutive,
non-overlapping four-quarter periods immediately preceding that date equaled or exceeded the sum of the
minimum quarterly distributions on all of the outstanding common, subordinated units and general partner
units during those periods on a fully diluted basis during those periods; and

there are no arrearages in payment of the minimum quarterly distribution on the common units.
Early Termination of Subordination Period

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the subordination period will automatically terminate and all of the subordinated units
will convert into common units on a one-for-one basis if each of the following occurs:

distributions of available cash from operating surplus on each of the outstanding common units, subordinated
units and general partner units equaled or exceeded $0.45 per quarter (150.0% of the minimum quarterly
distribution) for each calendar quarter in the immediately preceding four-quarter period;

the adjusted operating surplus (as defined below) generated during each calendar quarter in the immediately
preceding four-quarter period equaled or exceeded the sum of $0.45 (150.0% of the minimum quarterly
distribution) on each of the outstanding common, subordinated and general partner units during that period on a
fully diluted basis; and
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there are no arrearages in payment of the minimum quarterly distributions on the common units.
Expiration of the Subordination Period

When the subordination period ends, each outstanding subordinated unit will convert into one common unit and will
then participate pro-rata with the other common units in distributions of available cash. In
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addition, if the unitholders remove our general partner other than for cause and no units held by our general partner
and its affiliates are voted in favor of such removal:

the subordination period will end and each subordinated unit will immediately convert into one common unit;

any existing arrearages in payment of the minimum quarterly distribution on the common units will be
extinguished; and

our general partner will have the right to convert its general partner units and its incentive distribution rights
into common units or to receive cash in exchange for those interests.

Adjusted Operating Surplus

Adjusted operating surplus is intended to reflect the cash generated from operations during a particular period and

therefore excludes net increases in working capital borrowings and net drawdowns of reserves of cash generated in
prior periods. Adjusted operating surplus consists of:

operating surplus generated with respect to that period; less
any net increase in working capital borrowings with respect to that period; less

any net decrease in cash reserves for operating expenditures with respect to that period not relating to an
operating expenditure made with respect to that period; plus

any net decrease in working capital borrowings with respect to that period; plus

any net increase in cash reserves for operating expenditures with respect to that period required by any debt
instrument for the repayment of principal, interest or premium.

Distributions of Available Cash from Operating Surplus During the Subordination Period

Our partnership agreement requires that we make distributions of available cash from operating surplus for any quarter
during the subordination period in the following manner:

first, 98.0% to the common unitholders, pro rata, and 2.0% to our general partner, until we distribute for each
outstanding common unit an amount equal to the minimum quarterly distribution for that quarter;

second, 98.0% to the common unitholders, pro rata, and 2.0% to our general partner, until we distribute for
each outstanding common unit an amount equal to any arrearages in payment of the minimum quarterly

distribution on the common units for any prior quarters during the subordination period;

third, 98.0% to the subordinated unitholders, pro rata, and 2.0% to our general partner, until we distribute for
each subordinated unit an amount equal to the minimum quarterly distribution for that quarter; and

thereafter, in the manner described in General Partner Interest and Incentive Distribution Rights below.
The preceding discussion is based on the assumptions that our general partner maintains its 2.0% general partner

interest and that we do not issue additional classes of equity securities.
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Percentage Allocations of Available Cash from Operating Surplus

The following table illustrates the percentage allocations of available cash from operating surplus between the
unitholders and our general partner based on the specified target distribution levels. The amounts set forth under
Marginal percentage interest in distributions are the percentage interests of our general partner and the unitholders in
any available cash from operating surplus we distribute up to and including the corresponding amount in the column
Total quarterly distribution per unit. The percentage interests shown for our unitholders and our general partner for the
minimum quarterly distribution are also applicable to quarterly
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distribution amounts that are less than the minimum quarterly distribution. The percentage interests set forth below for

our general partner include its 2.0% general partner interest and assume our general partner has contributed any
additional capital to maintain its 2.0% general partner interest and has not transferred its incentive distribution rights.

Marginal Percentage Interest

Total Quarterly in Distributions(1)
General
Distribution per Unit Unitholders Partner
Minimum Quarterly Distribution $0.300 98.0% 2.0%
First Target Distribution up to $0.345 98.0% 2.0%
Second Target Distribution above $0.345 85.0% 15.0%
up to $0.375
Third Target Distribution above $0.375 75.0% 25.0%
up to $0.450
Thereafter above $0.450 50.0% 50.0%

(1) Assumes that there are no arrearages on common units and that our general partner maintains its 2.0% general
partner interest and continues to own the incentive distribution rights.

Distributions of Available Cash from Operating Surplus after the Subordination Period

Our partnership agreement requires that we make distributions of available cash from operating surplus for any quarter
after the subordination period in the following manner:

first, 98.0% to all unitholders, pro rata, and 2.0% to our general partner, until we distribute for each outstanding
unit an amount equal to the minimum quarterly distribution for that quarter; and

thereafter, in the manner described in General Partner Interest and Incentive Distribution Rights below.

The preceding discussion is based on the assumptions that our general partner maintains its 2.0% general partner
interest and that we do not issue additional classes of equity securities.

General Partner Interest and Incentive Distribution Rights

Our partnership agreement provides that our general partner initially will be entitled to 2.0% of all distributions that
we make prior to our liquidation. Our general partner has the right, but not the obligation, to contribute a proportionate
amount of capital to us to maintain its 2.0% general partner interest if we issue additional units. Our general partner s
2.0% interest, and the percentage of our cash distributions to which it is entitled, will be proportionately reduced if we
issue additional units in the future and our general partner does not contribute a proportionate amount of capital to us
in order to maintain its 2.0% general partner interest. Our general partner will be entitled to make a capital
contribution in order to maintain its 2.0% general partner interest in the form of the contribution to us of common
units based on the current market value of the contributed common units.

Incentive distribution rights represent the right to receive an increasing percentage (13.0%, 23.0% and 48.0%) of

quarterly distributions of available cash from operating surplus after the minimum quarterly distribution and the target
distribution levels have been achieved. Our general partner currently holds the incentive distribution rights, but may
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transfer these rights separately from its general partner interest, subject to restrictions in the partnership agreement.

The following discussion assumes that our general partner maintains its 2.0% general partner interest, that there are no
arrearages on common units and that our general partner continues to own the incentive distribution rights.
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If for any quarter:

we have distributed available cash from operating surplus to the common and subordinated unitholders in an
amount equal to the minimum quarterly distribution; and

we have distributed available cash from operating surplus on outstanding common units in an amount
necessary to eliminate any cumulative arrearages in payment of the minimum quarterly distribution;

then, our partnership agreement requires that we distribute any additional available cash from operating surplus for
that quarter among the unitholders and the general partner in the following manner:

first, 98.0% to all unitholders, pro rata, and 2.0% to our general partner, until each unitholder receives a total of
$0.345 per unit for that quarter (the first target distribution );

second, 85.0% to all unitholders, pro rata, and 15.0% to our general partner, until each unitholder receives a
total of $0.375 per unit for that quarter (the second target distribution );

third, 75.0% to all unitholders, pro rata, and 25.0% to our general partner, until each unitholder receives a total
of $0.45 per unit for that quarter (the third target distribution ); and

thereafter, 50.0% to all unitholders, pro rata, and 50.0% to our general partner.
General Partner s Right to Reset Incentive Distribution Levels

Our general partner, as the holder of our incentive distribution rights, has the right under our partnership agreement to
elect to relinquish the right to receive incentive distribution payments based on the initial cash target distribution
levels and to reset, at higher levels, the minimum quarterly distribution amount and cash target distribution levels
upon which the incentive distribution payments to our general partner would be set. Our general partner s right to reset
the minimum quarterly distribution amount and the target distribution levels upon which the incentive distributions
payable to our general partner are based may be exercised, without approval of our unitholders or the special
committee of our general partner, at any time when there are no subordinated units outstanding and we have made
cash distributions to the holders of the incentive distribution rights at the highest level of incentive distribution for
each of the prior four consecutive fiscal quarters. The reset minimum quarterly distribution amount and target
distribution levels will be higher than the minimum quarterly distribution amount and the target distribution levels
prior to the reset such that our general partner will not receive any incentive distributions under the reset target
distribution levels until cash distributions per unit following this event increase as described below. We anticipate that
our general partner would exercise this reset right in order to facilitate acquisitions or internal growth projects that
would otherwise not be sufficiently accretive to cash distributions per common unit, taking into account the existing
levels of incentive distribution payments being made to our general partner.

In connection with the resetting of the minimum quarterly distribution amount and the target distribution levels and
the corresponding relinquishment by our general partner of incentive distribution payments based on the target cash
distributions prior to the reset, our general partner will be entitled to receive a number of newly issued Class B units
and general partner units based on a predetermined formula described below that takes into account the cash parity
value of the average cash distributions related to the incentive distribution rights received by our general partner for
the two quarters prior to the reset event as compared to the average cash distributions per common unit during this
period. Our general partner will be issued the number of general partner units necessary to maintain our general
partner s interest in us immediately prior to the reset election.
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The number of Class B units that our general partner would be entitled to receive from us in connection with a
resetting of the minimum quarterly distribution amount and the target distribution levels then in effect would be equal
to the quotient determined by dividing (x) the average amount of cash distributions received by our general partner in
respect of its incentive distribution rights during the two consecutive fiscal quarters ended immediately prior to the
date of such reset election by (y) the average of the amount of cash distributed per common unit during each of these
two quarters. Each Class B unit will be convertible into one common unit at the election of the holder of the Class B
unit at any time following the first anniversary of the issuance of these Class B units.
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Following a reset election by our general partner, the minimum quarterly distribution amount will be reset to an

amount equal to the average cash distribution amount per unit for the two fiscal quarters immediately preceding the

reset election (which amount we refer to as the reset minimum quarterly distribution ) and the target distribution levels
will be reset to be correspondingly higher such that we would distribute all of our available cash from operating

surplus for each quarter thereafter as follows:

first, 98.0% to all unitholders, pro rata, and 2.0% to our general partner, until each unitholder receives an
amount equal to 115.0% of the reset minimum quarterly distribution for that quarter;

second, 85.0% to all unitholders, pro rata, and 15.0% to our general partner, until each unitholder receives an
amount per unit equal to 125.0% of the reset minimum quarterly distribution for the quarter;

third, 75.0% to all unitholders, pro rata, and 25.0% to our general partner, until each unitholder receives an
amount per unit equal to 150.0% of the reset minimum quarterly distribution for the quarter; and

thereafter, 50.0% to all unitholders, pro rata, and 50.0% to our general partner.

The following table illustrates the percentage allocation of available cash from operating surplus between the
unitholders and our general partner at various cash distribution levels (i) pursuant to the cash distribution provisions of
our partnership agreement in effect as of June 1, 2009, as well as (ii) following a hypothetical reset of the minimum
quarterly distribution and target distribution levels based on the assumption that the average quarterly cash distribution
amount per common unit during the two fiscal quarters immediately preceding the reset election was $0.60.

Marginal Percentage Quarterly
Interest in
Quarterly Distribution Distribution per
Distribution per General Unit Following
Hypothetical
Unit Prior to Reset Unitholders Partner Reset
Minimum Quarterly Distribution $0.300 98.0% 2.0% $0.600

First Target Distribution up to $0.345 98.0% 2.0% up to $0.690(1)
Second Target Distribution above $0.345 85.0% 15.0% above $0.690(1)
up to $0.375 up to $0.750(2)
Third Target Distribution above $0.375 75.0% 25.0% above $0.750(2)
up to $0.450 up to $0.900(3)
Thereafter above $0.450 50.0% 50.0% above $0.900(3)

(1) This amount is 115.0% of the hypothetical reset minimum quarterly distribution.
(2) This amount is 125.0% of the hypothetical reset minimum quarterly distribution.
(3) This amount is 150.0% of the hypothetical reset minimum quarterly distribution.
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The following table illustrates the total amount of available cash from operating surplus that would be distributed to
the unitholders and our general partner, including in respect of incentive distribution rights, or IDRs, based on an
average of the amounts distributed for a quarter for the two quarters immediately prior to the reset. The table assumes
that immediately prior to the reset there would be 55,629,503 common units outstanding, our general partner has
maintained its 2.0% general partner interest, and the average distribution to each common unit would be $0.60 for the
two quarters prior to the reset.

Cash Cash Distributions to General Partner
Quarterly  Distributions Prior to Reset
2%
Distribution  to Common General Incentive
Class
per Unit Unitholders B Partner  Distribution Total
Prior to

Prior to Reset Reset Units Interest Rights Total Distributions
Minimum
Quarterly
Distribution $0.300 $ 16,688,851 $ 340,589 $ 340,589 $ 17,029,440
First Target
Distribution up to $0.345 2,503,328 51,088 51,088 2,554,416
Second
Target above $0.345
Distribution up to $0.375 1,668,885 39,268 255,241 294,509 1,963,394
Third Target above $0.375
Distribution up to $0.450 4,172,213 111,259 1,279,479 1,390,738 5,562,950
Thereafter above $0.450 8,344,425 333,777 8,010,648 8,344,425 16,688,851

$ 33,377,702 $ 875981 $ 9,545,368 § 10,421,349 § 43,799,051

The following table illustrates the total amount of available cash from operating surplus that would be distributed to
the unitholders and our general partner, including in respect of IDRs, with respect to the quarter in which the reset
occurs. The table reflects that as a result of the reset there would be 55,629,503 common units and 15,908,947 Class B
units outstanding, our general partner s 2.0% interest has been maintained, and the average distribution to each
common unit would be $0.60. The number of Class B units to be issued to our general partner upon the reset was
calculated by dividing (i) the average of the amounts received by our general partner in respect of its IDRs for the two
quarters prior to the reset as shown in the table above, or $9,545,368, by (ii) the average available cash distributed on
each common unit for the two quarters prior to the reset as shown in the table above, or $0.60.

Cash
Cash Distributions to General Partner after
Quarterly Distributions Reset
2%
Distribution to Common General Incentive
per Unit Unitholders Class B PartnerDistribution Total
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after Reset

$0.600

up to $0.690
above $0.690
up to $0.750
above $0.750

up to $0.900
above $0.900

after Reset Units Interest Rights Total Distributions

$ 33,377,702 $ 9,545,368 $ 875,981 $ 10,421,349 § 43,799,051

$ 33,377,702 $ 9,545,368 $ 875,981 $ 10,421,349 § 43,799,051

Our general partner will be entitled to cause the minimum quarterly distribution amount and the target distribution
levels to be reset on more than one occasion, provided that it may not make a reset election except at a time when it
has received incentive distributions for the prior four consecutive fiscal quarters based on the highest level of
incentive distributions that it is entitled to receive under our partnership agreement.

37

Table of Contents

121



Edgar Filing: CHEFS INTERNATIONAL INC - Form 10KSB

Table of Contents
Distributions From Capital Surplus
How Distributions from Capital Surplus will be Made

Our partnership agreement requires that we make distributions of available cash from capital surplus, if any, in the
following manner:

first, 98.0% to all unitholders, pro rata, and 2.0% to our general partner, until we distribute for each common
unit that was issued in our initial public offering, an amount of available cash from capital surplus equal to the
initial public offering price;

second, 98.0% to the common unitholders, pro rata, and 2.0% to our general partner, until we distribute for
each common unit, an amount of available cash from capital surplus equal to any unpaid arrearages in payment
of the minimum quarterly distribution on the common units; and

thereafter, we will make all distributions of available cash from capital surplus as if they were from operating
surplus.

Effect of a Distribution from Capital Surplus

Our partnership agreement treats a distribution of capital surplus as the repayment of the initial unit price from this
initial public offering, which is a return of capital. The initial public offering price less any distributions of capital
surplus per unit is referred to as the unrecovered initial unit price. Each time a distribution of capital surplus is made,
the minimum quarterly distribution and the target distribution levels will be reduced in the same proportion as the
corresponding reduction in the unrecovered initial unit price. Because distributions of capital surplus will reduce the
minimum quarterly distribution after any of these distributions are made, it may be easier for our general partner to
receive incentive distributions and for the subordinated units to convert into common units. However, any distribution
of capital surplus before the unrecovered initial unit price is reduced to zero cannot be applied to the payment of the
minimum quarterly distribution or any arrearages.

Once we distribute capital surplus on a unit issued in our initial public offering in an amount equal to the initial unit
price, our partnership agreement specifies that the minimum quarterly distribution and the target distribution levels
will be reduced to zero. Our partnership agreement specifies that we then make all future distributions from operating
surplus, with 50.0% being paid to the holders of units and 50.0% to our general partner. The percentage interests
shown for our general partner include its 2.0% general partner interest and assume our general partner has not
transferred the incentive distribution rights.
Adjustment to the Minimum Quarterly Distribution and Target Distribution Levels
In addition to adjusting the minimum quarterly distribution and target distribution levels to reflect a distribution of
capital surplus, if we combine our units into fewer units or subdivide our units into a greater number of units, our
partnership agreement specifies that the following items will be proportionately adjusted:

the minimum quarterly distribution;

target distribution levels;

the unrecovered initial unit price; and
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the number of common units into which a subordinated unit is convertible.

For example, if a two-for-one split of the common units should occur, the minimum quarterly distribution, the target
distribution levels and the unrecovered initial unit price would each be reduced to 50% of its initial level, and each
subordinated unit would be convertible into two common units. Our partnership agreement provides that we do not
make any adjustment by reason of the issuance of additional units for cash or property.

In addition, if legislation is enacted or if existing law is modified or interpreted by a governmental taxing authority, so
that we become taxable as a corporation or otherwise subject to taxation as an entity for federal,
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state or local income tax purposes, our partnership agreement specifies that the minimum quarterly distribution and
the target distribution levels for each quarter may be reduced by multiplying each distribution level by a fraction, the
numerator of which is available cash for that quarter and the denominator of which is the sum of available cash for
that quarter plus our general partner s estimate of our aggregate liability for the quarter for such income taxes payable
by reason of such legislation or interpretation. To the extent that the actual tax liability differs from the estimated tax
liability for any quarter, the difference will be accounted for in subsequent quarters.

Distributions of Cash Upon Liquidation
General

If we dissolve in accordance with the partnership agreement, we will sell or otherwise dispose of our assets in a
process called liquidation. We will first apply the proceeds of liquidation to the payment of our creditors. We will
distribute any remaining proceeds to the unitholders and the general partner, in accordance with their capital account
balances, as adjusted to reflect any gain or loss upon the sale or other disposition of our assets in liquidation.

The allocations of gain and loss upon liquidation are intended, to the extent possible, to entitle the holders of
outstanding common units to a preference over the holders of outstanding subordinated units upon our liquidation, to
the extent required to permit common unitholders to receive their unrecovered initial unit price plus the minimum
quarterly distribution for the quarter during which liquidation occurs plus any unpaid arrearages in payment of the
minimum quarterly distribution on the common units. However, there may not be sufficient gain upon our liquidation
to enable the holders of common units to fully recover all of these amounts, even though there may be cash available
for distribution to the holders of subordinated units. Any further net gain recognized upon liquidation will be allocated
in a manner that takes into account the incentive distribution rights of our general partner.

Manner of Adjustments for Gain

The manner of the adjustment for gain is set forth in the partnership agreement. If our liquidation occurs before the
end of the subordination period, we will allocate any gain to the partners in the following manner:

first, to our general partner and the holders of units who have negative balances in their capital accounts to the
extent of and in proportion to those negative balances;

second, 98.0% to the common unitholders, pro rata, and 2.0% to our general partner, until the capital account
for each common unit is equal to the sum of: (1) the unrecovered initial unit price; (2) the amount of the
minimum quarterly distribution for the quarter during which our liquidation occurs; and (3) any unpaid
arrearages in payment of the minimum quarterly distribution;

third, 98.0% to the subordinated unitholders, pro rata, and 2.0% to our general partner, until the capital account
for each subordinated unit is equal to the sum of: (1) the unrecovered initial unit price; and (2) the amount of
the minimum quarterly distribution for the quarter during which our liquidation occurs;

Sfourth, 98.0% to all unitholders, pro rata, and 2.0% to our general partner, until we allocate under this
paragraph an amount per unit equal to: (1) the sum of the excess of the first target distribution per unit over the
minimum quarterly distribution per unit for each quarter of our existence; less (2) the cumulative amount per
unit of any distributions of available cash from operating surplus in excess of the minimum quarterly
distribution per unit that we distributed 98.0% to the unitholders, pro rata, and 2.0% to our general partner, for
each quarter of our existence;
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fifth, 85.0% to all unitholders, pro rata, and 15.0% to our general partner, until we allocate under this paragraph
an amount per unit equal to: (1) the sum of the excess of the second target distribution per unit over the first

target distribution per unit for each quarter of our existence; less (2) the cumulative amount per unit of any
distributions of available cash from operating surplus in excess of the first target
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distribution per unit that we distributed 85.0% to the unitholders, pro rata, and 15.0% to our general partner for
each quarter of our existence;

sixth, 75.0% to all unitholders, pro rata, and 25.0% to our general partner, until we allocate under this
paragraph an amount per unit equal to: (1) the sum of the excess of the third target distribution per unit over the
second target distribution per unit for each quarter of our existence; less (2) the cumulative amount per unit of
any distributions of available cash from operating surplus in excess of the second target distribution per unit
that we distributed 75.0% to the unitholders, pro rata, and 25.0% to our general partner for each quarter of our
existence; and

thereafter, 50.0% to all unitholders, pro rata, and 50.0% to our general partner.

The percentage interests set forth above for our general partner include its 2.0% general partner interest and assume
our general partner has not transferred the incentive distribution rights and that it maintains its 2.0% general partner
interest.

If the liquidation occurs after the end of the subordination period, the distinction between common and subordinated
units will disappear, so that clause (3) of the second bullet point above and all of the third bullet point above will no
longer be applicable.

As discussed in  Adjustments to Capital Accounts below, in certain circumstances we could allocate gain other than as
set forth above if the liquidation occurs prior to the end of the subordination period and we previously allocated

unrealized and unrecognized loss resulting from the adjustments to capital accounts upon the issuance of additional

units.

Manner of Adjustments for Losses

If our liquidation occurs before the end of the subordination period, we will generally allocate any loss to our general
partner and the unitholders in the following manner:

first, 98.0% to holders of subordinated units in proportion to the positive balances in their capital accounts and
2.0% to our general partner, until the capital accounts of the subordinated unitholders have been reduced to
Zero;

second, 98.0% to the holders of common units in proportion to the positive balances in their capital accounts
and 2.0% to our general partner, until the capital accounts of the common unitholders have been reduced to
zero; and

thereafter, 100.0% to our general partner.

If the liquidation occurs after the end of the subordination period, the distinction between common and subordinated
units will disappear, so that all of the first bullet point above will no longer be applicable.

As discussed in  Adjustments to Capital Accounts below, in certain circumstances we could allocate loss other than as
set forth above if the liquidation occurs prior to the end of the subordination period and we previously allocated
unrealized and unrecognized loss resulting from the adjustments to capital accounts upon the issuance of additional

units.

Adjustments to Capital Accounts
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Our partnership agreement requires that we make adjustments to capital accounts upon the issuance of additional
units. In this regard, our partnership agreement generally specifies that we allocate any unrealized and, for tax
purposes, unrecognized gain or loss resulting from the adjustments to the unitholders and the general partner in the
same manner as we allocate gain or loss upon liquidation. In the event that we make positive adjustments to the capital
accounts upon the issuance of additional units, our partnership agreement requires that we allocate any later negative
adjustments to the capital accounts resulting from the issuance of additional units or upon our liquidation in a manner
which results, to the extent possible, in the general partner s capital account balances equaling the amount which they
would have been if no earlier positive adjustments to the capital accounts had been made.
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On April 15, 2009, our partnership agreement was amended to provide that any net termination losses treated as
arising during the subordination period as a result of an adjustment to the carrying value of our assets in connection
with an issuance by us of additional units will be allocated among the holders of subordinated units and common units
in proportion to their percentage interests. As a result of this amendment, if we liquidate during the subordination
period it is possible there would be less net termination gain to be allocated to unitholders holding common units,
resulting in those unitholders receiving less liquidation proceeds than they would have under our partnership
agreement prior to this amendment. In order to mitigate the possibility of adverse consequences to our common units
of this revised allocation, our partnership agreement was also amended to provide that, in the event we liquidate
during the subordination period, we will allocate items of income, gain, loss and deduction that would otherwise be
included in the computation of net termination gain or net termination loss and, if necessary, items included in our net
income or net losses, in each case to the extent possible, so that the capital account of each common unit will equal the
amount it would have been had we not amended our partnership agreement.

Limitations on Cash Distributions and our Ability to Change our Cash Distribution Policy

There is no guarantee that our unitholders will receive quarterly distributions from us. We do not have a legal
obligation to pay the minimum quarterly distribution or any other distribution except as provided in our partnership
agreement. Our cash distribution policy may be changed at any time and is subject to certain restrictions, including the
following:

Our general partner will have the authority to establish reserves for the prudent conduct of our business and for
future cash distributions to our unitholders, and the establishment or increase of those reserves could result in a
reduction in cash distributions to you from the levels we currently anticipate pursuant to our stated distribution
policy. Any determination to establish cash reserves made by our general partner in good faith will be binding
on our unitholders. Our partnership agreement provides that in order for a determination by our general partner
to be made in good faith, our general partner must believe that the determination is in our best interests.

While our partnership agreement requires us to distribute all of our available cash, our partnership agreement,
including the provisions requiring us to make cash distributions contained therein, may be amended. Provisions
in our partnership agreement related to cash distributions generally may not be amended during the
subordination period without the approval of our public common unitholders. However, our partnership
agreement can be amended with the consent of our general partner and the approval of a majority of the
outstanding common units (including common units held by Anadarko) and the Class B units issued upon the
reset of incentive distribution rights, if any, voting as a single class after the subordination period has ended.

Even if our cash distribution policy is not modified or revoked, the amount of distributions we pay under our
cash distribution policy and the decision to make any distribution is determined by our general partner, taking
into consideration the terms of our partnership agreement.

Under Section 17-607 of the Delaware Revised Uniform Limited Partnership Act, we may not make a
distribution to you if the distribution would cause our liabilities to exceed the fair value of our assets.

We may lack sufficient cash to pay distributions to our unitholders due to increases in our operating or general
and administrative expense, principal and interest payments on our debt, tax expenses, working capital

requirements and anticipated cash needs.
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THE LIMITED PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT

The following is a summary of the material provisions of our partnership agreement. We will provide prospective
investors with a copy of our partnership agreement upon request at no charge.

We summarize the following provisions of our partnership agreement elsewhere in this prospectus:
with regard to distributions of available cash, please read Cash Distribution Policy ;

with regard to the transfer of common units, please read Description of the Common Units Transfer of
Common Units ; and

with regard to allocations of taxable income and taxable loss, please read Income Tax Considerations.
Organization and Duration
Our partnership was organized in August 2007 and our partnership agreement provides for a perpetual existence.
Purpose

Our purpose, as set forth in our partnership agreement, is generally limited to any business activity that is approved by
our general partner and that lawfully may be conducted by a limited partnership organized under Delaware law;
provided that, our general partner shall not cause us to engage, directly or indirectly, in any business activity that the
general partner determines would cause us to be treated as an association taxable as a corporation or otherwise taxable
as an entity for federal income tax purposes.

Although our general partner has the ability to cause us and our subsidiaries to engage in activities other than the
business of gathering, processing, compressing, treating and transporting natural gas, our general partner has no
current plans to do so and may decline to do so free of any fiduciary duty or obligation whatsoever to us or the limited
partners, including any duty to act in good faith or in the best interests of us or the limited partners. Our general
partner is generally authorized to perform all acts it determines to be necessary or appropriate to carry out our
purposes and to conduct our business.

Power of Attorney

Each limited partner, and each person who acquires a unit from a unitholder, by accepting the common unit,
automatically grants to our general partner and, if appointed, a liquidator, a power of attorney to, among other things,
execute and file documents required for our qualification, continuance or dissolution. The power of attorney also
grants our general partner the authority, in accordance with the partnership agreement, to amend, and to make
consents and waivers under, our partnership agreement.

Cash Distributions
Our partnership agreement specifies the manner in which we will make cash distributions to holders of our common
units and other partnership securities as well as to our general partner in respect of its general partner interest and its

incentive distribution rights. For a description of these cash distribution provisions, please read Cash Distribution
Policy.
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Capital Contributions

Unitholders are not obligated to make additional capital contributions, except as described under Description of the
Common Units Limited Liability.

If we issue additional units, our general partner has the right, but not the obligation, to contribute a proportionate
amount of capital to us to maintain its 2.0% general partner interest. Our general partner s 2.0% interest, and the
percentage of our cash distributions to which it is entitled, will be proportionately reduced if we issue additional units
in the future and our general partner does not contribute a proportionate amount of capital to us to maintain its 2.0%
general partner interest.
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Issuance of Additional Securities

Our partnership agreement authorizes us to issue an unlimited number of additional partnership securities for the
consideration and on the terms and conditions determined by our general partner without the approval of the
unitholders.

It is possible that we will fund acquisitions through the issuance of additional common units, subordinated units or
other partnership securities. Holders of any additional common units we issue will be entitled to share equally with the
then-existing holders of common units in our distributions of available cash. In addition, the issuance of additional
common units or other partnership securities may dilute the value of the interests of the then-existing holders of
common units in our net assets.

In accordance with Delaware law and the provisions of our partnership agreement, we may also issue additional
partnership securities that, as determined by our general partner, may have special voting rights to which the common
units are not entitled. In addition, our partnership agreement does not prohibit our subsidiaries from issuing equity
securities, which may effectively rank senior to the common units.

Upon issuance of additional partnership securities (other than the issuance of partnership securities issued in
connection with a reset of the incentive distribution target levels relating to our general partner s incentive distribution
rights or the issuance of common units upon conversion of Class B units), our general partner will be entitled, but not
required, to make additional capital contributions to the extent necessary to maintain its 2.0% general partner interest
in us. Our general partner s 2.0% interest in us will be reduced if we issue additional units in the future and our general
partner does not contribute a proportionate amount of capital to us to maintain its 2.0% general partner interest.
Moreover, our general partner will have the right, which it may from time to time assign in whole or in part to any of
its affiliates, to purchase common units, subordinated units or other partnership securities whenever, and on the same
terms that, we issue those securities to persons other than our general partner and its affiliates, to the extent necessary
to maintain the percentage interest of the general partner and its affiliates, including such interest represented by
common and subordinated units, that existed immediately prior to each issuance. The holders of common units will
not have preemptive rights to acquire additional common units or other partnership securities.

Amendment of the Partnership Agreement
General

Amendments to our partnership agreement may be proposed only by or with the consent of our general partner.
However, our general partner, to the fullest extent permitted by law, will have no duty or obligation to propose any
amendment and may decline to do so free of any fiduciary duty or obligation whatsoever to us or the limited partners,
including any duty to act in good faith or in the best interests of us or the limited partners. In order to adopt a proposed
amendment, other than the amendments discussed below, our general partner is required to seek written approval of
the holders of the number of units required to approve the amendment or to call a meeting of the limited partners to
consider and vote upon the proposed amendment. Except as described below, an amendment must be approved by a
unit majority.

Prohibited Amendments
No amendment may be made that would:

enlarge the obligations of any limited partner without its consent, unless approved by at least a majority of the
type or class of limited partner interests so affected; or
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enlarge the obligations of, restrict in any way any action by or rights of, or reduce in any way the amounts
distributable, reimbursable or otherwise payable by us to our general partner or any of its affiliates without the
consent of our general partner, which consent may be given or withheld at its option.

The provision of our partnership agreement preventing the amendments having the effects described in the clauses
above can be amended upon the approval of the holders of at least 90% of the outstanding units,
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voting as a single class (including units owned by our general partner and its affiliates). As of March 31, 2009, our
general partner and its affiliates own approximately 62.6% of our outstanding common and subordinated units.

No Unitholder Approval

Our general partner may generally make amendments to our partnership agreement without the approval of any
limited partner or assignee to reflect:

a change in our name, the location of our principal place of business, our registered agent or our registered
office;

the admission, substitution, withdrawal or removal of partners in accordance with our partnership agreement;

a change that our general partner determines to be necessary or appropriate to qualify or continue our
qualification as a limited partnership or a partnership in which the limited partners have limited liability under
the laws of any state or to ensure that neither we nor the operating partnership nor any of its subsidiaries will be
treated as an association taxable as a corporation or otherwise taxed as an entity for federal income tax
purposes;

an amendment that is necessary, in the opinion of our counsel, to prevent us or our general partner or its
directors, officers, agents or trustees from, in any manner, being subjected to the provisions of the Investment
Company Act of 1940, the Investment Advisors Act of 1940 or plan asset regulations adopted under the
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 ( ERISA )(whether or not substantially similar to plan asset
regulations currently applied or proposed);

an amendment that our general partner determines to be necessary or appropriate for the authorization of
additional partnership securities or the right to acquire partnership securities, including any amendment that our
general partner determines is necessary or appropriate in connection with:

the adjustments of the minimum quarterly distribution, first target distribution, second target distribution and
third target distribution in connection with the reset of our general partner s incentive distribution rights as
described under Cash Distribution Policy ~ General Partner s Right to Reset Incentive Distribution Levels, or

any modification of the incentive distribution rights made in connection with the issuance of additional
partnership securities or rights to acquire partnership securities, provided that, any such modifications and
related issuance of partnership securities have received approval by a majority of the members of the special
committee of our general partner;

any amendment expressly permitted in our partnership agreement to be made by our general partner acting
alone;

an amendment effected, necessitated or contemplated by a merger agreement that has been approved under the
terms of our partnership agreement;

any amendment that our general partner determines to be necessary or appropriate for the formation by us of,
or our investment in, any corporation, partnership or other entity, as otherwise permitted by our partnership

agreement;

a change in our fiscal year or taxable year and related changes;
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no assets, liabilities or operations at the time of the conversion, merger or conveyance other than those it
receives by way of the conversion, merger or conveyance; or

any other amendments substantially similar to any of the matters described in the clauses above.
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In addition, our general partner may make amendments to our partnership agreement, without the approval of any
limited partner, if our general partner determines that those amendments:

do not adversely affect the limited partners (or any particular class of limited partners) in any material respect;

are necessary or appropriate to satisfy any requirements, conditions or guidelines contained in any opinion,
directive, order, ruling or regulation of any federal or state agency or judicial authority or contained in any
federal or state statute;

are necessary or appropriate to facilitate the trading of limited partner interests or to comply with any rule,
regulation, guideline or requirement of any securities exchange on which the limited partner interests are or
will be listed for trading;

are necessary or appropriate for any action taken by our general partner relating to splits or combinations of
units under the provisions of our partnership agreement; or

are required to effect the intent of the provisions of our partnership agreement or are otherwise contemplated
by our partnership agreement.

Opinion of Counsel and Unitholder Approval

Except for the amendments described above under ~ No Unitholder Approval, which amendments do not require
unitholder approval, no other amendments to our partnership agreement will become effective without the approval of
holders of at least 90% of the outstanding units, voting as a single class, unless we first obtain an opinion of counsel to
the effect that the amendment will not affect the limited liability under applicable law of any of our limited partners.

In addition to the above restrictions, any amendment that would have a material adverse effect on the rights or
preferences of any type or class of outstanding units in relation to other classes of units will require the approval of at
least a majority of the type or class of units so affected. Any amendment that reduces the voting percentage required to
take any action is required to be approved by the affirmative vote of limited partners whose aggregate outstanding
units constitute not less than the voting requirement sought to be reduced.

Merger, Consolidation, Conversion, Sale or Other Disposition of Assets

A merger, consolidation or conversion of us requires the prior consent of our general partner. However, our general
partner will have no duty or obligation to consent to any merger, consolidation or conversion and may decline to do so
free of any fiduciary duty or obligation whatsoever to us or the limited partners, including any duty to act in good faith
or in the best interest of us or the limited partners.

In addition, the partnership agreement generally prohibits our general partner, without the prior approval of the
holders of a unit majority, from causing us to, among other things, sell, exchange or otherwise dispose of all or
substantially all of our assets in a single transaction or a series of related transactions, including by way of merger,
consolidation or other combination, or approving on our behalf the sale, exchange or other disposition of all or
substantially all of the assets of our subsidiaries. Our general partner may, however, mortgage, pledge, hypothecate or
grant a security interest in all or substantially all of our assets without such approval. Our general partner may also sell
all or substantially all of our assets under a foreclosure or other realization upon those encumbrances without such
approval. Finally, our general partner may consummate any merger without the prior approval of our unitholders if we
are the surviving entity in the transaction, our general partner has received an opinion of counsel regarding limited
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liability and tax matters, the transaction would not result in a material amendment to the partnership agreement, each
of our units will be an identical unit of our partnership following the transaction and the partnership securities to be
issued do not exceed 20% of our outstanding partnership securities immediately prior to the transaction.

If the conditions specified in the partnership agreement are satisfied, our general partner may convert us or any of our
subsidiaries into a new limited liability entity or merge us or any of our subsidiaries into, or
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convey all of our assets to, a newly formed entity, if the sole purpose of that conversion, merger or conveyance is to
effect a mere change in our legal form into another limited liability entity, our general partner has received an opinion
of counsel regarding limited liability and tax matters and the governing instruments of the new entity provide the
limited partners and our general partner with the same rights and obligations as contained in the partnership
agreement. Our unitholders are not entitled to dissenters rights of appraisal under the partnership agreement or
applicable Delaware law in the event of a conversion, merger or consolidation, a sale of substantially all of our assets
or any other similar transaction or event.

Termination and Dissolution
We will continue as a limited partnership until terminated under our partnership agreement. We will dissolve upon:

the election of our general partner to dissolve us, if approved by the holders of units representing a unit
majority;

there being no limited partners, unless we are continued without dissolution in accordance with applicable
Delaware law;

the entry of a decree of judicial dissolution of our partnership; or

the withdrawal or removal of our general partner or any other event that results in its ceasing to be our general

partner other than by reason of a transfer of its general partner interest in accordance with our partnership

agreement or its withdrawal or removal following the approval and admission of a successor. Please read
Withdrawal or Removal of the General Partner.

Upon a dissolution under the last clause above, the holders of a unit majority may also elect, within specific time
limitations, to continue our business on the same terms and conditions described in our partnership agreement by
appointing as a successor general partner an entity approved by the holders of units representing a unit majority,

subject to our receipt of an opinion of counsel to the effect that:

the action would not result in the loss of limited liability of any limited partner; and

neither our partnership, our operating partnership nor any of our other subsidiaries would be treated as an
association taxable as a corporation or otherwise be taxable as an entity for federal income tax purposes upon
the exercise of that right to continue.

Liquidation and Distribution of Proceeds

Upon our dissolution, unless we are continued as a new limited partnership, the liquidator authorized to wind up our
affairs will, acting with all of the powers of our general partner that are necessary or appropriate, liquidate our assets
and apply the proceeds of the liquidation as described in Cash Distribution Policy  Distributions of Cash Upon
Liquidation. The liquidator may defer liquidation or distribution of our assets for a reasonable period of time or
distribute assets to partners in kind if it determines that a sale would be impractical or would cause undue loss to our
partners.

Withdrawal or Removal of the General Partner

Except as described below, our general partner has agreed not to withdraw voluntarily as our general partner prior to
June 30, 2018 without obtaining the approval of the holders of at least a majority of the outstanding common units,
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excluding common units held by the general partner and its affiliates, and furnishing an opinion of counsel regarding
limited liability and tax matters. On or after June 30, 2018, our general partner may withdraw as general partner
without first obtaining approval of any unitholder by giving 90 days written notice, and that withdrawal will not
constitute a violation of our partnership agreement. Notwithstanding the information above, our general partner may
withdraw without unitholder approval upon 90 days notice to the limited partners if at least 50% of the outstanding
common units are held or controlled by one unitholder and its affiliates, other than the general partner and its
affiliates. In addition, the partnership agreement permits our general partner, in some instances, to sell or otherwise
transfer all of its general partner
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interest in us without the approval of the unitholders. Please read  Transfer of General Partner Units and  Transfer of
Incentive Distribution Rights.

Upon withdrawal of our general partner under any circumstances, other than as a result of a transfer by our general
partner of all or a part of its general partner interest in us, the holders of a unit majority, voting as separate classes,
may select a successor to that withdrawing general partner. If a successor is not elected, or is elected but an opinion of
counsel regarding limited liability and tax matters cannot be obtained, we will be dissolved, wound up and liquidated,
unless within a specified period after that withdrawal, the holders of a unit majority agree in writing to continue our
business and to appoint a successor general partner. Please read  Termination and Dissolution.

Our general partner may not be removed unless that removal is approved by the vote of the holders of not less than
662/3% of the outstanding units, voting together as a single class, including units held by our general partner and its
affiliates, and we receive an opinion of counsel regarding limited liability and tax matters. Any removal of our general
partner is also subject to the approval of a successor general partner by the vote of the holders of a majority of the
outstanding common units, voting as a single class, and the outstanding subordinated units, voting as a single class. As
of March 31, 2009, our general partner and its affiliates own 62.6% of our outstanding common and subordinated
units, giving them the practical ability to prevent our general partner s removal.

Our partnership agreement also provides that if our general partner is removed as our general partner under
circumstances where cause does not exist and the units held by the general partner and its affiliates are not voted in
favor of that removal:

the subordination period will end, and all outstanding subordinated units will immediately convert into
common units on a one-for-one basis;

any existing arrearages in payment of the minimum quarterly distribution on the common units will be
extinguished; and

our general partner will have the right to convert its general partner interest and its incentive distribution rights
into common units or to receive cash in exchange for those interests based on the fair market value of those
interests at that time.

In the event of the removal of a general partner under circumstances where cause exists or withdrawal of a general
partner where that withdrawal violates our partnership agreement, a successor general partner will have the option to
purchase the general partner interest and incentive distribution rights of the departing general partner for a cash
payment equal to the fair market value of those interests. Under all other circumstances where a general partner
withdraws or is removed by the limited partners, the departing general partner will have the option to require the
successor general partner to purchase the general partner interest of the departing general partner and its incentive
distribution rights for fair market value. In each case, this fair market value will be determined by agreement between
the departing general partner and the successor general partner. If no agreement is reached, an independent investment
banking firm or other independent expert selected by the departing general partner and the successor general partner
will determine the fair market value. Or, if the departing general partner and the successor general partner cannot
agree upon an expert, then an expert chosen by agreement of the experts selected by each of them will determine the
fair market value.

If the option described above is not exercised by either the departing general partner or the successor general partner,
the departing general partner s general partner interest and its incentive distribution rights will automatically convert
into common units equal to the fair market value of those interests as determined by an investment banking firm or
other independent expert selected in the manner described in the preceding paragraph.
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In addition, we will be required to reimburse the departing general partner for all amounts due to the departing general
partner, including, without limitation, all employee-related liabilities, including severance liabilities incurred as a
result of the termination of any employees employed for our benefit by the departing general partner or its affiliates.
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Transfer of General Partner Units

Except for transfer by our general partner of all, but not less than all, of its general partner units to:
an affiliate of our general partner (other than an individual); or

another entity as part of the merger or consolidation of our general partner with or into another entity or the
transfer by our general partner of all or substantially all of its assets to another entity,

our general partner may not transfer all or any of its general partner units to another person prior to June 30, 2018
without the approval of the holders of at least a majority of the outstanding common units, excluding common units
held by our general partner and its affiliates. As a condition of this transfer, the transferee must assume, among other
things, the rights and duties of our general partner, agree to be bound by the provisions of our partnership agreement
and furnish an opinion of counsel regarding limited liability and tax matters.

On or after June 30, 2018, our general partner may, at any time, transfer its general partner units without unitholder
approval.

Transfer of Ownership Interests in the General Partner

At any time, Anadarko and its affiliates may sell or transfer all or part of its partnership interests in our general partner
to an affiliate or third party without the approval of our unitholders.

Transfer of Incentive Distribution Rights

Our general partner or its affiliates or a subsequent holder may transfer its incentive distribution rights to an affiliate
of the holder (other than an individual) or another entity as part of the merger or consolidation of such holder with or
into another entity, the sale of all of the ownership interest in the holder or the sale of all or substantially all of the
holder s assets to that entity without the prior approval of the unitholders. Prior to June 30, 2018, other transfers of
incentive distribution rights will require the affirmative vote of holders of a majority of the outstanding common units,
excluding common units held by our general partner and its affiliates. On or after June 30, 2018, the incentive
distribution rights will be freely transferable.

Non-U.S. and Non-Taxpaying Assignees; Redemption
Our general partner, acting on our behalf, may at any time require any or all unitholders to certify:

that the unitholder is a U.S. individual or an entity subject to U.S. federal income taxation on the income
generated by us; or

that, if the unitholder is a U.S. entity not subject to U.S. federal income taxation on the income generated by us,
as in the case, for example, of a mutual fund taxed as a regulated investment company or a partnership, all the
entity s owners are U.S. individuals or entities subject to U.S. federal income taxation on the income generated

by us.

This certification can be changed in any manner our general partner determines is necessary or appropriate to
implement its original purpose.

If a unitholder fails to furnish:
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provides a false certification; then
we will have the right, which we may assign to any of our affiliates, to acquire all but not less than all of the units held
by such unitholder. Further, our general partner may elect not to make distributions or allocate income or loss to such

unitholder.
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The purchase price in the event of such an acquisition for each unit held by such unitholder will be the lesser of:
(1) the price paid by such unitholder for the relevant unit; and

(2) the average of the daily closing prices of the units for the prior 20 consecutive trading days.

The purchase price will be paid in cash or by delivery of a promissory note, as determined by our general partner. Any
such promissory note will bear interest at the rate of 5% annually and be payable in three equal annual installments of
principal and accrued interest, commencing one year after the redemption date.

Meetings; Voting

Except as described below regarding a person or group owning 20% or more of any class of units then outstanding,
record holders of units on the record date will be entitled to notice of, and to vote at, meetings of our limited partners
and to act upon matters for which approvals may be solicited.

Our general partner does not anticipate that any meeting of our unitholders will be called in the foreseeable future.
Any action that is required or permitted to be taken by the unitholders may be taken either at a meeting of the
unitholders or, if authorized by our general partner, without a meeting, if consents in writing describing the action so
taken are signed by holders of the number of units necessary to authorize or take that action at a meeting. Meetings of
the unitholders may be called by our general partner or by unitholders owning at least 20% of the outstanding units of
the class for which a meeting is proposed. Unitholders may vote either in person or by proxy at meetings. The holders
of a majority of the outstanding units of the class or classes for which a meeting has been called, represented in person
or by proxy, will constitute a quorum, unless any action by the unitholders requires approval by holders of a greater
percentage of the units, in which case the quorum will be the greater percentage.

Each record holder of a unit has a vote according to his percentage interest in us, although additional limited partner
interests having special voting rights could be issued. Please read  Issuance of Additional Securities. However, if at
any time any person or group, other than our general partner and its affiliates, or a direct or subsequently approved
transferee of our general partner or its affiliates, acquires, in the aggregate, beneficial ownership of 20% or more of
any class of units then outstanding, that person or group will lose voting rights on all of its units and the units may not
be voted on any matter and will not be considered to be outstanding when sending notices of a meeting of unitholders,
calculating required votes, determining the presence of a quorum or for other similar purposes. Common units held in
nominee or street name account will be voted by the broker or other nominee in accordance with the instruction of the
beneficial owner unless the arrangement between the beneficial owner and his nominee provides otherwise. Except as
our partnership agreement otherwise provides, subordinated units will vote together with common units, as a single
class.

Any notice, demand, request, report or proxy material required or permitted to be given or made to record holders of
common units under our partnership agreement will be delivered to the record holder by us or by the transfer agent.

Status as Limited Partner

By transfer of common units in accordance with our partnership agreement, each transferee of common units shall be
admitted as a limited partner with respect to the common units transferred when such transfer and admission are
reflected in our books and records. Except as described under Description of the Common Units Limited Liability,

the common units will be fully paid, and unitholders will not be required to make additional contributions.

Non-Citizen Assignees; Redemption
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general partner, create a substantial risk of cancellation or forfeiture of any property that we have an interest in
because of the nationality, citizenship or other related status of any limited partner, we
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may redeem the units held by that limited partner at their current market price. In order to avoid any cancellation or
forfeiture, our general partner may require each limited partner to furnish information about his nationality, citizenship
or related status. If a limited partner fails to furnish information about his nationality, citizenship or other related
status within 30 days of a request for the information or our general partner determines after receipt of the information
that the limited partner is not an eligible citizen, the limited partner may be treated as a non-citizen assignee. A
non-citizen assignee is entitled to an interest equivalent to that of a limited partner for the right to share in allocations
and distributions from us, including liquidating distributions. A non-citizen assignee does not have the right to direct
the voting of his units and may not receive distributions in-kind upon our liquidation.

Indemnification

Under our partnership agreement, in most circumstances, we will indemnify the following persons, to the fullest
extent permitted by law, from and against all losses, claims, damages or similar events:

our general partner;
any departing general partner;
any person who is or was an affiliate of a general partner or any departing general partner;

any person who is or was a director, officer, member, partner, fiduciary or trustee of any entity set forth in the
preceding three bullet points;

any person who is or was serving as director, officer, member, partner, fiduciary or trustee of another person at
the request of our general partner or any departing general partner; and

any person designated by our general partner.

Any indemnification under these provisions will only be out of our assets. Unless our general partner otherwise
agrees, it will not be personally liable for, or have any obligation to contribute or lend funds or assets to us to enable
us to effectuate, indemnification. We may purchase insurance against liabilities asserted against and expenses incurred
by persons for our activities, regardless of whether we would have the power to indemnify the person against
liabilities under our partnership agreement.

Reimbursement of Expenses

Our partnership agreement requires us to reimburse our general partner for all direct and indirect expenses it incurs or
payments it makes on our behalf and all other expenses allocable to us or otherwise incurred by our general partner in
connection with the operation of our business. These expenses include salary, bonus, incentive compensation and
other amounts paid to persons who perform services for us or on our behalf and expenses allocated to our general
partner by its affiliates. Our general partner is entitled to determine in good faith the expenses that are allocable to us.

Books and Reports
Our general partner is required to keep appropriate books of our business at our principal offices. These books will be

maintained for both tax and financial reporting purposes on an accrual basis. For tax and fiscal reporting purposes, our
fiscal year is the calendar year.
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We will furnish or make available to record holders of our common units, within 120 days after the close of each
fiscal year, an annual report containing audited financial statements and a report on those financial statements by our
independent public accountants. Except for our fourth quarter, we will also furnish or make available summary
financial information within 90 days after the close of each quarter.

We will furnish each record holder with information reasonably required for tax reporting purposes within 90 days
after the close of each calendar year. This information is expected to be furnished in summary form so that some
complex calculations normally required of partners can be avoided. Our ability to furnish this summary information to
our unitholders will depend on their cooperation in supplying us with specific
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information. Every unitholder will receive information to assist him in determining his federal and state tax liability
and in filing his federal and state income tax returns, regardless of whether he supplies us with the necessary
information.

Right to Inspect our Books and Records
Our partnership agreement provides that a limited partner can, for a purpose reasonably related to his interest as a
limited partner, upon reasonable written demand stating the purpose of such demand and at his own expense, have
furnished to him:
a current list of the name and last known address of each partner;
a copy of our tax returns;
information as to the amount of cash, and a description and statement of the agreed value of any other property
or services, contributed or to be contributed by each partner and the date on which each partner became a

partner;

copies of our partnership agreement, our certificate of limited partnership and related amendments and powers
of attorney under which they have been executed;

information regarding the status of our business and our financial condition; and
any other information regarding our affairs as is just and reasonable.

Our general partner may, and intends to, keep confidential from the limited partners trade secrets or other information
the disclosure of which our general partner believes in good faith is not in our best interests or that we are required by
law or by agreements with third parties to keep confidential.

Registration Rights

Under our partnership agreement, we have agreed to register for resale under the Securities Act and applicable state
securities laws any common units, subordinated units or other partnership securities proposed to be sold by our
general partner or any of its affiliates or their assignees if an exemption from the registration requirements is not
otherwise available. These registration rights continue for two years following any withdrawal or removal of Western
Gas Holdings, LLC as our general partner. We are obligated to pay all expenses incidental to the registration,
excluding underwriting discounts and fees.
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INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS

This section is a summary of the material tax considerations that may be relevant to prospective unitholders who are
individual citizens or residents of the U.S. and, unless otherwise noted in the following discussion, is the opinion of
McKee Nelson LLP, counsel to our general partner and us, insofar as it relates to legal conclusions with respect to
matters of U.S. federal income tax law. This section is based upon current provisions of the Internal Revenue Code,
existing and proposed regulations and current administrative rulings and court decisions, all of which are subject to
change. Later changes in these authorities may cause the tax consequences to vary substantially from the
consequences described below. Unless the context otherwise requires, references in this section to us or we are
references to Western Gas Partners, LP and WGR Operating, LP, our operating company.

The following discussion does not comment on all federal income tax matters affecting us or our unitholders.
Moreover, the discussion focuses on unitholders who are individual citizens or residents of the U.S. and has only
limited application to corporations, estates, trusts, nonresident aliens or other unitholders subject to specialized tax
treatment, such as tax-exempt institutions, foreign persons, individual retirement accounts (IRAs), real estate
investment trusts (REITSs), employee benefit plans or mutual funds. Accordingly, we encourage each prospective
unitholder to consult, and depend on, his own tax advisor in analyzing the federal, state, local and foreign tax
consequences particular to him of the ownership or disposition of common units.

All statements as to matters of law and legal conclusions, but not as to factual matters, contained in this section, unless
otherwise noted, are the opinion of McKee Nelson LLP and are based on the accuracy of the representations made by
us.

No ruling has been or will be requested from the IRS regarding any matter affecting us or prospective unitholders.
Instead, we will rely on opinions of McKee Nelson LLP. Unlike a ruling, an opinion of counsel represents only that
counsel s best legal judgment and does not bind the IRS or the courts. Accordingly, the opinions and statements made
herein may not be sustained by a court if contested by the IRS. Any contest of this sort with the IRS may materially
and adversely impact the market for the common units and the prices at which the common units trade. In addition,
the costs of any contest with the IRS, principally legal, accounting and related fees, will result in a reduction in cash
available for distribution to our unitholders and our general partner and thus will be borne indirectly by our
unitholders and our general partner. Furthermore, the tax treatment of us, or of an investment in us, may be
significantly modified by future legislative or administrative changes or court decisions. Any modifications may or
may not be retroactively applied.

For the reasons described below, McKee Nelson LLP has not rendered an opinion with respect to the following

specific federal income tax issues: (1) the treatment of a unitholder whose common units are loaned to a short seller to
cover a short sale of common units (please read  Tax Consequences of Unit Ownership Treatment of Short Sales );
(2) whether our monthly convention for allocating taxable income and losses is permitted by existing Treasury
Regulations (please read  Disposition of Common Units  Allocations Between Transferors and Transferees ); and
(3) whether our method for depreciating Section 743 adjustments is sustainable in certain cases (please read  Tax
Consequences of Unit Ownership Section 754 Election and  Uniformity of Units ).

Partnership Status
A partnership is not a taxable entity and incurs no federal income tax liability. Instead, each partner of a partnership is

required to take into account his share of items of income, gain, loss and deduction of the partnership in computing his
federal income tax liability, regardless of whether cash distributions are made to him by the partnership. Distributions
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by a partnership to a partner are generally not taxable to the partner unless the amount of cash distributed is in excess
of the partner s adjusted basis in his partnership interest.

Section 7704 of the Internal Revenue Code provides that publicly traded partnerships will, as a general rule, be taxed
as corporations. However, an exception, referred to as the Qualifying Income Exception, exists with respect to
publicly traded partnerships of which 90% or more of the gross income for every taxable year
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consists of qualifying income. Qualifying income includes income and gains derived from the transportation, storage,
processing and marketing of crude oil, natural gas and products thereof. Other types of qualifying income include
interest (other than from a financial business), dividends, gains from the sale of real property and gains from the sale

or other disposition of capital assets held for the production of income that otherwise constitutes qualifying income.

We estimate that less than 2% of our current gross income is not qualifying income; however, this estimate could
change from time to time. Based upon and subject to this estimate, the factual representations made by us and our
general partner and a review of the applicable legal authorities, McKee Nelson LLP is of the opinion that at least 90%
of our current gross income constitutes qualifying income. The portion of our income that is qualifying income can
change from time to time.

A publicly traded partnership may not rely upon the Qualifying Income Exception if it is registered under the
Investment Company Act of 1940 (the Investment Company Act ). If we were required to register under the
Investment Company Act, we would be taxed as a corporation even if we met the Qualifying Income Exception.
McKee Nelson LLP is of the opinion that we may rely on the Qualifying Income Exception.

No ruling has been or will be sought from the IRS and the IRS has made no determination as to our status or the status

of the operating company for federal income tax purposes or whether our operations generate qualifying income under
Section 7704 of the Internal Revenue Code. Instead, we will rely on the opinion of McKee Nelson LLP on such

matters. It is the opinion of McKee Nelson LLP that, based upon the Internal Revenue Code, Treasury Regulations,
published revenue rulings and court decisions and the representations described below, we will be classified as a
partnership and our operating company will be disregarded as an entity separate from us for federal income tax

purposes.

In rendering its opinion, McKee Nelson LLP has relied on factual representations made by us and our general partner.
The representations made by us and our general partner upon which McKee Nelson LLP has relied include:

(a) Neither we nor the operating company has elected or will elect to be treated as a corporation;

(b) For each taxable year, more than 90% of our gross income has been and will be income that McKee Nelson LLP
has opined or will opine is qualifying income within the meaning of Section 7704(d) of the Internal Revenue
Code; and

(c) Each hedging transaction that we treat as resulting in qualifying income has been and will be appropriately
identified as a hedging transaction pursuant to applicable Treasury Regulations, and has been and will be associated
with oil, gas, or products thereof that are held or to be held by us in activities that McKee Nelson LLP has opined or
will opine result in qualifying income.

If we fail to meet the Qualifying Income Exception, other than a failure that is determined by the IRS to be inadvertent
and that is cured within a reasonable time after discovery, in which case the IRS may also require us to make
adjustments with respect to our unitholders or pay other amounts, we will be treated as if we had transferred all of our
assets, subject to liabilities, to a newly formed corporation, on the first day of the year in which we fail to meet the
Qualifying Income Exception, in return for stock in that corporation, and then distributed that stock to the unitholders
in liquidation of their interests in us. This deemed contribution and liquidation should be tax-free to unitholders and us
so long as we, at that time, do not have liabilities in excess of the tax basis of our assets. Thereafter, we would be
treated as a corporation for federal income tax purposes.

If we were treated as an association taxable as a corporation in any taxable year, either as a result of a failure to meet
the Qualifying Income Exception or otherwise, our items of income, gain, loss and deduction would be reflected only
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on our tax return rather than being passed through to our unitholders, and our net income would be taxed to us at
corporate rates. In addition, any distribution made to a unitholder would be treated as either taxable dividend income,
to the extent of our current or accumulated earnings and profits, or, in the absence of earnings and profits, a
nontaxable return of capital, to the extent of the unitholder s tax basis in his common units, or taxable capital gain,
after the unitholder s tax basis in his common units is reduced to
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zero. Accordingly, taxation as a corporation would result in a material reduction in a unitholder s cash flow and
after-tax return and thus would likely result in a substantial reduction of the value of the units.

The discussion below is based on McKee Nelson LLP s opinion that we will be classified as a partnership for federal
income tax purposes.

Limited Partner Status

Unitholders who have become limited partners of Western Gas Partners, LP will be treated as partners of Western Gas
Partners, LP for federal income tax purposes. Also, unitholders whose common units are held in street name or by a
nominee and who have the right to direct the nominee in the exercise of all substantive rights attendant to the
ownership of their common units will be treated as partners of Western Gas Partners, LP for federal income tax
purposes.

A beneficial owner of common units whose units have been transferred to a short seller to complete a short sale would
appear to lose his status as a partner with respect to those units for federal income tax purposes. Please read  Tax
Consequences of Unit Ownership Treatment of Short Sales.

Income, gain, deductions or losses are not reportable by a unitholder who is not a partner for federal income tax
purposes, and any cash distributions received by a unitholder who is not a partner for federal income tax purposes
would therefore appear to be fully taxable as ordinary income. These holders are urged to consult their own tax
advisors with respect to their tax consequences of holding common units in Western Gas Partners, LP. References to

unitholders in the discussion that follows are to persons who are treated as partners in Western Gas Partners, LP for
federal income tax purposes.

Tax Consequences of Unit Ownership
Flow-Through of Taxable Income

We will not pay any federal income tax. Instead, each unitholder will be required to report on his income tax return his
share of our income, gains, losses and deductions without regard to whether we make cash distributions to him.
Consequently, we may allocate income to a unitholder even if he has not received a cash distribution. Each unitholder
will be required to include in income his allocable share of our income, gains, losses and deductions for our taxable
year ending with or within his taxable year. Our taxable year ends on December 31.

Treatment of Distributions

Distributions by us to a unitholder generally will not be taxable to the unitholder for federal income tax purposes,

except to the extent the amount of any such cash distribution exceeds his tax basis in his common units immediately

before the distribution. Our cash distributions in excess of a unitholder s tax basis in his common units generally will

be considered to be gain from the sale or exchange of the common units, taxable in accordance with the rules

described under  Disposition of Common Units below. Any reduction in a unitholder s share of our liabilities for which
no partner, including the general partner, bears the economic risk of loss, known as nonrecourse liabilities, will be

treated as a distribution of cash to that unitholder. To the extent our distributions cause a unitholder s at-risk amount to
be less than zero at the end of any taxable year, the unitholder must recapture any losses deducted in previous years.

Please read  Tax Consequences of Unit Ownership Limitations on Deductibility of Losses.

A decrease in a unitholder s percentage interest in us because of our issuance of additional common units will decrease
his share of our nonrecourse liabilities, and thus will result in a corresponding deemed distribution of cash, which may
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constitute a non-pro rata distribution. Under IRS rulings, a non-pro rata distribution of money or property may result

in ordinary income to a unitholder, regardless of his tax basis in his common units, if the distribution reduces the

unitholder s share of our unrealized receivables, including depreciation recapture, and/or substantially appreciated
inventory items, both as defined in Section 751 of the Internal Revenue Code, and collectively, Section 751 Assets. To

that extent, he will be treated as having been distributed his proportionate share of the Section 751 Assets and then

having exchanged those assets with
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us in return for the non-pro rata portion of the actual distribution made to him. This latter deemed exchange will
generally result in the unitholder s realization of ordinary income, which will equal the excess of (1) the non-pro rata
portion of that distribution over (2) the unitholder s tax basis (generally zero) for the share of Section 751 Assets
deemed relinquished in the exchange.

Basis of Common Units

A unitholder s initial tax basis for his common units will be the amount he paid for the common units plus his share of
our nonrecourse liabilities. That basis will be increased by his share of our income and by any increases in his share of
our nonrecourse liabilities. That basis generally will be decreased, but not below zero, by distributions from us, by the
unitholder s share of our losses, by any decreases in his share of our nonrecourse liabilities and by his share of our
expenditures that are not deductible in computing taxable income and are not required to be capitalized. A unitholder
will have no share of our debt that is recourse to our general partner, but will have a share, generally based on his

share of profits, of our nonrecourse liabilities. Please read  Disposition of Common Units Recognition of Gain or
Loss.

Limitations on Deductibility of Losses

The deduction by a unitholder of his share of our losses will be limited to the tax basis in his units and, in the case of
an individual unitholder, estate, trust, or corporate unitholder (if more than 50% of the value of the corporate
unitholder s stock is owned directly or indirectly by or for five or fewer individuals or some tax-exempt organizations),
to the amount for which the unitholder is considered to be at risk with respect to our activities, if that is less than his
tax basis. A common unitholder subject to these limitations must recapture losses deducted in previous years to the
extent that distributions cause his at-risk amount to be less than zero at the end of any taxable year. Losses disallowed
to a unitholder or recaptured as a result of these limitations will carry forward and will be allowable as a deduction in
a later year to the extent that his tax basis or at-risk amount, whichever is the limiting factor, is subsequently
increased. Upon the taxable disposition of a unit, any gain recognized by a unitholder can be offset by losses that were
previously suspended by the at-risk limitation but may not be offset by losses suspended by the basis limitation. Any
loss previously suspended by the at-risk or basis limitations in excess of that gain would no longer be utilizable.

In general, a unitholder will be at risk to the extent of the tax basis of his units, excluding any portion of that basis
attributable to his share of our nonrecourse liabilities, reduced by (i) any portion of that basis representing amounts
otherwise protected against loss because of a guarantee, stop loss agreement or other similar arrangement and (ii) any
amount of money he borrows to acquire or hold his units, if the lender of those borrowed funds owns an interest in us,
is related to the unitholder or can look only to the units for repayment. A unitholder s at-risk amount will increase or
decrease as the tax basis of the unitholder s units increases or decreases, other than tax basis increases or decreases
attributable to increases or decreases in his share of our nonrecourse liabilities.

In addition to the basis and at-risk limitations on the deductibility of losses, the passive loss limitations generally
provide that individuals, estates, trusts and some closely-held corporations and personal service corporations are
permitted to deduct losses from passive activities, which are generally trade or business activities in which the
taxpayer does not materially participate, only to the extent of the taxpayer sincome from those passive activities.
Moreover, portfolio income such as general investment income from dividends and interest is specifically excluded
from the passive loss calculations, and the passive loss limitations are applied separately with respect to each publicly
traded partnership. Consequently, any passive losses we generate will only be available to offset our passive income
generated in the future and will not be available to offset (i) our portfolio income, such as interest income with respect
to our loan to Anadarko or other income we could earn from additional investments, (ii) a unitholder s income from
other passive activities or investments, including investments in other publicly traded partnerships, or (iii) a
unitholder s salary or active business income. Passive losses that are not deductible because they exceed a unitholder s
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fully taxable transaction with an unrelated party. The passive loss limitations are applied after other applicable
limitations on deductions, including the at-risk rules and the basis limitation.
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A unitholder s share of our net income may be offset by any of our suspended passive losses, but it may not be offset
by any other current or carryover losses from other passive activities, including those attributable to other publicly
traded partnerships.

Limitations on Interest Deductions

The deductibility of a non-corporate taxpayer s investment interest expense is generally limited to the amount of that
taxpayer s netinvestmentincome. Investment interest expense includes:

interest on indebtedness properly allocable to property held for investment;
our interest expense attributed to portfolio income; and

the portion of interest expense incurred to purchase or carry an interest in a passive activity to the extent
attributable to portfolio income.

The computation of a unitholder s investment interest expense will take into account interest on any margin account
borrowing or other loan incurred to purchase or carry a unit. Net investment income includes gross income from
property held for investment and amounts treated as portfolio income under the passive loss rules, less deductible
expenses, other than interest, directly connected with the production of investment income, but generally does not
include gains attributable to the disposition of property held for investment. The IRS has indicated that the net passive
income earned by a publicly traded partnership will be treated as investment income to its unitholders. In addition, the
unitholder s share of our portfolio income will be treated as investment income.

Entity-Level Collections

If we are required or elect under applicable law to pay any federal, state, local or foreign income tax on behalf of any
unitholder or our general partner or any former unitholder, we are authorized to pay those taxes from our funds. That
payment, if made, will be treated as a distribution of cash to the unitholder on whose behalf the payment was made. If
the payment is made on behalf of a person whose identity cannot be determined, we are authorized to treat the
payment as a distribution to all current unitholders. We are authorized to amend our partnership agreement in the
manner necessary to maintain uniformity of intrinsic tax characteristics of units and to adjust later distributions, so
that after giving effect to these distributions, the priority and characterization of distributions otherwise applicable
under our partnership agreement is maintained as nearly as is practicable. Payments by us as described above could
give rise to an overpayment of tax on behalf of an individual unitholder in which event the unitholder would be
required to file a claim in order to obtain a credit or refund.

Allocation of Income, Gain, Loss and Deduction

In general, if we have a net profit, our items of income, gain, loss and deduction will be allocated among our general
partner and the unitholders in accordance with their percentage interests in us. At any time that distributions are made
to the common units in excess of distributions to the subordinated units, or incentive distributions are made to our
general partner, gross income will be allocated to the recipients to the extent of these distributions. If we have a net
loss for the entire year, that loss will be allocated first to our general partner and the unitholders in accordance with
their percentage interests in us to the extent of their positive capital accounts and, second, to our general partner.

Specified items of our income, gain, loss and deduction will be allocated under Section 704(c) of the Internal Revenue

Code to account for the difference between the tax basis and fair market value of property contributed to us by the
general partner and its affiliates, referred to in this discussion as Contributed Property. The effect of these allocations,
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referred to as Section 704(c) Allocations, to a unitholder purchasing common units from us in an offering will be
essentially the same as if the tax basis of our assets were equal to their fair market value at the time of such offering.
In the event we issue additional common units or engage in certain other transactions in the future Reverse

Section 704(c) Allocations, similar to the Section 704(c) Allocations described above, will be made to all holders of
partnership interests, including
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purchasers of common units in an offering, to account for the difference, at the time of the future transaction, between
the book basis for purposes of maintaining capital accounts and the fair market value of all property held by us at the
time of the future transaction. In addition, items of recapture income will be allocated to the extent possible to the
unitholder who was allocated the deduction giving rise to the treatment of that gain as recapture income in order to
minimize the recognition of ordinary income by other unitholders. Finally, although we do not expect that our
operations will result in the creation of negative capital accounts, if negative capital accounts nevertheless result,

items of our income and gain will be allocated in an amount and manner to eliminate the negative balance as quickly

as possible.

An allocation of items of our income, gain, loss or deduction, other than an allocation required by Section 704(c) of

the Internal Revenue Code to eliminate the difference between a partner s book capital account, credited with the fair
market value of Contributed Property, and tax capital account, credited with the tax basis of Contributed Property,
referred to in this discussion as the Book-Tax Disparity, will generally be given effect for federal income tax purposes
in determining a partner s share of an item of income, gain, loss or deduction only if the allocation has substantial
economic effect.

In any other case, a partner s share of an item will be determined on the basis of his interest in us, which will be
determined by taking into account all the facts and circumstances, including:

his relative contributions to us;

the interests of all the partners in profits and losses;

the interest of all the partners in cash flow; and

the rights of all the partners to distributions of capital upon liquidation.
McKee Nelson LLP is of the opinion that, with the exception of the issues describedin =~ Tax Consequences of Unit
Ownership Section 754 Election, Uniformity of Units and  Disposition of Common Units  Allocations Between
Transferors and Transferees, allocations under our partnership agreement will be given effect for federal income tax
purposes in determining a partner s share of an item of income, gain, loss or deduction.
Treatment of Short Sales
A unitholder whose units are loaned to a short seller to cover a short sale of units may be considered as having
disposed of those units. If so, he would no longer be treated for tax purposes as a partner with respect to those units
during the period of the loan and may recognize gain or loss from the disposition. As a result, during this period:

any of our income, gain, loss or deduction with respect to those units would not be reportable by the unitholder;

any cash distributions received by the unitholder as to those units would be fully taxable; and

all of these distributions would appear to be ordinary income.
McKee Nelson LLP has not rendered an opinion regarding the treatment of a unitholder where common units are
loaned to a short seller to cover a short sale of common units; therefore, unitholders desiring to assure their status as
partners and avoid the risk of gain recognition from a loan to a short seller are urged to modify any applicable

brokerage account agreements to prohibit their brokers from loaning their units. The IRS has announced that it is
actively studying issues relating to the tax treatment of short sales of partnership interests. Please also read

Table of Contents 158



Edgar Filing: CHEFS INTERNATIONAL INC - Form 10KSB

Disposition of Common Units Recognition of Gain or Loss.

Alternative Minimum Tax

Each unitholder will be required to take into account his distributive share of any items of our income, gain, loss or

deduction for purposes of the alternative minimum tax. The current minimum tax rate for noncorporate taxpayers is
26% on the first $175,000 of alternative minimum taxable income in excess of the
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exemption amount and 28% on any additional alternative minimum taxable income. Prospective unitholders are urged
to consult with their tax advisors as to the impact of an investment in units on their liability for the alternative
minimum tax.

Tax Rates

In general, the highest effective U.S. federal income tax rate for individuals is currently 35% increasing to 39.6%
beginning January 1, 2011, and the maximum U.S. federal income tax rate for net capital gains of an individual where
the asset disposed of was held for more than twelve months at the time of disposition, is scheduled to remain at 15%
for years 2008-2010 and then increase to 20% beginning January 1, 2011.

Section 754 Election

We will make the election permitted by Section 754 of the Internal Revenue Code. That election is irrevocable

without the consent of the IRS. The election will generally permit us to adjust a common unit purchaser s tax basis in
our assets ( inside basis ) under Section 743(b) of the Internal Revenue Code to reflect his purchase price. This election
does not apply to a person who purchases common units directly from us. The Section 743(b) adjustment belongs to

the purchaser and not to other unitholders. For purposes of this discussion, a unitholder s inside basis in our assets will
be considered to have two components: (1) his share of our tax basis in our assets ( common basis ) and (2) his

Section 743(b) adjustment to that basis.

Where the remedial allocation method is adopted (which we will generally adopt as to our properties), the Treasury
Regulations under Section 743 of the Internal Revenue Code require a portion of the Section 743(b) adjustment that is
attributable to recovery property under Section 168 of the Internal Revenue Code whose book basis is in excess of its
tax basis to be depreciated over the remaining cost recovery period for the property s unamortized Book-Tax Disparity.
Under Treasury Regulation Section 1.167(c)-1(a)(6), a Section 743(b) adjustment attributable to property subject to
depreciation under Section 167 of the Internal Revenue Code, rather than cost recovery deductions under Section 168,
is generally required to be depreciated using either the straight-line method or the 150% declining balance method.
Under our partnership agreement, our general partner is authorized to take a position to preserve the uniformity of

units even if that position is not consistent with these and any other Treasury Regulations. Please read =~ Uniformity of
Units.

Although McKee Nelson LLP is unable to opine as to the validity of this approach because there is no direct or
indirect controlling authority on this issue, we intend to depreciate the portion of a Section 743(b) adjustment
attributable to unrealized appreciation in the value of Contributed Property, to the extent of any unamortized
Book-Tax Disparity, using a rate of depreciation or amortization derived from the depreciation or amortization
method and useful life applied to the property s unamortized Book-Tax Disparity, or treat that portion as
non-amortizable to the extent attributable to property which is not amortizable. This method is consistent with the
regulations under Section 743 of the Internal Revenue Code but is arguably inconsistent with Treasury

Regulation Section 1.167(c)-1(a)(6), which is not expected to directly apply to a material portion of our assets. The
IRS may challenge our position with respect to depreciating or amortizing the Section 743(b) adjustment we take to
preserve the uniformity of the units.

A Section 754 election is advantageous if the transferee s tax basis in his units is higher than the units share of the
aggregate tax basis of our assets immediately prior to the transfer. In that case, as a result of the election, the transferee
would have, among other items, a greater amount of depreciation and depletion deductions and his share of any gain
or loss on a sale of our assets would be less. Conversely, a Section 754 election is disadvantageous if the transferee s
tax basis in his units is lower than those units share of the aggregate tax basis of our assets immediately prior to the
transfer. Thus, the fair market value of the units may be affected either favorably or unfavorably by the election. A
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basis adjustment is required regardless of whether a Section 754 election is made in the case of a transfer of an interest
in us if we have a substantial built-in loss immediately after the transfer, or if we distribute property and have a
substantial basis reduction. Generally a built-in loss or a basis reduction is substantial if it exceeds $250,000.

The calculations involved in the Section 754 election are complex and will be made on the basis of assumptions as to
the value of our assets and other matters. For example, the allocation of the Section 743(b)
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adjustment among our assets must be made in accordance with the Internal Revenue Code. The IRS could seek to
reallocate some or all of any Section 743(b) adjustment allocated by us to our tangible assets to goodwill instead.
Goodwill, as an intangible asset, is generally either nonamortizable or amortizable over a longer period of time or
under a less accelerated method than our tangible assets. We cannot assure you that the determinations we make will
not be successfully challenged by the IRS and that the deductions resulting from them will not be reduced or
disallowed altogether. Should the IRS require a different basis adjustment to be made, and should, in our opinion, the
expense of compliance exceed the benefit of the election, we may seek permission from the IRS to revoke our
Section 754 election. If permission is granted, a subsequent purchaser of units may be allocated more income than he
would have been allocated had the election not been revoked.

Tax Treatment of Operations
Accounting Method and Taxable Year

We use the year ending December 31 as our taxable year and the accrual method of accounting for federal income tax
purposes. Each unitholder will be required to include in income his share of our income, gain, loss and deduction for
our taxable year ending within or with his taxable year. In addition, a unitholder who has a taxable year ending on a
date other than December 31 and who disposes of all of his units following the close of our taxable year but before the
close of his taxable year must include his share of our income, gain, loss and deduction in income for his taxable year,
with the result that he will be required to include in income for his taxable year his share of more than one year of our
income, gain, loss and deduction. Please read Disposition of Common Units  Allocations Between Transferors and
Transferees.

Initial Tax Basis, Depreciation and Amortization

The tax basis of our assets will be used for purposes of computing depreciation and cost recovery deductions and,
ultimately, gain or loss on the disposition of these assets. The federal income tax burden associated with the difference
between the fair market value of our assets and their tax basis immediately prior to an offering will be borne by our
general partner. Please read ~ Tax Consequences of Unit Ownership  Allocation of Income, Gain, Loss and Deduction.

To the extent allowable, we may elect to use the depreciation and cost recovery methods that will result in the largest
deductions being taken in the early years after assets subject to these allowances are placed in service. Please read

Uniformity of Units. Property we subsequently acquire or construct may be depreciated using accelerated methods
permitted by the Internal Revenue Code.

If we dispose of depreciable property by sale, foreclosure or otherwise, all or a portion of any gain, determined by

reference to the amount of depreciation previously deducted and the nature of the property, may be subject to the

recapture rules and taxed as ordinary income rather than capital gain. Similarly, a unitholder who has taken cost

recovery or depreciation deductions with respect to property we own will likely be required to recapture some or all of

those deductions as ordinary income upon a sale of his interest in us. Please read =~ Tax Consequences of Unit

Ownership  Allocation of Income, Gain, Loss and Deduction and  Disposition of Common Units Recognition of Gain
or Loss.

The costs incurred in selling our units (called syndication expenses ) must be capitalized and cannot be deducted
currently, ratably or upon our termination. There are uncertainties regarding the classification of costs as organization
expenses, which may be amortized by us, and as syndication expenses, which may not be amortized by us. The

underwriting discounts we incur will be treated as syndication expenses.

Valuation and Tax Basis of our Properties
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The federal income tax consequences of the ownership and disposition of units will depend in part on our estimates of
the relative fair market values, and the initial tax bases, of our assets. Although we may from time to time consult with
professional appraisers regarding valuation matters, we will make many of the relative fair market value estimates
ourselves. These estimates and determinations of basis are subject to
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challenge and will not be binding on the IRS or the courts. If the estimates of fair market value or basis are later found
to be incorrect, the character and amount of items of income, gain, loss or deductions previously reported by
unitholders might change, and unitholders might be required to adjust their tax liability for prior years and incur
interest and penalties with respect to those adjustments.

Disposition of Common Units
Recognition of Gain or Loss

Gain or loss will be recognized on a sale of units equal to the difference between the unitholder s amount realized and
the unitholder s tax basis for the units sold. A unitholder s amount realized will be measured by the sum of the cash or
the fair market value of other property received by him plus his share of our nonrecourse liabilities attributable to the
common units sold. Because the amount realized includes a unitholder s share of our nonrecourse liabilities, the gain
recognized on the sale of units could result in a tax liability in excess of any cash received from the sale.

Prior distributions from us in excess of cumulative net taxable income for a common unit that decreased a unitholder s
tax basis in that common unit will, in effect, become taxable income if the common unit is sold at a price greater than
the unitholder s tax basis in that common unit, even if the price received is less than his original cost.

Except as noted below, gain or loss recognized by a unitholder, other than a dealer in units, on the sale or exchange of
a unit held for more than one year will generally be taxable as capital gain or loss. Capital gain recognized by an
individual on the sale of units held more than twelve months will generally be taxed at a maximum rate of 15%
(increasing to 20% in 2011). However, a portion of this gain or loss, which will likely be substantial, will be

separately computed and taxed as ordinary income or loss under Section 751 of the Internal Revenue Code to the

extent attributable to assets giving rise to depreciation recapture or other unrealized receivables or to inventory items
we own. The term unrealized receivables includes potential recapture items, including depreciation recapture.
Ordinary income attributable to unrealized receivables, inventory items and depreciation recapture may exceed net
taxable gain realized upon the sale of a unit and may be recognized even if there is a net taxable loss realized on the

sale of a unit. Thus, a unitholder may recognize both ordinary income and a capital loss upon a sale of units. Net

capital losses may offset capital gains and no more than $3,000 of ordinary income, in the case of individuals, and

may only be used to offset capital gains in the case of corporations.

The IRS has ruled that a partner who acquires interests in a partnership in separate transactions must combine those
interests and maintain a single adjusted tax basis for all those interests. Upon a sale or other disposition of less than all
of those interests, a portion of that tax basis must be allocated to the interests sold using an equitable apportionment
method, which generally means that the tax basis allocated to the interest sold equals an amount that bears the same
relation to the partner s tax basis in his entire interest in the partnership as the value of the interest sold bears to the
value of the partner s entire interest in the partnership. Treasury Regulations under Section 1223 of the Internal
Revenue Code allow a selling unitholder who can identify common units transferred with an ascertainable holding
period to elect to use the actual holding period of the common units transferred. Thus, according to the ruling, a
common unitholder will be unable to select high or low basis common units to sell as would be the case with
corporate stock, but, according to the regulations, may designate specific common units sold for purposes of
determining the holding period of units transferred. A unitholder electing to use the actual holding period of common
units transferred must consistently use that identification method for all subsequent sales or exchanges of common
units. A unitholder considering the purchase of additional units or a sale of common units purchased in separate
transactions is urged to consult his tax advisor as to the possible consequences of this ruling and application of the
Treasury Regulations.
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including partnership interests, by treating a taxpayer as having sold an appreciated partnership
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interest, one in which gain would be recognized if it were sold, assigned or terminated at its fair market value, if the
taxpayer or related persons enter(s) into:

a short sale;
an offsetting notional principal contract; or
a futures or forward contract with respect to the partnership interest or substantially identical property.

Moreover, if a taxpayer has previously entered into a short sale, an offsetting notional principal contract or a futures or
forward contract with respect to the partnership interest, the taxpayer will be treated as having sold that position if the
taxpayer or a related person then acquires the partnership interest or substantially identical property. The Secretary of
the Treasury is also authorized to issue regulations that treat a taxpayer that enters into transactions or positions that
have substantially the same effect as the preceding transactions as having constructively sold the financial position.

Allocations Between Transferors and Transferees

In general, our taxable income or loss will be determined annually, will be prorated on a monthly basis and will be
subsequently apportioned among the unitholders in proportion to the number of units owned by each of them as of the
opening of the applicable exchange on the first business day of the month, which we refer to in this prospectus as the

Allocation Date. However, gain or loss realized on a sale or other disposition of our assets other than in the ordinary
course of business will be allocated among the unitholders on the Allocation Date in the month in which that gain or
loss is recognized. As a result, a unitholder transferring units may be allocated income, gain, loss and deduction
realized after the date of transfer.

While the use of this method is consistent with recently proposed Treasury Regulations, it may not be permitted under
existing Treasury Regulations. Accordingly, McKee Nelson LLP is unable to opine on the validity of this method of
allocating income and deductions between transferor and transferee unitholders. We use this method because it is not
administratively feasible to make these allocations on a more frequent basis. If this method is not allowed under the
Treasury Regulations, or only applies to transfers of less than all of the unitholder s interest, our taxable income or
losses might be reallocated among the unitholders. We are authorized to revise our method of allocation between
transferor and transferee unitholders, as well as unitholders whose interests vary during a taxable year, to conform to a
method permitted under future Treasury Regulations.

A unitholder who owns units at any time during a quarter and who disposes of them prior to the record date set for a
cash distribution for that quarter will be allocated items of our income, gain, loss and deductions attributable to that
quarter but will not be entitled to receive that cash distribution.

Notification Requirements

A unitholder who sells any of his units is generally required to notify us in writing of that sale within 30 days after the
sale (or, if earlier, January 15 of the year following the sale). A purchaser of units who purchases units from another
unitholder is also generally required to notify us in writing of that purchase within 30 days after the purchase. Upon
receiving such notifications, we are required to notify the IRS of any such transfer of units and to furnish specified
information to the transferor and transferee. Failure to notify us of a transfer of units may, in some cases, lead to the
imposition of penalties. However, these reporting requirements do not apply to a sale by an individual who is a citizen
of the U.S. and who effects the sale or exchange through a broker who will satisfy such requirements.

Constructive Termination
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We will be considered to have been terminated for tax purposes if there is a sale or exchange of 50.0% or more of the
total interests in our capital and profits or assets within a twelve-month period. A constructive termination results in
the closing of our taxable year for all unitholders. In the case of a unitholder reporting on a taxable year other than a
taxable year ending December 31, the closing of our taxable year may result in
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more than twelve months of our taxable income or loss being includable in his taxable income for the year of
termination. We would be required to make new tax elections after a termination, including a new election under
Section 754 of the Internal Revenue Code, and a termination would result in a deferral of our deductions for
depreciation. A termination could also result in penalties if we were unable to determine that the termination had
occurred. Moreover, a termination might either accelerate the application of, or subject us to, any tax legislation
enacted before the termination.

Uniformity of Units

Because we cannot match transferors and transferees of units, we must maintain uniformity of the economic and tax
characteristics of the units to a purchaser of these units. In the absence of uniformity, we may be unable to completely
comply with a number of federal income tax requirements, both statutory and regulatory. A lack of uniformity can
result from a literal application of Treasury Regulation Section 1.167(c)-1(a)(6). Any non-uniformity could have a
negative impact on the value of the units. Please read = Tax Consequences of Unit Ownership  Section 754 Election.

We intend to depreciate the portion of a Section 743(b) adjustment attributable to unrealized appreciation in the value
of Contributed Property, to the extent of any unamortized Book-Tax Disparity, using a rate of depreciation or
amortization derived from the depreciation or amortization method and useful life applied to the property s
unamortized Book-Tax Disparity, or treat that portion as nonamortizable, to the extent attributable to property which
is not amortizable, consistent with the regulations under Section 743 of the Internal Revenue Code, even though that
position may be inconsistent with Treasury Regulation Section 1.167(c)-1(a)(6), which is not expected to directly
apply to a material portion of our assets. Please read  Tax Consequences of Unit Ownership Section 754 Election. To
the extent that the Section 743(b) adjustment is attributable to appreciation in value in excess of the unamortized
Book-Tax Disparity, we will apply the rules described in the Treasury Regulations and legislative history. Our
counsel, McKee Nelson LLP, is unable to opine on the validity of our approach to the extent it is inconsistent with
Treasury Regulation Section 1.167(c)  1(a)(6). The IRS may challenge our approach to the extent it is inconsistent
with Treasury Regulation Section 1.167(c)  1(a)(6). If such a challenge was made and sustained, the uniformity of
units might be affected, and the amount of taxable income allocated to our units might be increased.

Tax-Exempt Organizations and Other Investors

Pursuant to our Partnership Agreement, ownership of units by employee benefit plans, other tax-exempt organizations,
non-resident aliens, non-U.S. entities and other non-U.S. persons is subject to material limitations. For example,

neither non-U.S. persons nor non-U.S. entities qualify as Eligible Holders, and after a determination by the general
partner that a unitholder is not an Eligible Holder, such unitholder will be subject to redemption and may no longer
receive distributions or allocations with respect to its common units. For additional discussion of Eligible Holders and
the issues related thereto, please read The Limited Partnership Agreement Non-U.S. and Non-Taxpaying Assignees;
Redemption.

Moreover, ownership of units by employee benefit plans, other tax-exempt organizations, non-resident aliens,
non-U.S. entities and other non-U.S. persons raises issues unique to those investors and, as described below, may have
substantially adverse tax consequences to them.

Employee benefit plans and most other organizations exempt from federal income tax, including individual retirement
accounts and other retirement plans, are subject to federal income tax on unrelated business taxable income. Virtually
all of our income, other than interest income, allocated to a unitholder that is a tax-exempt organization will be
unrelated business taxable income and will be taxable to them.
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Non-resident aliens and foreign corporations, trusts or estates that own units will be considered to be engaged in
business in the U.S. because of the ownership of units. As a consequence, they will be required to file federal tax
returns to report their share of our income, gain, loss or deduction and pay federal income tax at regular rates on their
share of our net income or gain. Moreover, under rules applicable to publicly traded partnerships, we will withhold tax
at the highest applicable effective tax rate from cash distributions made quarterly to non-U.S. unitholders. Each
non-U.S. unitholder must obtain a taxpayer identification number from
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the IRS and submit that number to our transfer agent on a Form W-8BEN or applicable substitute form in order to
obtain credit for these withholding taxes. A change in applicable law may require us to change these procedures.

In addition, because a non-U.S. corporation that owns units will be treated as engaged in a U.S. trade or business, that
corporation may be subject to the U.S. branch profits tax at a rate of 30%, in addition to regular federal income tax, on
its share of our income and gain, as adjusted for changes in the non-U.S. corporation s U.S. net equity, which is
effectively connected with the conduct of a U.S. trade or business. That tax may be reduced or eliminated by an
income tax treaty between the U.S. and the country in which the non-U.S. corporate unitholder is a qualified resident.
In addition, this type of unitholder is subject to special information reporting requirements under Section 6038C of the
Internal Revenue Code.

A non-U.S. unitholder who sells or otherwise disposes of a unit will be subject to U.S. federal income tax on gain
realized from the sale or disposition of that unit to the extent the gain is effectively connected with a U.S. trade or
business of the non-U.S. unitholder. Under a ruling published by the IRS, interpreting the scope of effectively
connected income, a non-U.S. unitholder would be considered to be engaged in a trade or business in the U.S. by
virtue of the U.S. activities of the partnership, and part or all of that unitholder s gain would be effectively connected
with that unitholder s indirect U.S. trade or business. Moreover, under the Foreign Investment in Real Property Tax
Act, a non-U.S. unitholder of a publicly traded partnership would be subject to U.S. federal income tax or withholding
tax upon the sale or disposition of a unit to the extent of the unitholder s share of the partnership s U.S. real property
holdings if he owns 5% or more of the units at any point during the five-year period ending on the date of such
disposition. Therefore, non-U.S. unitholders may be subject to federal income tax on gain from the sale or disposition
of their units.

Administrative Matters
Information Returns and Audit Procedures

We intend to furnish to each unitholder, within 90 days after the close of each taxable year, specific tax information,
including a Schedule K-1, which describes each unitholder s share of our income, gain, loss and deduction for our
preceding taxable year. In preparing this information, which will not be reviewed by counsel, we will take various
accounting and reporting positions, some of which have been mentioned earlier, to determine each unitholder s share
of income, gain, loss and deduction. We cannot assure you that those positions will yield a result that conforms to the
requirements of the Internal Revenue Code, Treasury Regulations or administrative interpretations of the IRS. Neither
we nor McKee Nelson LLP can assure prospective unitholders that the IRS will not successfully contend in court that
those positions are impermissible. Any challenge by the IRS could negatively affect the value of the units.

The IRS may audit our federal income tax information returns. Adjustments resulting from an IRS audit may require
each unitholder to adjust a prior year s tax liability, and possibly may result in an audit of his return. Any audit of a
unitholder s return could result in adjustments not related to our returns as well as those related to our returns.

Partnerships generally are treated as separate entities for purposes of federal tax audits, judicial review of
administrative adjustments by the IRS and tax settlement proceedings. The tax treatment of partnership items of
income, gain, loss and deduction are determined in a partnership proceeding rather than in separate proceedings with
the partners. The Internal Revenue Code requires that one partner be designated as the Tax Matters Partner for these
purposes. Our partnership agreement names our general partner as our Tax Matters Partner.

The Tax Matters Partner will make some elections on our behalf and on behalf of unitholders. In addition, the Tax

Matters Partner can extend the statute of limitations for assessment of tax deficiencies against unitholders for items in
our returns. The Tax Matters Partner may bind a unitholder with less than a 1% profits interest in us to a settlement
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Matters Partner. The Tax Matters Partner may seek judicial review, by which all the unitholders are bound, of a final
partnership administrative adjustment and, if the Tax Matters Partner
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fails to seek judicial review, judicial review may be sought by any unitholder having at least a 1% interest in profits or
by any group of unitholders having in the aggregate at least a 5% interest in profits. However, only one action for
judicial review will go forward, and each unitholder with an interest in the outcome may participate in that action.

A unitholder must file a statement with the IRS identifying the treatment of any item on his federal income tax return
that is not consistent with the treatment of the item on our return. Intentional or negligent disregard of this consistency
requirement may subject a unitholder to substantial penalties.

Nominee Reporting

Persons who hold an interest in us as a nominee for another person are required to furnish to us:

(a) the name, address and taxpayer identification number of the beneficial owner and the nominee;

(b) a statement regarding whether the beneficial owner is:

(i) a person that is not a U.S. person;

(i) a foreign government, an international organization or any wholly owned agency or instrumentality of either of the
foregoing; or

(iii) a tax-exempt entity;
(c) the amount and description of units held, acquired or transferred for the beneficial owner; and

(d) specific information including the dates of acquisitions and transfers, means of acquisitions and transfers, and
acquisition cost for purchases, as well as the amount of net proceeds from sales.

Brokers and financial institutions are required to furnish additional information, including whether they are

U.S. persons and specific information on units they acquire, hold or transfer for their own account. A penalty of $50
per failure, up to a maximum of $100,000 per calendar year, is imposed by the Internal Revenue Code for failure to
report that information to us. The nominee is required to supply the beneficial owner of the units with the information
furnished to us.

Accuracy-Related Penalties

An additional tax equal to 20% of the amount of any portion of an underpayment of tax that is attributable to one or
more specified causes, including negligence or disregard of rules or regulations, substantial understatements of
income tax and substantial valuation misstatements, is imposed by the Internal Revenue Code. No penalty will be
imposed, however, for any portion of an underpayment if it is shown that there was a reasonable cause for that portion
and that the taxpayer acted in good faith regarding that portion.

For individuals, a substantial understatement of income tax in any taxable year exists if the amount of the
understatement exceeds the greater of 10% of the tax required to be shown on the return for the taxable year or
$5,000. The amount of any understatement subject to penalty generally is reduced if any portion is attributable to a

position adopted on the return:

(1) for which there is, or was, substantial authority ; or
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(2) as to which there is a reasonable basis if the pertinent facts of that position are adequately disclosed on the return.

If any item of income, gain, loss or deduction included in the distributive shares of unitholders might result in that

kind of an understatement of income for which no substantial authority exists, we must disclose the pertinent facts on
our return. In addition, we will make a reasonable effort to furnish sufficient information for unitholders to make

adequate disclosure on their returns and to take other actions as may be appropriate to permit unitholders to avoid

liability for this penalty. More stringent rules apply to tax shelters, which we do not believe includes us.
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A substantial valuation misstatement exists if the value of any property, or the adjusted basis of any property, claimed
on a tax return is 150% or more of the amount determined to be the correct amount of the valuation or adjusted basis.
For individuals, no penalty is imposed unless the portion of the underpayment attributable to a substantial valuation
misstatement exceeds $5,000 ($10,000 for most corporations). If the valuation claimed on a return is 200% or more
than the correct valuation, the penalty imposed increases to 40%.

Reportable Transactions

If we were to engage in a reportable transaction, we (and possibly you and others) would be required to make a
detailed disclosure of the transaction to the IRS. A transaction may be a reportable transaction based upon any of
several factors, including the fact that it is a type of tax avoidance transaction publicly identified by the IRS as a listed
transaction ora transaction of interest or that it produces certain kinds of losses for partnerships, individuals,

S corporations and trusts in excess of $2 million in any single year, or $4 million in any combination of six successive
tax years. Our participation in a reportable transaction could increase the likelihood that our federal income tax
information return (and possibly your tax return) would be audited by the IRS. Please read =~ Administrative Matters
Information Returns and Audit Procedures.

Moreover, if we were to participate in a reportable transaction with a significant purpose to avoid or evade tax, or in
any listed transaction, you may be subject to the following provisions of the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004:

accuracy-related penalties with a broader scope, significantly narrower exceptions, and potentially greater
amounts than described above at Administrative Matters Accuracy-Related Penalties;

for those persons otherwise entitled to deduct interest on federal tax deficiencies, nondeductibility of interest
on any resulting tax liability; and

in the case of a listed transaction, an extended statute of limitations.
We do not expect to engage in any reportable transactions.
State, Local, Foreign and Other Tax Considerations

In addition to federal income taxes, you likely will be subject to other taxes, such as state, local and foreign income
taxes, unincorporated business taxes, and estate, inheritance or intangible taxes that may be imposed by the various
jurisdictions in which we do business or own property or in which you are a resident. Although an analysis of those
various taxes is not presented here, each prospective unitholder should consider their potential impact on his
investment in us. We own property or do business in the states of Kansas, Oklahoma, Texas, Utah and Wyoming.
Each of these states, other than Texas and Wyoming, currently imposes a personal income tax, and all of theses states
also impose taxes on income of corporations and other entities. We may also own property or do business in other
jurisdictions in the future. Although you may not be required to file a return and pay taxes in some jurisdictions if
your income from that jurisdiction falls below the filing and payment requirement, you will be required to file income
tax returns and to pay income taxes in many of these jurisdictions in which we do business or own property and may
be subject to penalties for failure to comply with those requirements. In some jurisdictions, tax losses may not produce
a tax benefit in the year incurred and may not be available to offset income in subsequent taxable years. Some of the
jurisdictions may require us, or we may elect, to withhold a percentage of income from amounts to be distributed to a
unitholder who is not a resident of the jurisdiction. Withholding, the amount of which may be greater or less than a
particular unitholder s income tax liability to the jurisdiction, generally does not relieve a nonresident unitholder from
the obligation to file an income tax return. Amounts withheld will be treated as if distributed to unitholders for
purposes of determining the amounts distributed by us. Please read =~ Tax Consequences of Unit Ownership
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Entity-Level Collections. Based on current law and our estimate of our future operations, our general partner
anticipates that any amounts required to be withheld will not be material.

It is the responsibility of each unitholder to investigate the legal and tax consequences, under the laws of pertinent
jurisdictions, of his investment in us. Accordingly, each prospective unitholder is urged to consult,
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and depend upon, his tax counsel or other advisor with regard to those matters. Further, it is the responsibility of each
unitholder to file all state, local and foreign, as well as U.S. federal tax returns, that may be required of him. McKee
Nelson LLP has not rendered an opinion on the state, local or foreign tax consequences of an investment in us.

Tax Consequences of Ownership of Debt Securities

A description of the material federal income tax consequences of the acquisition, ownership and disposition of debt
securities will be set forth in the prospectus supplement relating to the offering of debt securities.
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INVESTMENT IN US BY EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

An investment in us by an employee benefit plan is subject to additional considerations because the investments of
these plans are subject to the fiduciary responsibility and prohibited transaction provisions of ERISA and the
restrictions imposed by Section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code. For these purposes the term employee benefit
plan includes, but is not limited to, qualified pension, profit-sharing and stock bonus plans, Keogh plans, simplified
employee pension plans and tax deferred annuities or IRAs established or maintained by an employer or employee
organization. Among other things, consideration should be given to:

whether the investment is prudent under Section 404(a)(1)(B) of ERISA;

whether in making the investment, the plan will satisfy the diversification requirements of Section 404(a)(1)(C)
of ERISA; and

whether the investment will result in recognition of unrelated business taxable income by the plan and, if so,
the potential after-tax investment return. Please read Income Tax Considerations Tax-Exempt Organizations
and Other Investors.

The person with investment discretion with respect to the assets of an employee benefit plan, often called a fiduciary,
should determine whether an investment in us is authorized by the appropriate governing instrument and is a proper
investment for the plan.

Section 406 of ERISA and Section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code prohibit employee benefit plans, and IRAs that

are not considered part of an employee benefit plan, from engaging in specified transactions involving plan assets with
parties that, with respect to the plan, are parties in interest under ERISA or disqualified persons under the Internal
Revenue Code. Accordingly, a fiduciary should consider whether a purchase of our common units is a prohibited
transaction.

In addition to considering whether the purchase of common units is a prohibited transaction, a fiduciary should
consider whether the plan will, by investing in us, be deemed to own an undivided interest in our assets, with the
result that our operations would be subject to the regulatory restrictions of ERISA, including its prohibited transaction
rules, as well as the prohibited transaction rules of the Internal Revenue Code.

The Department of Labor regulations provide guidance with respect to whether, in certain circumstances, the assets of
an entity in which employee benefit plans acquire equity interests would be deemed plan assets. Under these
regulations, an entity s assets would not be considered to be plan assets if, among other things:

(a) the equity interests acquired by the employee benefit plan are publicly offered securities i.e., the equity interests
are widely held by 100 or more investors independent of the issuer and each other, are freely transferable and are
registered under some provision of the federal securities laws;

(b) the entity is an operating company,  i.e., it is primarily engaged in the production or sale of a product or service,
other than the investment of capital, either directly or through a majority-owned subsidiary or subsidiaries; or

(c) there is no significant investment by benefit plan investors, which is defined to mean that less than 25% of the

value of each class of equity interest is held by the employee benefit plans referred to above, IRAs and other employee
benefit plans not subject to ERISA, including governmental plans.
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satisfy the requirements in (a) above.

In light of the serious penalties imposed on persons who engage in prohibited transactions or other violations, plan
fiduciaries contemplating a purchase of common units should consult with their own counsel regarding the
consequences under ERISA and the Internal Revenue Code.
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PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

We may sell the securities being offered hereby directly to purchasers, through agents, through underwriters or
through dealers.

We, or agents designated by us, may directly solicit, from time to time, offers to purchase the securities. Any such
agent may be deemed to be an underwriter as that term is defined in the Securities Act of 1933. We will name the
agents involved in the offer or sale of the securities and describe any commissions payable by us to these agents in the
prospectus supplement. The agents may be entitled under agreements they may enter into with us to indemnification
by us against specified civil liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act of 1933. The agents may also be
our customers or may engage in transactions with or perform services for us in the ordinary course of business.

If we use any underwriters in the sale of the securities in respect of which this prospectus is delivered, we will enter
into an underwriting agreement with those underwriters at the time of sale to them. We will set forth the names of the
underwriters and the terms of the transaction in a prospectus supplement, which will be used by the underwriters to
make resales of the securities in respect of which this prospectus is delivered to the public. We may indemnify the
underwriters under the underwriting agreement against specified liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities
Act of 1933. The underwriters may also be our customers or may engage in transactions with or perform services for
us in the ordinary course of business.

If we use a dealer in the sale of the securities in respect of which this prospectus is delivered, we will sell those
securities to the dealer, as principal. The dealer may then resell those securities to the public at varying prices to be
determined by the dealer at the time of resale. We may indemnify the dealers against specified liabilities, including
liabilities under the Securities Act of 1933. The dealers may also be our customers or may engage in transactions with,
or perform services for us in the ordinary course of business.
We will fix a price or prices of our securities at:

market prices prevailing at the time of any sale under this registration statement;

prices related to market prices; or

negotiated prices.

We also may sell common units and debt securities directly. In this case, no underwriters or agents would be involved.
We may use electronic media, including the Internet, to sell offered securities directly.

The aggregate maximum compensation the underwriters will receive in connection with the sale of any securities
under this prospectus and the registration statement of which it forms a part will not exceed 10% of the gross proceeds
from the sale of such securities.

Because the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority ( FINRA ) views our common units as interests in a direct
participation program, any offering of common units under the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a

part will be made in compliance with Rule 2810 of the FINRA Conduct Rules.

To the extent required, this prospectus may be amended or supplemented from time to time to describe a particular
plan of distribution. The place and time of delivery for the securities in respect of which this prospectus is delivered
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will be set forth in the accompanying prospectus supplement.

In connection with offerings of securities under the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part and in
compliance with applicable law, underwriters, brokers or dealers may engage in transactions that stabilize or maintain
the market price of the securities at levels above those that might otherwise prevail in the open market. Specifically,
underwriters, brokers or dealers may over-allot in connection with offerings, creating a short position in the securities
for their own accounts. For the purpose of covering a syndicate short position or stabilizing the price of the securities,
the underwriters, brokers or dealers may place bids for the securities or effect purchases of the securities in the open
market. Finally, the underwriters may impose a penalty whereby selling concessions allowed to syndicate members or
other brokers or dealers for distribution of the securities in offerings may be reclaimed by the syndicate if the
syndicate repurchases previously
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distributed securities in transactions to cover short positions, in stabilization transactions or otherwise. These activities
may stabilize, maintain or otherwise affect the market price of the securities, which may be higher than the price that
might otherwise prevail in the open market, and, if commenced, may be discontinued at any time.

LEGAL MATTERS

The validity of the issuance of the securities offered hereby will be passed upon for us by Akin Gump Strauss

Hauer & Feld LLP, and the legal matters described under Income Tax Considerations will be passed upon by McKee
Nelson LLP. Additional legal matters may be passed on for us, or any underwriters, dealers or agents, by counsel we
will name in the applicable prospectus supplement.

EXPERTS

The consolidated financial statements of Western Gas Partners, LP and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2008 and
2007 and for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2008, and the consolidated balance sheet
of Western Gas Holdings, LL.C and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2008, have been incorporated by reference
herein in reliance upon the reports of KPMG LLP, independent registered public accounting firm, incorporated by
reference herein, and upon the authority of said firm as experts in accounting and auditing.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

Each time we offer to sell securities, we will provide a prospectus supplement that will contain specific information
about the terms of that offering. The prospectus supplement may also add, update or change information contained in
this prospectus. This prospectus, together with the applicable prospectus supplement, will include or refer you to all
material information relating to each offering.

We file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC (File

No. 001-34046). Our SEC filings are available to the public over the Internet at the SEC s website at
http://www.sec.gov and at our website at http://www.westerngas.com. You may also read and copy at prescribed rates
any document we file at the SEC s public reference room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. You may
obtain information on the operation of the SEC s public reference room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330.

Our common units are listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol WES. Our reports, proxy statements
and other information may be read and copied at the New York Stock Exchange at 11 Wall Street, 5th Floor, New
York, New York 10005.

The SEC allows us to incorporate by reference the information we have filed with the SEC. This means that we can
disclose important information to you without actually including the specific information in this prospectus by
referring you to other documents filed separately with the SEC. The information incorporated by reference is an
important part of this prospectus. Information that we later provide to the SEC, and which is deemed to be filed with
the SEC, will automatically update information previously filed with the SEC, and may replace information in this
prospectus and information previously filed with the SEC.

We incorporate by reference in this prospectus the following documents that we have previously filed with the SEC:

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008 filed on March 13, 2009;

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2009 filed on May 13, 2009;
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July 15, 2009;
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Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed on March 3, 2009; and

The description of our common units contained in our registration statement on Form 8-A (File No. 1-34046)
filed on May 6, 2008.

These reports contain important information about us, our financial condition and our results of operations.

All documents that we subsequently file pursuant to Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 and 15(d) of the Exchange Act (i) after
the date on which the registration statement that includes this prospectus was initially filed with the SEC and before
the effectiveness of such registration statement and (ii) after the date of this prospectus and prior to the termination of
an offering, unless otherwise stated therein, shall be deemed to be incorporated by reference in this prospectus and to
be part hereof from the date of filing of such documents. Nothing in this prospectus shall be deemed to incorporate
information furnished to, but not filed with, the SEC pursuant to Item 2.02 or Item 7.01 of Form 8-K (or
corresponding information furnished under Item 9.01 or included as an exhibit).

We make available free of charge on or through our Internet website, http://www.westerngas.com, our Annual Report
on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to these reports filed
or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable after we
electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. Information contained on our Internet website is not
incorporated by reference into, and does not constitute a part of, this prospectus.

You may obtain any of the documents incorporated by reference in this prospectus from the SEC through the SEC s
website at the address provided above. You also may request a copy of any document incorporated by reference in this
prospectus (excluding any exhibits to those documents, unless the exhibit is specifically incorporated by reference in
this document), at no cost, by visiting our Internet website at http://www.westerngas.com, or by writing or calling us at
the following address:

Investor Relations
Western Gas Partners, LP
1201 Lake Robbins Drive

The Woodlands, Texas 77380-1046
Telephone: (832) 636-6000

You should rely only on the information incorporated by reference or provided in this prospectus. We have not
authorized anyone else to provide you with any information. You should not assume that the information incorporated
by reference or provided in this prospectus is accurate as of any date other than the date on the front of each
document.
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